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Financial Highlights
o

FIVEYEAR FINANCIAL SUMMARY
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Property investment and WERERER
development 85 96 113 551 147
560 613 693 1,173 748
Profit Attributable to BREAEBA
Owners of the Parent it s M 175 400 164 114 153
Basic Earnings GREAZF (1)
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BOARD OF DIRECTORS

EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

MA, Kai Cheung, PhD, SBS, BBS (Chairman)

MA, Kai Yum, phD (Vice Chairman)

CHAN, Sheung Lai (Chief Executive Officer)
(appointed on 22 October 2012)

NG, Yan Kwong

MA, Hung Ming, John, PhD, BBS

YUEN, Wai Man (resigned on 10 June 2013)

INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE
DIRECTORS
LO, Ming Chi, Charles

LO, Man Kit, Sam
WONG, See King

AUDIT COMMITTEE

LO, Ming Chi, Charles (Chairrman)
LO, Man Kit, Sam
WONG, See King

REMUNERATION COMMITTEE

LO, Man Kit, Sam (Chairman)
LO, Ming Chi, Charles
WONG, See King

NOMINATION COMMITTEE

MA, Kai Cheung, PhD, SBS, BBS (Chairman)
LO, Ming Chi, Charles

LO, Man Kit, Sam

WONG, See King

COMPANY SECRETARY
NG, Yan Kwong

REGISTERED OFFICE

Canon’s Court
22 Victoria Street
Hamilton HM12
Bermuda

HEAD OFFICE AND PRINCIPAL PLACES

OF BUSINESS

26/F Phase Il Wyler Centre
200 Tai Lin Pai Road

Kwai Chung

New Territories

Hong Kong

5/F Carrianna Friendship Square
2002 Renminnan Road

Lo Wu District

Shenzhen

China
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Hamilton HM11

Bermuda
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Hong Kong

SOLICITORS
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LEGAL ADVISERS ON BERMUDA LAW
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The Hongkong & Shanghai Banking Corporation Limited
Standard Chartered Bank (Hong Kong) Limited
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The Bank of East Asia, Limited
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Bank of China, Shenzhen Branch
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On behalf of the Board of Directors, | am pleased to present to
you the Annual Report of Carrianna Group Holdings Company
Limited for the financial year ended 31 March 2013.

INTRODUCTION

For the last two decades, the Group has achieved significant
success in building its business in mainland China. Under the
brand name of “Carrianna”, the Group’s Chiuchow cuisine
restaurants, food business and property business are well
recognized in the domestic market. This year the Group has
adopted the new name, “Carrianna Group”, to reflect that its
principal businesses have long been operated under the brand
name, “Carrianna”. This change will give strong support to
the Group’s future business development in the mainland and
enhance its image and recognition in the financial market.

The Group’s business strategy will continue to focus on its food
and restaurant business and property business. Of its food
and restaurant business, Carrianna Chiuchow restaurants have
long become one of the most well known high end Chiuchow
cuisine restaurant chains in China and Hong Kong. Carrianna
moon cakes are also very popular with consumers in the
mainland.

The Group’s property business comprises both property
development and investment in residential properties, retail
malls and trade and logistics centres. Its property investments
include Carrianna Friendship Square and Imperial Palace
Shopping Mall in Shenzhen. Carrianna Friendship Square is a
landmark retail mall located at the downtown of Shenzhen.

The Group’s residential development project in Yiyang, Hunan,
comprising total planned GFA of 2.5 million square metres,
is situated at a premium location with superior lake view.
About 160,000 square metres of Phase 1 property have been
completed. 135,000 square meters of Phase 2 will also be
completed in the coming year.

Of the Group’s investment in trade and logistics centres, its
investment in China South City Holdings Limited has brought
significant returns over the years. The Group together with
other investors founded China South City in 2003, which
started to build a trade and logistics centre for industrial
materials with integrated services in Pinhu, Shenzhen, with total
gross floor area of over 2 million square metres. China South
City has since started the development of similar projects in
several provincial capital cities, and has become the largest
developer and operator of integrated trade and logistics centres
in China.
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The Group has also invested in “China East International Trade
City”, the development of a large-scale wholesale and retail
market for consumer goods. Located in Lianyungang, Jiangsu
province, and with planned GFA of 3 million square metres,
“China East International Trade City” is poised to emerge as the
largest integrated trade and logistics centre in the coastal area
covering both Shandong province and Jiangsu province.

FINANCIAL RESULTS

For the year ended 31 March 2013, the Group’s turnover
was HK$748,479,000 (2012: HK$1,172,769,000), a decrease
of 36% from last year. The Group’s profit attributable to
shareholders was $153,427,000 (2012: HK$113,633,000 (as
restated)), an increase of 35% over last year.

The decrease in turnover was mainly attributable to a significant
decline in the sales turnover in property development. The
increase in the dividend income from China South City and the
disposal of part of the Group’s shareholding in China South
City has more than offset the negative impact of the decline
in property sales on profitability. Coupled with relatively mild
changes in the contribution from property investment and food
and restaurant business, the Group has recorded good profit
growth.

This February the Group entered into an agreement to dispose
of 750,000,000 shares in China South City, which has brought
to the Group total cash of approximately HK$1.16 billion. By
31 March 2013, 154,838,000 China South City shares were
sold, whilst the sales of the remaining 595,162,000 shares were
completed by 30 June 2013. It is the intention of the Group to
keep the residual 138,966,649 China South City shares as long
term investment.

The Directors are pleased to recommend the payment of a final
dividend of 5 HK cents per share and a special dividend of 30
HK cents per share for the year ended 31 March 2013.
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BUSINESS OUTLOOK

Currently the Group has substantial cash position. The Group
has used some cash to reduce its bank loans and proposed to
pay a special dividend. In addition, the Group has been looking
for investment opportunities in the food and restaurant and
property sectors.

In the restaurant business, the Group’s Carrianna restaurants
have been negatively affected by the new policy on official
spending. It is anticipated that the market environment for this
year will remain difficult. However, the Group is optimistic on the
prospect of the restaurant industry as a whole, particularly on
the increasing demand of urban middle class for casual dining.
The Group has plans to invest in mid price, casual dining
segment and to expand its distribution network and product
range in its food business.

Of its property business, the Group’s residential development
in Yiyang, Hunan has made good progress. More tenants
have opened at the Group’s China East City in Lianyungang,
Jiangsu. The furniture and household goods mall project in
Dongguan, in which the Group owns a 50% interest, has
commenced construction this year. In addition, the Group
has been actively looking for investment opportunities in the
property sector, particularly for high quality projects in major
cities.

In October 2012, the Group appointed Mr. Chan Sheung Lai,
Jimmy as Chief Executive Officer and Executive Director. Mr.
Chan was previously Chief Executive Officer of Value Partners
Group Limited and has significant experience in investment and
corporate finance. This has reflected the Group’s commitment
to strengthen its management team and enhance the quality of
its business development and management.
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APPRECIATION

| would like to take this opportunity to extend my appreciation
to the Board of Directors, our management team and staff
for their support and dedication to the Group and to our
shareholders, customers, suppliers and other business partners
for their unfailing support.

Dr. Ma Kai Cheung
Chairman

Hong Kong, 28 June 2013
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Director and Senior Management’s Biographies

EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

MA Kai Cheung, ~PnD, SBS, BBS, aged 71, is the Chairman
and founder of the Group. Mr. Ma has more than 40 years’
experience in the garment distribution and manufacturing
business, over 20 years’ experience in the restaurant business
and property development. He is responsible for the strategic
planning and business development of the Group. He was
a committee member of the 9th, 10th and 11th National
Committee of the Chinese People’s Political Consultative
Conference. He is the Consultant of All-Chinese Federation
of Returned Overseas Chinese, the Permanent Honorary
President of Shenzhen Overseas Chinese International
Association. Mr. Ma also serves as President of Federation of
Hong Kong Guangdong Community Organisations, Permanent
Honorary President of Federation of Hong Kong Chiu Chow
Community Organizations, Permanent Honorary President
of Hong Kong Chiu Chow Chamber of Commerce Limited
and President of Hong Kong & Kowloon Chiu Chow Public
Association. Mr. Ma is a brother of Mr. Ma Kai Yum.

MA Kai Yum, PnD, aged 62, is Vice Chairman of the Group.
He has been a Director of the Group since 1984 and has
over 30 years’ experience in the garment business. Mr. Ma
is responsible for the daily operation and administration and,
together with Mr. Ma Kai Cheung, for the strategic planning
of the Group. Mr. Ma was a former member of Guangdong
Provincial Committee of Chinese People’s Political Consultative
Conference and also serves as a Director of the Chinese
Manufacturers Association of Hong Kong, Vice President of
Hong Kong & Kowloon Chiu Chow Public Association and
Director of Hong Kong Chiu Chow Chamber of Commerce.
Mr. Ma is a brother of Mr. Ma Kai Cheung.
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EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS (Continued)

CHAN Sheung Lai, aged 51, is Executive Director and Chief
Executive Officer of the Group. Prior to joining the Company,
Mr. Chan was Executive Director and Chief Executive Officer
of Value Partners Group Limited, a leading fund management
firm listed on The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited.
Previously Mr. Chan was Chief Executive (North China) of
KaiLong Real Estate Investment, a real estate investment
and asset management firm focused on the China real estate
market. Prior to joining KaiLong, Mr. Chan was a partner of
Deloitte Touche Tohmatsu, and led its Corporate Finance
Advisory Practice and Life Science and Healthcare Practice in
China. Mr. Chan has over 20 years of investment, real estate,
corporate finance and business management experience, and
long track record of building businesses in China. Mr. Chan
holds a Bachelor degree of Social Sciences from the University
of Hong Kong. He is a fellow member of Hong Kong Institute of
Certified Public Accountants and the Association of Chartered
Certified Accountants.

NG Yan Kwong, aged 52, is Executive Director, Chief
Financial Officer and Company Secretary of the Group since
2000. Before joining the Group, Mr. Ng was the finance
director of a US beverage company operating in Mainland
China. Mr. Ng has more than 10 years corporate and financial
management experience with multinational consumer product
companies in South East Asia and Greater China region. He
also has substantial working experience in public accountancy
practice with a major international accounting firm. He holds a
Bachelor’s degree in Commerce of the University of Newcastle
in Australia and is a member of the Hong Kong Institute of
Certified Public Accountants and the CPA Australia.
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EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS (Continued)

MA Hung Ming, John, PhD, BBS, aged 46, has been the
Managing Director of Carrianna Holdings Limited since April
2002. Mr. Ma joined the Group in 1990 and is currently
responsible for the Group’s property development operations.
He has extensive experience in the catering industry, as well
as property management and development. Mr. Ma was
awarded the Bronze Bauhinia Star (BBS) from The Government
of the Hong Kong Special Administrative Region in 2003
and a Honorary Doctorate of Philosophy degree by Morrison
University in 2004. In 2011, he was awarded the Honorary
Citizen by the Shenzhen government. Mr. Ma is an independent
non-executive director of Liu Chong Hing Investment Limited.
He was the Chairman of Tung Wah Group of Hospitals for the
year 2002. He is a member of Tung Wah Group of Hospitals
Advisory Board, a member of the Standing Committee of
Shenzhen Committee of Chinese People’s Political Consultative
Conference and the President of Youth Council. He also serves
as the Vice Chairman of Federation of Hong Kong Guangdong
Community Organisations and the Vice President of Kowloon
Federation of Associations. He is the son of Mr. Ma Kai
Cheung, Chairman and executive director of the Company.

INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE
DIRECTORS

LO Ming Chi, Charles, aged 63, joined the Group in 1991. Mr.
Lo is a member of the CPA Australia and fellow of the Financial
Services Institute of Australasia. Mr. Lo is an executive director
and Chief Executive Officer of China Tycoon Beverage Holdings
Limited (formerly known as Sewco International Holdings
Limited). He is an executive director and Chief Executive
Officer of New Island Printing Holdings Limited. He is also an
independent non-executive director of Cash Financial Services
Group Limited. He was an independent non-executive director
of New Environmental Energy Holdings Limited from 15 June
2006 to 1 July 2012. He was an Executive Director of Sun
Innovation Holdings Limited from 21 July 2009 to 1 March
2010. All these companies are listed on The Stock Exchange of
Hong Kong Limited. He has more than 20 years of professional
and business experience in financial and investment services in
Australia, Hong Kong and other Asian countries.
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INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE
DIRECTORS (Continued)

LO Man Kit, Sam, aged 52, joined the Group in July 2004.
Mr. Lo is a practising solicitor in Hong Kong and a consultant
of Messrs. C.C. Lee & Co.. He has over 20 years of extensive
experience in the areas of conveyancing, banking and
commercial law. He is also admitted as solicitor in England and
Singapore.

WONG See King, aged 52, joined the Group in August 2007.
Mr. Wong is currently the Chief Financial Officer of HAGER Asia
Limited, a subsidiary of the HAGER Group which is a market
leader of selling building hardware products in the US market
and, through its subsidiaries, sells and manufactures mainly
hinge hardware products in Mainland China. Mr. Wong had
also worked as financial and business executive in various
Australian, UK and US multi-national companies. He has over
20 years’ of working experience in corporate finance, building
hardware, consumer goods manufacturing and distribution
business in Hong Kong and China and property development
business in Australia. He holds a bachelor’'s degree in
Economics from Macquarie University (Australia) and is a
member of the Australian Society of CPAs.

SENIOR MANAGEMENT

MA Hung Man, Raymond, aged 37, is the Executive
Director of the Food & Beverage Division (China Region)
of the Company. Mr. Ma graduated from the University of
California, Davis with a Bachelor of Science Degree in Civil
Engineering and he holds a Professional Engineer license in
Civil Engineering in USA. He has substantial experience in food
and beverage business. He is the son of Mr. Ma Kai Cheung.

YAU So Kan, aged 42, is General Manager of the Carrianna
Hotel in Foshan, PRC. She has been serving the Group since
2004. Ms. Yau has led the management of Carrianna Hotel
since the Company took over the hotel in 2004. Ms. Yau
has about 10 years’ experience in hotel management and
operation.
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SENIOR MANAGEMENT (Continued)

Zhang Jl Yong, aged 44, is the Managing Director of
Carrianna (Hunan) Holding Co., Ltd. Mr. Zhang has about
18 years working experience in real estate industry. He has
extensive experience in property sales and development in
Changsha City and Yiyang City of Hunan Province. He also
serves as delegate of Yiyang People’s Congress, vice president
of Association of Industry and Commerce, Yiyang and president
of Association of Real Estate Development, Yiyang. Mr. Zhang
graduated from Hunan University and holds a Master Degree of
Project Management.

WONG Tai Wai, David, aged 51, is General Manager of the
Dongguan Golden Fame Property Development Co. Ltd., in
which the Group owns a 50% interest. Mr. Wong graduated
from Hong Kong Polytechnic University and holds Diploma in
Industrial Design. He has substantial experience in real estate
Development, investment and operations.
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE PRACTICES

The Company is committed to maintaining a high standard
of corporate governance as set out in the Corporate
Governance Code (the “CG Code”), in Appendix 14 of The
Rules Governing the Listing of Securities (the “Listing Rules”)
on The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the “Stock
Exchange”) which became effective on 1 January 2005. The
corporate governance principles of the Company emphase
a quality board of directors, sound internal control, principles
and practices and transparency and accountability to all
shareholders of the Company. The Company has complied with
the CG Code throughout the accounting period covered by this
report, except for deviation in respect of the separation of the
roles of chairman and chief executive officer which has been
fully complied with the CG Code after the appointment of Mr.
Chan Sheung Lai as Chief Executive Officer of the Company on
22 October 2012.

COMPLIANCE WITH THE MODEL CODE
FOR SECURITIES TRANSACTIONS

The Company has adopted the Model Code for Securities
Transactions by Directors of Listed Issuers (the “Model Code”)
as set out in Appendix 10 of the Listing Rules as the code for
securities transactions by Directors of the Company. Following
specific enquiry by the Company, the Directors have confirmed
that they have complied with the required standard under the
Model Code throughout the year.

BOARD OF DIRECTORS

As at 31 March 2013, the Board comprised nine Directors,
including six executive directors and three independent
non-executive directors.
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BOARD OF DIRECTORS (Continued)

The brief biographical details of the Directors are set out in the
“Director and Senior Management’s Biographies” on pages 9
to 13 of this report.

The composition of the Board is reviewed regularly to ensure
that it has a good balance of expertise, skills and experience
which can meet the requirements of the business of the
Company.

RESPONSIBILITIES OF DIRECTORS

The Board is responsible for ensuring continuity of leadership,
development of sound business strategies, availability of
adequate capital and managerial resources to implement the
business strategies adopted, adequacy of systems of financial
and internal controls and conduct of business in conformity
with applicable laws and regulations. All Directors have made
full and active contribution to the affairs of the Board and the
Board has always acted in the best interests of the Group.

The Executive Directors and senior management are delegated
with respective levels of authorities with regard to key
corporate strategy and policy and contractual commitments.
Management is responsible for the day-to-day operations of the
Group with divisional heads responsible for different aspects of
the business.

The Board is responsible for the preparation of the financial
statements. The Company has adopted the generally accepted
accounting standards in Hong Kong in preparing the financial
statements, appropriate accounting policies have been
adopted and applied consistently, and reasonable and prudent
judgement and estimates have been made. The publication of
the financial statements of the Group is also in a timely manner.

The Board has reviewed the financial projections of the Group
and the Board is not aware of any material uncertainties relating
to events or conditions which may cast significant doubt over
the Group’s ability to continue as a going concern. Accordingly,
the Board has continued to adopt the going concern basis in
preparing the financial statements.
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BOARD OF DIRECTORS (Continued)
BOARD MEETINGS

During the year, the Board met regularly and held six meetings.
The attendance of the Directors at the board meetings was as
follow:
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EEEGH
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Number of
attendance
Directors B= IR
Executive Directors HBTES
Mr. Ma Kai Cheung (Chairman) BNERE (FE) 6/6
Mr. Ma Kai Yum (Vice Chairman) BhREE (BIFE) 6/6
Mr. Chan Sheung Lai (Chief Executive Officer) — BRis& 5 4 (7T A8 %)

(appointed on 22 October 2012) (R=ZE—=—F+HA=+=H) 1/1
Mr. Ng Yan Kwong RENEE 6/6
Mr. Ma Hung Ming, John BRsE kL 6/6
Mr. Yuen Wai Man REXHRE

(resigned on 10 June 2013) (R=—Z—Z=ZF/XA+HET) 2/6
Independent Non-Executive Directors BIYFHTES
Mr. Lo Ming Chi, Charles B L 6/6
Mr. Lo Man Kit, Sam BNk E 6/6
Mr. Wong See King HEEREBEE 6/6

Regular board meetings are scheduled in advance to
facilitate all directors’ attendance. Regular board meetings
are scheduled to be held four times a year at approximately
quarterly intervals. At least 14 days’ notice of a board meeting
is given to all directors who are given an opportunity to include
matters for discussion in the agenda. If potential conflict of
interest involving a substantial shareholder or a director arises,
the matter is discussed in a physical meeting, as opposed
to being dealt with by written resolution. The directors attend
meetings in persons or through other means of electronic
communication in accordance with the Bye-laws of the
Company.
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BOARD OF DIRECTORS (Continued)
BOARD MEETINGS (Continued)

Board papers are circulated approximately three days before
the board meetings to enable the directors to make informed
decisions on matters to be raised. The Company Secretary
assists the chairman in preparing the agenda for meetings
and ensures that all applicable rules and regulations are
complied with. The Company Secretary shall attend all regular
board meetings to advise on corporate governance, statutory
compliance, accounting and financial matters when necessary.
Directors shall have full access to information on the Group and
are able to obtain independent professional advice whenever
deemed necessary by the directors. The Company Secretary
shall prepare minutes and keep records of matters discussed
and decisions resolved at all board meetings.

Each newly-appointed director will be provided with a
package of orientation materials setting out the duties and
responsibilities of directors under the Listing Rules, related
ordinances and relevant regulatory requirements of Hong Kong.
Updates are provided to directors when necessary to ensure
that directors are aware of the latest changes in the commercial
and regulatory environment in which the Group conducts its
business.
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BOARD OF DIRECTORS (Continued)
BOARD MEETINGS (Continued)

According to the records of the Company, during the financial
year ended 31 March 2013, the Directors participated in the
following trainings:
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Seminar/course Reading
attended materials
Directors BE= HEEE/RE BIEM R
Executive Directors HITES
Mr. Ma Kai Cheung (Chairman) SNEEE(X/E) v
Mr. Ma Kai Yum (Vice Chairman) BNREE (BIEE) 4
Mr. Chan Sheung Lai BR85S (7T AB ) v v
(Chief Executive Officer) (NZE—=—F+A=-1+=H
(appointed on 22 October 2012) BZE)
Mr. Ng Yan Kwong REHNFEAE v v
Mr. Ma Hung Ming, John BIBEh e E v
Mr. Yuen Wai Man REXGE (RZE—=F v
(resigned on 10 June 2013) NATBBET)
Independent Non-Executive BIYFHTES
Directors
Mr. Lo Ming Chi, Charles BERE L v v
Mr. Lo Man Kit, Sam E X & v v
Mr. Wong See King BERBELE v v
CHAIRMAN AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE ¥ % R AT AR

According to the code provision A.2.1 of the CG Code, the
roles of chairman and chief executive should be separate and
should not be performed by the same individual.

On 22 October 2012, Mr. Chan Sheung Lai has been
appointed as chief executive officer of the Company. The
Company has fully complied with the CG Code since then.

One of the important roles of the Chairman is to provide
leadership to the Board to ensure that the Board always acts in
the best interests of the Group. The Chairman shall ensure that
the Board works effectively and performs its responsibilities,
and that all key and appropriate issues are discussed by it in
a timely manner. All directors have been consulted about any
matters proposed for inclusion in the agenda. With the support
of the Company Secretary, the Chairman seeks to ensure that
all directors are properly briefed on issues arising at any board
meeting and have received adequate and reliable information in
a timely manner.
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NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

The non-executive directors provide a wide range of expertise
and experience as well as checks and balances to safeguard
the interests of the Group and its shareholders. Their
participation in the board and committee meetings brings
independent judgement on issues relating to the Group’s
strategy, performance, conflicts of interest and management
process to ensure that the interests of all shareholders of the
Company have been duly considered.

The non-executive directors of the Company have been
appointed for a term subject to retirement by rotation and re-
election at the annual general meeting of the Company in
accordance with the Bye-laws of the Company. According
to Bye-law 102(A) of the Bye-laws of the Company, director
appointed to fill any casual vacancy shall hold office only
until the next annual general meeting after their appointment
and shall be subject to re-election by the shareholders of the
Company. According to Bye-law 99 of the Bye-laws of the
Company, one-third of the directors for the time being shall
retire from office by rotation (except Chairman or Managing
Director) and shall be eligible for re-election at each annual
general meeting.

INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE
DIRECTORS

The Company has three independent non-executive directors
representing more than one-third of the Board. More than
one of the independent non-executive directors have the
appropriate professional qualifications or accounting or related
financial management expertise. The Board confirms that the
Company has received from each of the independent non-
executive directors an annual confirmation of his independence
and considers that all the independent non-executive directors
are independent under the guidelines set out in Rules 3.13 of
the Listing Rules.
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BOARD COMMITTEES

The Board has established three committees, namely, the
Audit Committee, the Remuneration Committee and the
Nomination Committee, to handle particular responsibilities of
the Board and the Company’s affairs. All board committees
of the Company are established with defined written terms
of reference which have been uploaded to the website of
the Stock Exchange and that of the Company. The board
committees are provided with sufficient resources to discharge
their duties and, upon reasonable request, are able to seek
independent professional advice in appropriate circumstances,
at the Company’s expense.

AUDIT COMMITTEE

The Audit Committee was established on 1 April 1999 and
currently comprises three independent non-executive directors,
including Mr. Lo Ming Chi, Charles (Chairman), Mr. Lo Man Kit,
Sam and Mr. Wong See King. Its composition is as follow:—

A set of written terms of reference, which described the
authority and duties of the Audit Committee, was adopted by
the Board on 1 September 2004, amended and restated on 26
March 2012 and the contents of which are in compliance with
the Code Provisions and Recommended Best Practices of the
CG Code.

The Audit Committee is accountable to the Board and the
principal duties of the Audit Committee include the review and
supervision of the Group’s financial reporting processes and
internal controls. The Committee is also provided with other
resources to enable it to discharge its duties fully.
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AUDIT COMMITTEE (Continued)

During the year, the Audit Committee held two meetings and
the external auditors were in attendance. The attendance of the
Directors at the Audit Committee meetings was as follows:
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FRN BERLZECARMAEH ERAINE
REMEFE BREZEGERNEFTLER
SIS

Number of
attendance
Directors B=E HERE
Mr. Lo Ming Chi, Charles (Chairman) B SE (£E) 2/2
Mr. Lo Man Kit, Sam BB 2/2
Mr. Wong See King. HEERBEE 2/2

The Audit Committee has reviewed with the management of
the Company and Ernst & Young, the auditors of the Company,
the accounting principles and practices adopted by the Group
and has discussed auditing, internal controls and financial
reporting matters, including the review of the annual report of
the Company for the year ended 31 March 2013.

The remuneration paid to Ernst & Young, for services rendered
in respect of the year ended 31 March 2013 is as follows:

EVZESCHMAARRERERARALZ
BRI 2k &5t BD BT T E B AR B AT R
Z TR MR SR EAL - REREAE M
BHREEE (BREHARRNBE-T—=F
ZASt - BLEFEZFERSE)ETER -

LK EFEN BN T —=F=A=1—
BLEFEZZBEREEAMET

2013 2012
—B-=F —T—=F
HK$’000 HK$ 000
FERT FHET
Audit fee ZEER

— provision for the year FAEH 2,650 2,550

Non-audit service fees EZE R E A 500
3,150 2,550

Fees for non-audit services comprise of agreed upon
procedures.
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REMUNERATION COMMITTEE AND
REMUNERATION OF DIRECTORS

The Remuneration Committee was established on 1 April 2005
and comprises three independent non-executive directors,
including Mr. Lo Man Kit, Sam (Chairman), Mr. Lo Ming Chi,
Charles and Mr. Wong See King.

During the year, the Remuneration Committee held one
meeting. The attendance of the Directors at the Remuneration
Committee meetings was as follow:

HMERS

EEZMe

FMZEeN _TTRFMA—HKL B=
BEFMITERER BREXERE (£
B BRBREREBBREE

FRN - FHEZEeaF—KeH -FHEZES
SHRNEEHEBRNOT:

Number of
attendance
Directors B= IR
Mr. Lo Man Kit, Sam (Chairman) BEXBEE (E/E) 1/1
Mr. Lo Ming Chi, Charles BERE kL 1/1
Mr. Wong See King HEERBEE 1/1

The objectives of the Remuneration Committee are to
establish and maintain an appropriate and competitive level of
remuneration to attract, retain and motivate directors and key
executives to run the Company successfully. The Remuneration
Committee also ensures that the remuneration policies and
systems of the Group support the Group’s objectives and
strategies. The Remuneration Committee is provided with
sufficient resources to perform its duties. A set of written terms
of reference, which described the authority and duties of the
Remuneration Committee, was adopted by the Board on 1
April 2005, amended and restated on 26 March 2012 and the
contents of which are in compliance with the code provisions of
the CG Code.

The major roles and functions of the Remuneration Committee
are as follows:

(@) to make recommendations to the Board on the
Company’s policy and structure for all Directors’
and senior management remuneration and on the
establishment of a formal and transparent procedure for
developing remuneration policy;
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REMUNERATION COMMITTEE AND
REMUNERATION OF DIRECTORS (Continued)

(b)

to review and approve the management’s remuneration
proposals with reference to the Board’s corporate goals
and objectives;

either:

()  to determine, with delegated responsibility, the
remuneration packages of individual executive
Directors and senior management; or

(i)  to make recommendations to the Board on the
remuneration packages of individual executive
Directors and senior management.

This should include benefits in kind, pension rights and
compensation payments, including any compensation
payable for loss or termination of their office of
appointment;

to make recommendations to the Board on the
remuneration of non-executive Directors;

to consider salaries paid by comparable companies,
time commitment and responsibilities and employment
conditions elsewhere in the group;

to review and approve compensation payable to executive
Directors and senior management for any loss or
termination of office or appointment to ensure that it is
consistent with contractual terms and is otherwise fair and
not excessive;

to review and approve compensation arrangements
relating to dismissal or removal of Directors for
misconduct to ensure that they are consistent with
contractual terms and are otherwise reasonable and
appropriate;

to ensure that no Director or any of his associates is
involved in deciding his own remuneration and that, as
regards the remuneration of a non-executive Director who
is a member of the Committee, his remuneration should
be determined by the other members of the Committee;
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REMUNERATION COMMITTEE AND
REMUNERATION OF DIRECTORS (Continued)

(i)  to advise shareholders of the Company on how to vote
with respect to any service contracts of Directors that
require shareholders’ approval under Rule 13.68 of Listing
Rules; and

() to report back to the Board on their decisions or
recommendations, unless there are legal or regulatory
restrictions on their ability to do so (such as a restriction
on disclosure due to regulatory requirements).

During the year 2013, the Remuneration Committee made
recommendations to the Board on executive directors’
remuneration packages and terms of employment. The
Committee also formulated and evaluated the remuneration
policy and structure for the directors and senior management of
the Company.

REMUNERATION OF DIRECTORS AND
SENIOR MANAGEMENT

Pursuant to code provision B.1.5 of the CG Code, the
remuneration of the members of senior management by band
for the year ended 31 March 2013 is set out below:

MEZEEREEZH S ()

(i) FMDT—J%T/JE}F (CEMmHAD ’%13 6814

BIREAE TR ESELNETRR
F’T$ AR ER &
()  BRIEXEEKELE R B FTR MmN eE(E T

R (PINREEREMRIEE) =
BEgAMEATHAERANERTSER

R-E—=F FHEEERATEZTZH
M\?%?%&H%ﬁﬁ&ﬂﬁi%é%ﬁk% %8
SNHEI N EARFEERSRERAR
2 F BN R R N A

EFRRAERANEM2

RizEA TR 25T AR EBABIRRE » &
ECE-=F=ZA=1T-HIFERFHZF
BozmRERANBNMESEIIWT

Number of

Individuals

A"

Up to HK$1,000,000 T % 1,000,000/ 7T 5
HK$1,000,001 — HK$2,000,000 1,000,001/ 7T £2,000,0007% 7T 2
HK$2,000,001 — HK$4,000,000 2,000,0017% 7T £4,000,000/% 7T 1
HK$4,000,001 — HK$5,000,000 4,000,0017% 75 £5,000,000/% 7T 2

Further particulars in relation to Directors’ remuneration and the
five highest paid employees’ remuneration as required to be
disclosed pursuant to Appendix 16 to the Listing Rules are set
out in notes 8 and 9, respectively, to the consolidated financial
statements.
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NOMINATION COMMITTEE

The Nomination Committee was established on 26 March
2012. The Nomination Committee is responsible for making
recommendation to the nomination of Directors with a view
to appointing suitable individuals with relevant expertise and
experience to enhance the constitution of the Board and to
contribute to the Board. In the nomination procedures, the
Nomination Committee makes reference to criteria including
reputation of candidates for integrity, accomplishment and
experience, professional and educational background.

The Nomination Committee comprises one executive director
and three independent non-executive directors, including Mr.
Ma Kai Cheung (Chairman), Mr. Lo Ming Chi, Charles, Mr. Lo
Man Kit, Sam and Mr. Wong See King.

During the year, one meeting was convened by the Nomination
Committee. The attendance of the Directors at the Nomination
Committee meeting was as follows:
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Number of

attendance
Directors = HE IR
Mr. Ma Kai Cheung (Chairman) BNESRE (FE) 1/1
Mr. Lo Ming Chi, Charles R T E 1/1
Mr. Lo Man Kit, Sam BB 1/1
Mr. Wong See King. HEERBEE 1/1

A set of new written terms of reference, which described
the authority and duties of the Nomination Committee, was
adopted by the Board on 26 March 2012 and the contents
of which are in compliance with the Code Provisions and
Recommended Best Practices of the CG Code.
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COMMUNICATION CHANNELS

In order to develop and maintain continuing relationships
with the shareholders of the Company, the Company has
established various channels to facilitate and enhance
communication:

()  the annual general meeting provides a forum for
shareholders of the Company to raise comments and
exchange views with the Board;

(i) updated key information of the Group is available on the
Company’s website at www.carrianna.com to enable the
shareholders of the Company and the investor community
to have timely access to information about the Group; and

(i) the Company’s website offers a communication channel
between the Company and its shareholders and
investors.

(iv)  the rights of the shareholders of the Company are set out
in the Bye-laws of the Company.

(v)  the shareholders may put forward their proposals or
enquiries to the Board by sending their written request to
the Company’s principal place of business in Hong Kong.

The Chairman and the directors are available at annual general
meetings to answer questions raised by shareholders of the
Company or other interested parties.
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COMMUNICATION CHANNELS (Continued)

Attendance of the Directors at the last annual general meeting
which was held on 27 August 2012 was as follows:
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Number of
attendance
Directors BE= HE IR
Executive Directors HTES
Mr. MA, Kai Cheung (Chairman) SNEEE (X/E) 11
Mr. MA, Kai Yum (Vice Chairman) BNREE (BIE/E) 1/1
Mr. CHAN, Sheung Lai (Chief Executive Officer) BR=1& 54 (7T ABZE)

(appointed on 22 October 2012) (RZE—ZF+AZ+ZHEZMHF) N/A
Mr. NG, Yan Kwong RENEE 1/1
Mr. MA, Hung Ming, John HRsE k& 0/1
Mr. YUEN, Wai Man RIEXSEE

(resigned on 10 June 2013) (R=ZZE—Z=F/"A+HEET) 0/1
Independent Non-Executive Directors BIYFHTES
Mr. LO, Ming Chi, Charles BERE L 1/1
Mr. LO, Man Kit, Sam B St 1/1
Mr. WONG, See King HEERBEE 1/1

Mr. Ma Hung Ming, John and Mr. Yuen Wai Man were unable to
attend the last annual general meeting of the Company due to
other prior business engagements.

INTERNAL CONTROL

The Board is overall responsible for overseeing the operations
of all the businesses units within the Group. Suitable candidates
are appointed by the Board to join in the boards of all
subsidiaries and associates operating in key business areas,
to attend the board meetings and to oversee the operations
of such companies. The management of each business area
is accountable for these operation and performance of the
business under its area of responsibility.

The Board has conducted bi-annual reviews of internal control
system of the Group pursuant to the Codes and considers that
all the material internal controls in the Group are adequate and
effective during the year.
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Turnover for property business for the year was
HK$147,658,000 (2012: HK$550,811,000), less than last year
by 73%. Segment operating profit was HK$194,581,000 (2012:
HK$214,059,000), decreased by 9% from last year. Excluding
the effect of property revaluation gain, segment operating
profit was HK$123,888,000 (2012: HK$122,724,000), slightly
increased by 1% from last year.

Sales revenue from both of the Group’s property development
projects decreased significantly from last year. The construction
progress of Phase 2 of Grand Lake City, Yiyang of Hunan
Province, comprising 6 blocks of high rise lake view residential
buildings and a shopping centre, is satisfactory. By the end
of June 2013, contracted sales area and value exceeded
75,000 sg.m. and HK$350,000,000 respectively. Together with
further sales from the second half of 2013, these sales will be
recognized as revenue following the completion of construction
in phases starting from the end of 2013. During the year, China
East City in Lianyungang of Jiangsu Province recorded sales
revenue of HK$67,118,000 which were mainly pre-sales from
last year with properties completed and delivered to customers
during the year.

The Group’s 50% owned furniture, construction materials and
household goods mall in Dongguan started construction earlier
this year. Property sales will commence by the end of 2014
and construction will be completed in phases starting from
mid 2015. Total gross floor area of the project will be 410,000
sg.m. of which 95,000 sg.m. will be constructed and operated
by Red Star Macalline, the leading furniture retail mall operator
in China. The project company will own 30% of the Macalline
mall. The remaining 305,000 sg.m., comprising 190,000 sg.m.
retail area with the remaining being office, service apartments,
hotel, car park and other utilities, will be constructed and
operated by the project company.
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Affected by the tightening economic control measures from
the Government, restaurant, entertainment and retail sectors in
Guangdong Province and Shenzhen all faced difficult business
environment. The Group’s investment properties in Shenzhen,
Carrianna Friendship Square and Imperial Palace, continued
to maintain high occupancy rate of over 97%. However, rental
income decreased by 2% to HK$67,143,000 as some tenants
closed business during the year.

The Group entered into a contract on 6 February 2013 to sell
750,000,000 China South City shares at a price HK$1.55 per
share before 30 June 2013 (see circular to shareholders on
13 March 2013). At 31 March 2013, sales of 154,838,000
shares were completed and the relevant profit was recorded in
this year’s profit and loss accounts. The sales of 750,000,000
China South City shares would generate total cash of
approximately HK$1.16 billion. This cash will provide sufficient
resources for the Group’s future business development. The
Group also proposes to distribute some of the proceeds
as special dividend so as to enhance investment return for
shareholders.

For the coming year, property segment profit will mainly
come from property sales in Yiyang of Hunan Province while
rental income will continue to provide good cash and profit
contribution. The remaining 595,162,000 China South City
shares sales profit will also be recognized. Property segment is
expected to achieve satisfactory profit growth.
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PROPERTY
HE

The Group’s investment properties in Shenzhen, Carrianna Friendship Square and Imperial Palace,
continued to maintain high occupancy rate of over 97%.
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The construction progress of Phase 2 of Grand Lake City, Yiyang of Hunan Province, comprising 6 blocks
of high rise lake view residential buildings and a shopping centre, is satisfactory. By the end of June 2013,
contracted sales area and value exceeded 75,000 sg.m. and HK$350,000,000 respectively.
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The Group’s 50% owned furniture, construction materials and household goods mall with total gross floor
area of 410,000 sg.m. in Dongguan started construction earlier this year.
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HOTEL, RESTAURANT AND FOOD

Turnover for hotel, restaurant and food division for the year
was HK$600,821,000 (2012: HK$621,958,000), decreased by
3% from last year. Segment profit was HK$98,837,000 (2012:
HK$96,828,000), increased by 2% from last year.

During the year, food business continued the growth trend
from previous year and achieved a turnover growth of 17%.
In addition to a 10% decline in turnover for the first half year
due to slowdown of China economy, restaurant business
was further affected by government control on dining and
entertainment expenses in the second half which resulted in a
yearly turnover decrease by 17% from last year. Hotel turnover
continued the trend of the first half with turnover reduced by
12% from last year as a result of China economic slowdown.

Under such difficult business environment, segment profit
has still achieved its continued growth. This was mainly due
to the good effort from management in cost control and the
contribution from food business profit growth.

For the coming year, China economy is still uncertain.
Government control on dining and entertainment expenses
will continue to be in place. Even though food ingredients and
labour cost will not grow as fast as previous year, business
dining sector will operate under very difficult environment. It is
expected that hotel and restaurant business turnover will be
less than this year. Management will continue to control costs
and improve operating efficiency in order to reduce the impact
of the reduction in turnover on operating profit. On the other
hand, the Group will continue to invest in food distribution
network and production capacity to maintain its profit growth.
The Group is also actively looking for investment opportunities
in new restaurant business so as to balance the unfavourable
market condition of the business dining sector.
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Under difficult business environment, hotel, restaurant and food segment profit has still achieved its
continued growth. This was mainly due to the good effort from management in cost control and the
contribution from food business profit growth.
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F Foshan Carrianna Hotel
I EZPBE

Futian Carrianna Restaurant VIP Room, Shenzhen
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Shenzhen Carrianna Friendship Square Restaurant
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During the year, food business continued the growth trend from previous year and achieved a turnover
growth of 17%.
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LIQUIDITY AND FINANCIAL RESOURCES

As at 31 March 2013, the Group’s consolidated net
assets after deduction of non-controlling interests was
HK$3,534,930,000 (2012: HK$3,115,855,000 (as restated))
and consolidated net assets after deduction of non-controlling
interests per share was HK$3.06 (2012: HK$2.72 (as restated)).

The Group’s free cash and bank balances and structured
deposits were HK$561,056,000. Netting off cash deposits
pledged for borrowings, the Group’s net bank borrowings were
HK$953,745,000. Net bank borrowings less free cash and
bank balances and structured deposits were HK$392,689,000,
representing 11% (2012: 24% (as restated)) of the Group’s total
equity. The Group’s borrowings are principally on a floating rate
basis.

MATERIAL ACQUISITION AND DISPOSAL

On 6 February 2013, the Group entered into an agreement to
dispose of 750,000,000 China South City shares at a price of
HK$1.55 per share (see circular to shareholders on 13 March
2013). Except for this, the Group had no material acquisition or
disposal for the year ended 31 March 2013.

CONTINGENT LIABILITIES AND FUTURE
COMMITMENT

As at the end of the reporting period, the Group had
contingent liabilities relating to guarantees given to banks for
mortgage loan facilities granted to purchasers of properties of
approximately HK$229,194,000 (2012: HK$182,930,000).
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CHARGES ON GROUP ASSETS

As at the end of the reporting period, certain of the Group’s
property, plant and equipment, investment properties,
properties under development, properties held for sale,
time deposits, structured deposits and financial assets at
fair value through profit or loss with a total carrying value of
approximately HK$2,734,460,000 (2012: HK$2,285,644,000)
were pledged to secure general banking, trade finance and
other facilities granted to the Group. In addition, rental income
generated in respect of certain investment properties of the
Group was assigned to banks to secure loan facilities granted
to the Group.

EXPOSURE ON FOREIGN EXCHANGE
FLUCTUATIONS AND TREASURY POLICY

The Group mainly operates in Hong Kong and Mainland China
with most of the Group’s monetary assets, liabilities and
transactions principally denominated in Hong Kong dollars and
Renminbi, respectively. Majority of the sales, purchases and
expenditure incurred by the operating units of the Group were
denominated in the units’ functional currencies and as a result,
the Group does not anticipate significant transactional currency
exposures.
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The directors herein present their report and the audited
financial statements of the Company and the Group for the year
ended 31 March 2013.

PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES

The principal activity of the Company is investment holding.
The principal activities of its subsidiaries comprise property
investment and development, the operations of hotel,
restaurant and food businesses.

RESULTS AND DIVIDENDS

The Group’s profit for the year ended 31 March 2013 and the
state of affairs of the Company and the Group at that date are
set out in the financial statements on pages 58 to 212.

The directors recommend the payment of a final dividend of
HK5 cents per ordinary share and a special dividend of HK30
cents per ordinary share in respect of the year payable to the
shareholders. This recommendation has been incorporated
in the financial statements as an allocation of retained profits
within the equity section of the statement of financial position.

CLOSURE OF REGISTER OF MEMBERS

The Register of Members of the Company will be closed from
Friday, 23 August 2013 to Monday, 26 August 2013, both
days inclusive, during which period no transfer of shares will be
effected. In order for a shareholder to be eligible to attend and
vote at the Annual General Meeting, all transfers accompanied
by the relevant share certificates must be lodged with the
Company’s Hong Kong Branch Registrar, Tricor Tengis Limited,
at 26th Floor, Tesbury Centre, 28 Queen’s Road East, Wanchai,
Hong Kong not later than 4:30 p.m. on Thursday, 22 August,
2013.

The Register of Members of the Company will be closed from
Friday, 27 September 2013 to Monday, 30 September 20183,
both days inclusive, during which period no transfer of shares
will be effected. In order to qualify for the proposed final and
special dividend (subject to shareholders’ approval at the
Annual General Meeting), all transfers accompanied by the
relevant share certificates must be lodged with the Company’s
Hong Kong Branch Registrar, Tricor Tengis Limited, at 26th
Floor, Tesbury Centre, 28 Queen’s Road East, Wanchai, Hong
Kong not later than 4:30 p.m. on Thursday, 26 September
2013.
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SUMMARY OF FINANCIAL INFORMATION

The table set out below summarises the published results,
assets, liabilities and non-controlling interests of the Group
for the last five financial years, as extracted from the audited
financial statements and restated as appropriate. The amounts
for each year in the five year financial summary have been
adjusted for the effects of the retrospective changes in
the accounting policy affecting deferred tax on investment
properties, as detailed in note 2.2 to the financial statements.
This summary does not form part of the audited financial
statements.

Bt %5 & Rl 2

TREFAEEBER AN BFEZ D N
X BE BERFERERREZ T
BASKE RECWHRE YEEEES -
M BRI 2. 2P 5t AFE B E
BEFEZSHOCHFEREMEELCHEZS
ABRZENESFEFLAR WHEY
TEREEZM B HRR 2D -

Year ended 31 March

BE-HA=1+-HLEE

2013 2012 2011 2010 2009
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
“2-=f —E--f ZE——f% <ZZ-%F ZCZZENE
TER TET FEL FTET AT
(Restated) (Restated) (Restated) (Restated)
(E7) (E3) (E5)) (E3)
RESULTS S
REVENUE KA 748,479 1,172,769 692,840 613,180 560,291
PROFIT FOR THE YEAR FEREF 167,579 156,792 175,916 417,245 182,315
Attributable to: JE :
Owners of the parent [SYNCIEY=IN 153,427 113,633 163,721 399,695 174,766
Non-controlling interests R 14,152 43,159 12,195 17,550 7,549
167,579 156,792 175,916 417,245 182,315
ASSETS, LIABILITES ANDNON-  BE -8fR
CONTROLLING INTERESTS FERER
TOTAL ASSETS BEE 6,483,074 5,932,280 5,651,843 5,106,782 4,553,719
TOTAL LIABILITIES “waeg (2,810,153)  (2,549,055)  (2,178,810)  (1,813,605)  (1,554,820)
NON-CONTROLLING INTERESTS 3R iEZ (137,991) (267,370) (310,546) (230,929) (238,214)
3,534,930 3,115,855 3,162,487 3,062,248 2,760,685




PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT
AND INVESTMENT PROPERTIES

Details of movements in the property, plant and equipment and
investment properties of the Group during the year are set out
in notes 14 and 15 to the financial statements, respectively.

SHARE CAPITAL AND SHARE OPTIONS

Details of movements in the Company’s share capital and share
options during the year are set out in notes 36 and 37 to the
financial statements, respectively.

PRE-EMPTIVE RIGHTS

There is no provision for pre-emptive rights under the
Company’s Bye-laws or the laws of Bermuda which would
oblige the Company to offer new shares on a pro-rata basis to
existing shareholders.

RESERVES

Details of movements in the reserves of the Company and the
Group during the year are set out in note 38(b) to the financial
statements and in the consolidated statement of changes in
equity, respectively.

DISTRIBUTABLE RESERVES

At 31 March 2013, the Company’s reserves available for
distribution, calculated in accordance with the provision
of The Bermuda Companies Act 1981, amounted to
HK$492,134,000, of which HK$404,520,000 has been
proposed as final and special dividends for the year. In addition,
the Company’s share premium account, in the amount of
HK$1,281,545,000, may be distributed in the form of fully-paid
bonus shares.

CONTINGENT LIABILITIES AND PLEDGE
OF ASSETS
Details of the Group’s contingent liabilities and pledge of assets

are set out in notes 40 and 43 to the financial statements,
respectively.
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CHARITABLE CONTRIBUTIONS

During the year, the Group made charitable contributions
totalling HK$4,094,000 (2012: HK$1,305,000).

DIRECTORS

The directors of the Company during the year and up to the
date of this report were:

Executive Directors:

Ma Kai Cheung

Ma Kai Yum

Chan Sheung Lai (appointed on 22 October 2012)
Ng Yan Kwong

Ma Hung Ming, John

Yuen Wai Man (resigned on 10 June 2013)

Independent Non-Executive Directors:
Lo Ming Chi, Charles

Lo Man Kit, Sam

Wong See King

In accordance with Bye-law 99 of the Company’s Bye-laws, Mr.
Lo Ming Chi, Charles will retire by rotation and, being eligible,
will offer himself for re-election at the forthcoming annual
general meeting.

In accordance with Bye-law 99 of the Company’s Bye-laws,
Mr. Lo Man Kit, Sam will retire by rotation and, being eligible,
will offer himself for re-election at the forthcoming annual
general meeting.

In accordance with Bye-law 102(B) of Company’s Bye-laws,
Mr. Chan Sheung Lai will retire from office, and being eligible,
will offer himself for re-election at the forthcoming annual
general meeting.

The Board has received an annual confirmation of
independence from each of the independent non-executive
Directors pursuant to Rule 3.13 of the Rules governing the
Listing of Securities on the Stock Exchange (the “Listing
Rules”). The Board considers all Independent Non-Executive
Directors to be independent.
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DIRECTORS’ SERVICE CONTRACTS

Mr. Ma Kai Cheung had entered into a service contract with the
Company. The contract has no fixed terms of engagement and
is subject to termination by either party giving three months’
notice in writing.

Mr. Chan Sheung Lai and Mr. Ng Yan Kwong had entered into
a service contract with the Company. The contract has no fixed
terms of engagement and is subject to retirement by rotation as
required by the Company’s Bye-laws and termination by either
party giving three months’ notice in writing.

Mr. Ma Kai Yum and Mr. Ma Hung Ming, John had no service
contract with the Company as at the end of the reporting
period.

The non-executive directors of the Company have been
appointed for a term subject to retirement by rotation as
required by the Company’s Bye-laws.

Apart from the foregoing, no director proposed for re-election at
the forthcoming annual general meeting has a service contract
with the Company or any of its subsidiaries which is not
terminable by the Company within one year without payment of
compensation, other than statutory compensation.

DIRECTORS’ RIGHTS TO ACQUIRE
SHARES

Save as disclosed under the section headed “Directors’
interests in the securities of the Group”, at no time during
the year was the Company or any of its subsidiaries a party
to any arrangement to enable the Company’s directors, their
respective spouse or minor children to acquire benefits by
means of the acquisition of shares in or debentures of the
Company or any other body corporate.
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DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN THE
SECURITIES OF THE GROUP

As at 31 March 2013, the interests and short positions of the
Directors and chief executives of the Company in the shares,
underlying shares and debentures of the Company or any of
its associated corporations (within the meaning of Part XV
of the Securities and Futures Ordinance (the “SFQO”)) which
(@) were required to be notified to the Company and The
Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the “Stock Exchange”)
pursuant to Divisions 7 and 8 of Part XV of the SFO (including
interests and short positions which they were taken or deemed
to have under such provisions of the SFO); or which (b) were
required pursuant to Section 352 of the SFO to be entered in
the register referred therein; or which (c) were required to be

00 A T 00 38 3 3
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notified to the Company and the Stock Exchange pursuant  Z1Z#EspEI ( HT —r Al ESITMEARR 7
to the Model Code for Securities Transactions by Directors of ~ NEtZFT 2 #Em AR T
Listed Companies (the “Model Code”) under the Listing Rules,
were as follows:
LONG POSITIONS IN SHARES W 2 5B
Underlying Percentage
Number of ordinary shares held shares of the
and nature of interest pursuant to Company’s
Personal Family Other  share options issued share
Name of director Capacity interests interests interests (note 1) Total capital
REBEREZ EALH
BELERRAYEREENE RBRGHE BRTRE
SR &% BARS EQ3 § Hit s (HizF1) At ER
Ma Kai Cheung Beneficial owner, 237,628,172 9,300,000 259,129,025 3,000,000 509,057,197 44.04
BNE interest of spouse and (note 2) (note 3)
beneﬂmary of trust GEZ) GER)
EREEN EBERR
1;: u% x ﬁIL/\
Ma Kai Yum Beneficial owner, interest 41,834,260 3,200,000 101,201,040 10,000,000 156,235,300 13.52
SN of spouse and (note 4) (notes 5 & 6)
beneﬂmary of trust GED (i 35706)
ERBEEN EBERR
1;:. D%X Jm)\
Chan Sheung Lai Beneficial owner - - - 9,000,000 9,000,000 0.78
Rt E&fBA
Ng Yan Kwong Beneficial owner 11,768,000 - - 3,500,000 16,268,000 1.32
REK ExBA
Ma Hung Ming, John Beneficial owner, 310,000 3,044,000 - 10,500,000 13,854,000 1.20
55t interest of spouse (note 7)
EafB AREBER (Fi£7)
Lo Ming Chi, Charles Beneficial owner - - - 150,000 150,000 0.01



DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN THE
SECURITIES OF THE GROUP (continued)

LONG POSITIONS IN SHARES (continued)

Notes:

M

The underlying shares represent interests of options
granted to the Directors and senior executive under the
Share Option Scheme to acquire shares of the Company,
further details of which are set out in note 37 to the
financial statements under the section headed “Share
Option Scheme”.

The shares were owned by Cheung Lin Kiu, the spouse of
Ma Kai Cheung.

Ma Kai Cheung and his family are the objects of a
discretionary trust which effectively owns the entire
issued share capital of Regent World Investments Limited
(“Regent World”) and 70% of the entire issued share
capital of Bond Well Investments Limited (“Bond Well”).
At the end of the reporting period, Regent World owned
184,121,625 shares and Bond Well owned 75,007,400
shares of the Company.

The shares were owned by Kwok Kit Mei, the spouse of
Ma Kai Yum.

Ma Kai Yum and his family are the objects of a
discretionary trust which effectively owns the entire issued
share capital of Grand Wealth Investments Limited (“Grand
Wealth”) and Peaceful World Limited (“Peaceful World”).
At the end of the reporting period, Grand Wealth owned
74,651,040 shares and Peaceful World owned 19,050,000
shares of the Company.

Peaceful World owns the entire issued share capital of
Real Potential Limited (“Real Potential”’). At the end of
the reporting period, Real Potential owned 7,500,000
shares of the Company. The interests of Real Potential in
the Company are therefore deemed to be the interests of
Peaceful World in which Ma Kai Yum is also deemed to
have interests for the reason as stated in note 5 above.

The shares were owned by Choi Ka Man, Carmen, the
spouse of Ma Hung Ming, John.
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DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN THE
SECURITIES OF THE GROUP (continued)

i N

% B3 ()

LONG POSITIONS IN SHARES (continued) W 2 A 8
Percentage of
the subsidiary’s
issued share
Name of Number of Type of capital (ordinary
Name of subsidiary director Capacity shares held shares shares)
L P
BRTRABSL
WEAREE EEpE L) RO E fR 40 Rl (EBERHD)
Carrianna Chiu Chow Ma Kai Yum Beneficiary of trust 15,000 Ordinary 1.5
Restaurant (T.S.T.) Limited
EEMANEE BN FERAXHEA LRk
(RPE)BRAA
Ginza Development Ma Kai Cheung Beneficial owner 15 Ordinary 2.5
Company Limited
EWHERBRLA ENE EmfBA LiEk
Ginza Development Ma Kai Yum Beneficiary of trust 18 Ordinary 3
Company Limited
SUEERBRATF SN EREXHEA TR
Gartrend Development Ma Kai Cheung Beneficial owner 500,000 Non-voting N/A
Limited deferred
RERRARNA ENE ERBEBA BRERE Gyih
RER
Gartrend Development Ma Kai Yum Beneficial owner 500,000 Non-voting N/A
Limited deferred
FRERBERAA BN EmBA BRER Nk
RERG
Tak Sing Alliance Limited Ma Kai Cheung Beneficial owner 9,000 Non-voting N/A
deferred
ENE EmfBA mERE Nk
Bk
Tak Sing Alliance Limited Ma Kai Yum Beneficial owner 1,000 Non-voting N/A
deferred
SN EREEA BERERE ek
BRI
BEEES (RR)EE Yuen Wai Man Beneficial owner N/A N/A 10
BRAT
REX ERBAA TEA TEH
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DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN THE
SECURITIES OF THE GROUP (continued)

EHRNAEEME SRR 20

LONG POSITIONS IN SHARES (continued) Pz 88 8
Percentage of
the subsidiary’s
issued share
Name of Number of Type of capital (ordinary
Name of subsidiary director Capacity shares held shares shares)
EHEAR
ERTRABDL
WEARERE EEnEg 5% FERGEE R 10 5 (EERMD)
HHEEFRA Yuen Wai Man Beneficial owner N/A N/A 10
BRAHE
REX ERBEA Siki: Byl
EREEREM Ma Kai Cheung Beneficial owner N/A N/A 15
BRAF
BNE ExEBA NER TER
EREEPRA Yuen Wai Man Beneficial owner N/A N/A 15
BRAA
REX ExEBA ki ik
HAEERERER Yuen Wai Man Beneficial owner N/A N/A 10
BRAA
REX ExEBA ki R
HAEERERER Ma Hung Ming, Beneficial owner N/A N/A 15
BRAR John
55 EREBA NER TEA
ﬁ%ﬂ#ﬂwa Yuen Wai Man Beneficial owner N/A N/A 20
BRA
REX ERXBEA NER TEA
HEEEHER Ma Hung Ming, Beneficial owner N/A N/A 10
BRAHE John
ESpF ExEBA TER TEA
RIEEFEERRE Yuen Wai Man Beneficial owner N/A N/A 15
BRAA
REX ExEBA TER TER
REEEFLEER Yuen Wai Man Beneficial owner N/A N/A 12
BRAA
REX ExEBA ki il
It REEPEEERE Yuen Wai Man Beneficial owner N/A N/A 25
BRAA
REX ExEBA ki iR
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DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN THE
SECURITIES OF THE GROUP (continued)

LONG POSITIONS IN SHARES (continued)

In addition to the above, Ma Kai Cheung and Ma Kai Yum have
non-beneficial personal equity interests in certain subsidiaries
held for the benefit of the Group solely for the purpose
of complying with their minimum company membership
requirements.

All the interests stated above represent long positions. Save as
disclosed above, as at 31 March 2013, none of the directors
or chief executives of the Company, nor their associates had
any interests or short positions in the shares, underlying shares
or debentures of the Company, or any associated corporations
(within the meaning of Part XV of the SFO) as recorded in the
register required to be kept under Section 352 of the SFO, or
as otherwise notified to the Company and the Stock Exchange
pursuant to the Model Code.

DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN CONTRACTS

Save as detailed in note 44 to the financial statements, no
director had a beneficial interest in any material contract to
which the Company or any of its subsidiaries was a party
during the year.

SHARE OPTION SCHEME

The Company operates a share option scheme (the “Scheme”)
for the purpose of providing incentives and rewards to eligible
participants who contribute to the success of the Group’s
operations. Eligible participants of the Scheme include the
Company’s directors, including independent non-executive
directors, other employees of the Group, any consultant,
advisor or agent engaged by or business/joint venture partners
of any member of the Group. The Scheme became effective on
10 October 2005 and, unless otherwise cancelled or amended,
will remain in force for 10 years from that date.

Particulars of the Company’s share option scheme are set out
in note 37 to the financial statements.
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SHARE OPTION SCHEME (continued)

The following share options were outstanding under the
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Scheme during the year: [l N
Number of share options
BREHE
Date of Exercise
At1 Granted  Exercised Forfeited At 31 grant of Exercise price of At grant
April during during during March share period of share date of
2012 the year the year the year 2013 options® share options options™ options
HKS HK$
per share per share
i
S —E-=%
—E--f RER RER RER =h B TRERE figid RERE
mf - R 4 AW ZT-R BRERE BB BREE" BH2AH
ShET  SRET
Executive Directors
HiEs
Mr. Ma Kai Cheung 7,000,000 - (7,000,000) - - 26-10-2005 26-10-2005 to 0.30 0.30
SNEBRE 25-10-2015
3,000,000 - - - 3000000  18-12-2006 18-12-2006 to 1.30 1.30
17-12-2016
Mr. Ma Kai Yum 7,000,000 - - - 7,000,000  26-10-2005 26-10-2005 to 0.30 0.30
SNREE 25-10-2015
3,000,000 - - - 3000000  18-12-2006 18-12-2006 to 1.30 1.30
17-12-2016
Mr. Chan Sheung Lai - 3,000,000 - - 3000000  22-10-2012 22-10-2013 10 0.824 0.824
RisiE % E 21-10-2017
- 3,000,000 - - 3000000  22-10-2012 22-10-2014 10 0.824 0.824
21-10-2017
- 3,000,000 - - 3000000  22-10-2012 22-10-2015 0 0.824 0.824
21-10-2017
Mr. Ma Hung Ming, John 7,000,000 - - - 7,000,000  26-10-2005 26-10-2005 to 0.30 0.30
)i 25-10-2015
1,000,000 - - - 1,000,000  18-12-2006 18-12-2006 to 1.30 1.30
17-12-2016
500,000 - - - 500,000 3-1-2011 3-1-2012 to 1.03 1.03
2-1-2014
- 1,000,000 - - 1,000,000 24-4-2012 31-12-2012 to 0.7 0.7
11-5-2017
- 1,000,000 - - 1,000,000 24-4-2012 31-12-2013 10 0.7 0.71
11-5-2017
Mr. Ng Yan Kwong 500,000 - - - 500,000 3-1-2011 3-1-2012 to 1.03 1.03
RESEAE 2-1-2014
- 1,500,000 - - 1,500,000 24-4-2012 31-12-2012 to 0.7 0.7
11-5-2017
- 1,500,000 - - 1,500,000 24-4-2012 31-12-2013 10 0.7 0.71
11-5-2017
29,000,000 14,000,000  (7,000,000) - 36,000,000
Independent
Non-Executive Director
BUFHTES
Mr. Lo Ming Chi, Charles 150,000 - - - 150,000  18-12-2006 18-12-2006 to 1.30 1.30
LRBREE 17-12-2016
150,000 - - - 150,000
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SHARE OPTION SCHEME (continued) B M E B B cm)

Number of share options
BREHE
Date of Exercise
At1 Granted  Exercised Forfeited At 31 grant of Exercise price of At grant
April during during during March share period of share date of
2012 the year the year the year 2013 options® share options options™ options
HKS HK$
per share per share
S
S Z%-=%
ZE-Zf RER RER RER = B fTEBERE (i3 RERE
mA-H B % %% =t-B ERERE il REER RHizAH
BRAT BRAT
Other employees
Hitfgg
150,000 - - - 150,000  18-12-2006 18-12-2006 to 1.30 1.30
17-12-2016
700,000 - - (700,000) - 24-8-2007 24-2-2008 to 2.15 2.15
23-8-2012
2,000,000 - - - 2,000,000 3-1-2011 3-1-2012 to 1.08 1.03
2-1-2014
1,000,000 - - - 1,000,000 3-1-2011 3-1-2013 to 1.03 1.08
2-1-2015
1,000,000 - - - 1,000,000 3-1-2011 3-1-2014 to 1.03 1.03
2-1-2016
1,000,000 - - - 1,000,000 3-1-2011 3-1-2015to 1.03 1.03
2-1-2017
1,000,000 - - - 1,000,000 3-1-2011 3-1-2016 to 1.03 1.08
2-1-2018
- 400,000 - - 400,000 24-4-2012 31-12-2012 10 0.7 0.7
11-6-2017
- 400,000 - - 400,000 24-4-2012 31-12-2013 to 0.71 0.71
11-5-2017
Non employee
¥ES
- 2,000,000 - - 2,000,000 15-2-2013 15-8-2013 to 0.7 0.7
11-5-2017
- 2,000,000 - - 2,000,000 15-2-2013 15-2-2014 to 0.7 0.7
11-6-2017
6,850,000 4,800,000 - (700,000) 10,950,000
36,000,000 18,800,000  (7,000,000) (700,000) 47,100,000

Notes to reconciliation of share options outstanding during the year:

PR 18 R 2 B AR 3 R 2 BT 3

*

The vesting period of the share options is from the date of the  *
grant until the commencement of the exercise period.

BRER TENOBEHSAELE BRHHE
BHETEHANESGE -

> The exercise price of the share options is subject to adjustment o
in the case of rights or bonus issues, or other similar changes

in the Company’s share capital.

BB TT R E R IR & AR SRR AT
B BN R B B AN $E (R ) BB Eh i 8 B o



SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS

As at 31 March 2013, according to the register kept by the
Company under Section 336 of the SFO and so far as was
known to the Directors, the following persons or corporations
(other than a Director or chief executive of the Company)
had an interest or short position in the shares and underlying
shares of the Company which would fall to be disclosed to the
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Company under the provisions of Divisions 2 and 3 of Part XV H#5 :
of the SFO:
LONG POSITIONS IN SHARES iz 5B
Number of Percentage of the
ordinary Company’s issued
Name of shareholder Capacity Notes shares held share capital
s BART
TERR 5% P & EEREE ERTRABIL
East Asia International Trustee a 360,330,065 31.18
Trustees Limited EFEA
Golden Yield Holdings Limited Interest in controlled b 259,129,025 22.42
corporations
RERRER
Regent World Investments Limited Holding corporation b 184,121,625 15.93
P‘E J'L/N j
Wealthy Platform Limited Interest in controlled c 101,201,040 8.76
corporations
XN EER
Bond Well Investments Limited Holding corporation b 75,007,400 6.49
T HJ‘L /'\
Grand Wealth Investments Limited Holding corporation c 74,651,040 6.46

:]; J'L/'\



Carrianna Group Holdings Company Limited
Annual Report 2013

Report of the Directors

EEGWEE

SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS (continued)
LONG POSITIONS IN SHARES (continued)

Notes:

a.

East Asia International Trustees Limited (“EAIT”) is the trustee of
a discretionary trust of which Mr. Ma Kai Cheung and his family
are the objects and through its wholly-owned subsidiary, Golden
Yield Holdings Limited (“Golden Yield”), EAIT was indirectly
interested in 259,129,025 shares of the Company. EAIT is also
the trustee of a discretionary trust of which Mr. Ma Kai Yum
and his family are the objects and through its wholly-owned
subsidiary, Wealthy Platform Limited (“Wealthy Platform”), EAIT
was indirectly interested in 101,201,040 shares in the Company.
As at the balance sheet date, EAIT was effectively interested in a
total of 360,330,065 shares of the Company.

Golden Yield owns the entire issued share capital of Regent
World and 70% of the entire issued share capital of Bond Well,
was indirectly interested in a total of 259,129,025 shares of
the Company. The total shares held by both Regent World and
Bond Well are the same block of shares as disclosed in “Other
interests” of Mr. Ma Kai Cheung under the section headed
“Directors’ Interests in the Securities of the Group” set out
above.

Wealthy Platform owns the entire issued share capital of Grand
Wealth and Peaceful World and indirect owns the entire issued
share capital of Real Potential through Peaceful World, was
indirectly interested in 101,201,040 shares of the Company.
The total shares held by Grand Wealth, Peaceful World and
Real Potential are the same block of shares as disclosed in
“Other interests” of Mr. Ma Kai Yum under the section headed
“Directors’ Interests in the Securities of the Group” set out
above.

Save as disclosed above, the directors of the Company are
not aware of any other persons who, as at 31 March 2013,
had registered an interest or short position in the shares or
underlying shares of the Company in the register that was
required to be kept under Section 336 of the SFO.
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CONTINUING DISCLOSURE
OBLIGATIONS OF THE LISTING RULES

LOAN AGREEMENT WITH COVENANTS
RELATING TO SPECIFIC PERFORMANCE
OBLIGATION OF THE CONTROLLING
SHAREHOLDERS (RULE 13.18 OF
CHAPTER 13)

The agreement for the following loan to the Group imposes
specific performance obligations on the controlling shareholders
of the Company:
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TIETAEEER 2 AR EARR ZIE
BERRARERITEEL:

Outstanding balance of Specific
banking facilities as at Final maturity of performance
31 March 2013 banking facilities obligations
HK$’000
R=-B—=5=H=+—H BTERBREIBA HEBITELE
REBRITERERE
FHET
24,787 26 July 2015 (Note)
—E-RAFEHAZ+RH (BEE)

Note:

Mr. Ma Kai Cheung, the Chairman and the controlling shareholder of
the Company, holds 44.04% shareholding interest in the Company,
and Mr. Ma Kai Yum, the managing director of the Company, holds
13.52% shareholding interest in the Company, undertakes to maintain
for a total of at least 51% of the shares of the Company.

CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS

Details of the connected transactions for the year are set out in
notes 44 and 49 to the financial statements.

Save as disclosed above, there were no other transactions
which need to be disclosed as connected transactions in
accordance with the requirements of the Listing Rules.

PURCHASE, REDEMPTION OR SALE OF
THE COMPANY’S LISTED SECURITIES

Neither the Company, nor any of its subsidiaries purchased,
redeemed or sold any of the Company’s listed securities during
the year ended 31 March 2013.
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SUFFICIENCY OF PUBLIC FLOAT

Based on information that is publicly available to the Company
and within the knowledge of the directors, as at the date of this
report, the Company has maintained sufficient public float as
required under the Listing Rules.

MAJOR CUSTOMERS AND SUPPLIERS

During the year, the Group’s sales to the five largest customers
and purchases from the five largest suppliers accounted for
less than 30% of the Group’s revenue and purchases for the
year respectively.

EMPLOYEES AND REMUNERATION
POLICY

The Group’s staff consists of approximately 100 employees in
Hong Kong and approximately 2,200 employees outside Hong
Kong. Employees are rewarded on a performance-related basis
within the general framework of the Group’s salary and bonus
system.

CODE FOR SECURITIES TRANSACTIONS
BY DIRECTORS

The Company has adopted the Model Code for Securities
Transactions by Directors of Listed Issuers (the “Model Code”)
as set out in Appendix 10 of the Listing Rules as the code for
securities transactions by Directors of the Company. Following
specific enquiry by the Company, the Directors have confirmed
that they have complied with the required standard under the
Model Code for the year ended 31 March 2013.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE

The Company is committed to maintain a high standard of
corporate governance practices. Information on the corporate
governance practices adopted by the Company is set out in
the “Corporate Governance Report” on pages 14 to 27.
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AUDIT COMMITTEE

The Audit Committee comprises three independent
non-executive directors of the Company, namely Mr. Lo Ming
Chi, Charles (Chairman), Mr. Lo Man Kit, Sam and Mr. Wong
See King.

The Audit Committee has reviewed with the management the
accounting principles and practices adopted by the Group
and discussed auditing, internal control and financial reporting
matters including the review of the financial statements for the
year ended 31 March 2013.

REMUNERATION COMMITTEE

According to the Corporate Governance Code, the Company
has established its Remuneration Committee in April 2005.
The Remuneration Committee comprises three independent
non-executive directors of the Company, namely Mr. Lo Man
Kit, Sam (Chairman), Mr. Lo Ming Chi, Charles and Mr. Wong
See King. A set of written terms of reference, which described
the authority and duties of the remuneration committee, was
adopted by the Board on 1 April 2005, amended and restated
on 26 March 2012.

The Remuneration Committee’s objectives are to establish and
maintain an appropriate and competitive level of remuneration
to attract, retain and motivate directors and key executives to
run the Company successfully. The Remuneration Committee
will ensure that the remuneration policies and systems of the
Group support the Group’s objective and strategies.

The remuneration details of directors during the year are set out
in note 8 to the financial statements.
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NOMINATION COMMITTEE

The Nomination Committee comprises one executive
director and three independent non-executive directors of
the Company, including Mr. Ma Kai Cheung (Chairman), Mr.
Lo Ming Chi, Charles, Mr. Lo Man Kit, Sam and Mr. Wong
See King.

The Nomination Committee is responsible for making
recommendation to the nomination of Directors with a view
to appointing suitable individuals with relevant expertise and
experience to enhance the constitution of the Board and to
contribute to the Board.

INDEPENDENCE OF INDEPENDENT
NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

The Board confirmed that the Company has received from
each of its independent non-executive directors an annual
confirmation of his independence pursuant to Rule 3.13 of the
Listing Rules and still considers all of the independent non-
executive directors to be independent.

LIQUIDITY AND FINANCIAL RESOURCES

As at 31 March 2013, the Group’s consolidated net
assets after deduction of non-controlling interests was
HK$3,534,930,000 (2012: HK$3,115,855,000 (as restated))
and consolidated net assets after deduction of non-controlling
interests per share was HK$3.06 (2012: HK$2.72).

The Group’s free cash and bank balances and structured
deposits was HK$561,056,000. Netting off cash deposits
pledged for borrowings, the Group’s net bank borrowings was
HK$953,745,000. Net bank borrowings less free cash and
bank balances was HK$392,689,000, representing 11% (2012:
24%) of the Group’s total equity. The Group’s borrowings are
principally on a floating rate basis.

EVENT AFTER THE REPORTING PERIOD

The event after the reporting period are set out in note 49 to the
financial statements.
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AUDITORS

Ernst & Young retire and a resolution for their reappointment as
auditors of the Company will be proposed at the forthcoming
annual general meeting.

OUTLOOK

The Group will continue to develop and grow while maintaining
its healthy financial position and solid business foundation to
create long-term shareholder value.

ON BEHALF OF THE BOARD

Dr. Ma Kai Yum
Vice Chairman

Hong Kong, 28 June 2013
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B S A% B R

Ell ERNST & YOUNG
= K

To the shareholders of
Carrianna Group Holdings Company Limited

(formerly known as Tak Sing Alliance Holdings Limited)
(Incorporated in Bermuda with limited liability)

We have audited the consolidated financial statements of
Carrianna Group Holdings Company Limited (formerly known
as Tak Sing Alliance Holdings Limited) (the “Company”) and
its subsidiaries (together, the “Group”) set out on pages
58 to 212, which comprise the consolidated and company
statements of financial position as at 31 March 2013, and the
consolidated income statement, the consolidated statement of
comprehensive income, the consolidated statement of changes
in equity and the consolidated statement of cash flows for the
year then ended, and a summary of significant accounting
policies and other explanatory information.

DIRECTORS’ RESPONSIBILITY FOR THE
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The directors of the Company are responsible for the
preparation of consolidated financial statements that give a
true and fair view in accordance with Hong Kong Financial
Reporting Standards issued by the Hong Kong Institute of
Certified Public Accountants and the disclosure requirements
of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance, and for such internal
control as the directors determine is necessary to enable the
preparation of consolidated financial statements that are free
from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

AUDITORS’ RESPONSIBILITY

Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these
consolidated financial statements based on our audit. Our
report is made solely to you, as a body, in accordance with
Section 90 of the Bermuda Companies Act 1981, and for
no other purpose. We do not assume responsibility towards
or accept liability to any other person for the contents of this
report.
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AUDITORS’ RESPONSIBILITY (Continued)

We conducted our audit in accordance with Hong Kong
Standards on Auditing issued by the Hong Kong Institute of
Certified Public Accountants. Those standards require that
we comply with ethical requirements and plan and perform
the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether
the consolidated financial statements are free from material
misstatement.

An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit
evidence about the amounts and disclosures in the
consolidated financial statements. The procedures selected
depend on the auditors’ judgement, including the assessment
of the risks of material misstatement of the consolidated
financial statements, whether due to fraud or error. In making
those risk assessments, the auditors consider internal control
relevant to the entity’s preparation of consolidated financial
statements that give a true and fair view in order to design
audit procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances,
but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the
effectiveness of the entity’s internal control. An audit also
includes evaluating the appropriateness of accounting policies
used and the reasonableness of accounting estimates made by
the directors, as well as evaluating the overall presentation of
the consolidated financial statements.

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is
sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our audit
opinion.

OPINION

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements give a
true and fair view of the state of affairs of the Company and of
the Group as at 31 March 2013, and of the Group’s profit and
cash flows for the year then ended in accordance with Hong
Kong Financial Reporting Standards and have been properly
prepared in accordance with the disclosure requirements of the
Hong Kong Companies Ordinance.

Ernst & Young

Certified Public Accountants
22/F, CITIC Tower

1 Tim Mei Avenue

Central, Hong Kong

28 June 2013
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Year ended 31 March 2013 #E_-—F—=#F=H=+—HI FE

2013 2012
—E—-=fF —E—_F
Notes HK$’000 HK$’000
B 5T FHET FET
(Restated)
(&%)
REVENUE WA 5 748,479 1,172,769
Cost of sales §H 5 A AR (401,851) (697,751)
Gross profit E A 346,628 475,018
Other income and gains, net HA R e - 58 230,323 122,389
Selling and distribution expenses HERDIHMAE (165,277) (177,813)
Administrative expenses THHAX (137,426) (121,688)
Other expenses, net HEMFAX  JF88 (7,648) (21,801)
Finance costs B 75 A AR 7 (47,305) (42,626)
Share of profits and losses of DAEEE R N B m A & B 1R
associates (5,420) (1,087)
PROFIT BEFORE TAX R Al % A 6 213,875 232,392
Income tax expense FriS Az 10 (46,296) (75,600)
PROFIT FOR THE YEAR REEREF 167,579 156,792
Attributable to: FEAL -
Owners of the parent REHEA A 11 153,427 113,633
Non-controlling interests FEFERR B o 14,152 43,159
167,579 156,792
HK cents HK cents
AL Rl
(Restated)
(&%)
EARNINGS PER SHARE BAREERE
ATTRIBUTABLE TO BB AEWL
ORDINARY EQUITY HOLDERS #RZER
OF THE PARENT 13
Basic R 13.35 9.93
Diluted e 12.63 9.81

Details of the dividends proposed for the year are disclosed in

note 12 to the financial statements.
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Year ended 31 March 2013 #Z_-F—=

FZA=+—HILFE

2013 2012
—E-=F T4
Note HK$’000 HK$’000
Bt 5 FERT FHET
(Restated)
(&%)
PROFIT FOR THE YEAR REERGER 167,579 156,792
OTHER COMPREHENSIVE HibZEBA
INCOME/(LOSS) (E18)
Available-for-sale investments: AHHERE:
Changes in fair value NEEEE 260,951 (186,683)
Reclassification adjustment REFTAGERERZ
for gain included in the & W= 2
consolidated income statement EOERAE
on disposal 6 (38,389) =
222,562 (186,683)
Exchange differences on translation & GINERE 2 IE K =58
of foreign operations 10,601 54,519
OTHER COMPREHENSIVE REFEEHA
INCOME/(LOSS) 2EBA S (EE) -
FOR THE YEAR, NET OF TAX 28 233,163 (132,164)
TOTAL COMPREHENSIVE AFEERXHEBAERE
INCOME FOR THE YEAR 400,742 24,628
Attributable to: THIA LTS
Owners of the parent ISTNSIEZ PPN 385,478 (24,764)
Non-controlling interests JEIE R R = 15,264 49,392
400,742 24,628
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b 6 R &

31 March 2013 —F—=#=H=+—H

31 March 31 March 1 April
2013 2012 2011
ZB-Zf | T _"T——F
=ZB=+-H |=ZA=+—H mA—H
Notes HK$’000 HK$'000 HK$’'000
By zE THERx FTET FTAT
(Restated) (Restated)
(&75) (E75)
NON-CURRENT ASSETS FRBEE
Property, plant and equipment ER ST 14 479,916 485,798 468,636
Investment properties REME 15 1,501,351 1,446,897 1,346,196
Prepaid land lease payment TR T3 & 5RI8 16 13,051 13,372 13,306
Gooduwil kS 17 40,111 40,111 40,111
Other intangible assets ﬁ B EE 18 399,732 399,732 399,732
Investment in a jointly-controlled entity R FLREHIELE 7K E 20 - - -
Interests in associates NG AYNEIA 21 253,323 256,527 217,214
Available-for-sale investments AfHERE 22 180,657 933,415 1,120,098
Financial assets at fair value BATEYR RN ERT
through profit or loss REZEREE 23 15,313 8,918 497
Properties under development BRAYE 25 964,595 991,084 950,004
Structured deposit REMEX 24 12,250 - —
Pledged time deposits BB TEHER 28 29,661 23,771 18,524
Deposit paid for purchase of land BEIHENTES 890 = =
Total non-current assets FRBEERE 3,890,850 4,599,625 4,574,368
CURRENT ASSETS RBEE
Properties under development BREPME 25 604,216 360,888 209,926
Properties held for sale RIELEME 350,327 385,163 355,693
Inventories RE 26 47,132 51,579 49,179
Debtors, deposits and prepayments  JEMERF - HEREBEARE 27 208,677 198,396 152,497
Due from a director Elh—%EE - - 652
Due from non-controlling shareholders & Y F 422 B fi% 3 - = 67,234
Financial asset at fair value BERAFEINERAEZET
through profit or loss BEZEMEE 23 - 493 =
Derivative financial instrument eI A 33 32,477 = =
Other receivable HAbFEU R - = 11,626
Structured deposits EREMEGER 24 69,393 = =
Restricted cash BERHIRE 28 13,013 17,170 7,018
Pledged time deposits [RE:i Il R 28 13,865 13,766 2,044
Cash and cash equivalents ReKkReEEEBE 28 479,413 305,200 221,606
1,818,513 1,332,655 1,077,475
Available-for-sale investments SIRFHELEZ
classified as held for sale A ERE 22 773,711 = =
Total current assets mEEERE 2,592,224 1,332,655 1,077,475
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31 March 2018 —E—=#F=H=+—H
31 March 31 March 1 April
2013 2012 2011
—E-=F -5 —T——F
=A=t—-RH |=ZA=+—H MA—H
Notes HK$’000 HK$'000 HK$'000
B e TR TAT TAT
(Restated) (Restated)
(&51) (551)
CURRENT LIABILITIES REEE
Trade creditors B SRR 29 (108,064) (130,612) (75,207)
Sundry creditors, accruals and HMEMERE B ER K
deposits received BElEs (723,072 (361,226) (319,351)
Due to directors ERNES 44(c) (5,986) (1,351) (2,362)
Due to non-controlling shareholders & f JF 22 AR A% 3R 44(c) (5,833) (13,005) (11,566)
Interest-bearing bank and MEZRITREMEE
other borrowings 30 (695,343) (561,659) (541,080)
Finance lease payables ENREREE 31 (740) = =
Derivative financial instrument THEERTIE 33 (3,046) = -
Deferred income EREWA 34 (527) (11,274) (14,203)
Convertble notes THRRER 35 (69,392) = =
Tax payable FER IR (164,275) (139,560) (91,423)
Total current liabilities ik IN=Y L (1,776,278) (1,218,687) (1,055,192)
NET CURRENT ASSETS REBEERE 815,946 113,968 22,283
TOTAL ASSETS LESS EERERRDER
CURRENT LIABILITIES 4,706,796 4,713,593 4,596,651
NON-CURRENT LIABILITIES FRBER
Due to directors BRNES 44(c) (22,492) (30,700) (37,522)
Due to non-controlling shareholders & f JF 22 AR A% 3R 44(c) (47,083) (48,711) (49,126)
Interest-bearing bank and fEZBRITREMEE
other borrowings 30 (301,928) (602,229) (369,424)
Finance lease payables ERRERE 31 (1,383) = =
Derivative financial instrument TESBMTEA 33 (4,224) (8,418) (669)
Deferred income EEMA 34 (211,457) (209,554) (252,661)
Deposits received BilEe (8,227) (6,827) (5,884)
Deferred tax EIEHE 32 (437,081) (423,929) (408,332)
Total non-current liabilities FnBEELEE (1,033,875) (1,330,368) (1,123,618)
Net assets BEFE 3,672,921 3,383,225 3,478,033
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31 March 31 March 1 April
2013 2012 2011
—E-=F ZE-CF —E——F
=A=+-H |[ZA=+—H MA—H
Notes HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000
B e TR TAT FTAT
(Restated) (Restated)
(E7)) (E75)
EQUITY A
Equity attributable to BRAHEA AELER
owners of the parent
Issued capital B#ITRA 36 115,577 114,442 114,412
Reserves B 38(a) 3,014,833 2,955,636 3,025,193
Proposed final and special dividends & K8 R I & 12 404,520 45,777 22,882
3,534,930 3,115,855 3,162,487
Non-controlling interests LR 137,991 267,370 310,546
Total equity EmaE 3,672,921 3,383,225 3,473,033
Ma Kai Yum Ng Yan Kwong
BN REBHK
Director Director
EFE EE
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Year ended 31 March 2013 #Z=—F—=#F=H=+—HIFZF

Attributable to owners of the parent

BRAERAEE
Leasehold Avaiable-
land and for-sale
Share  building Share Exchange Capital investment Proposed Non-
Issued  premium  revaluation option  Goodwil ~ equaisaon redemption  Reserve  revaluation Captdl  Retained final controling Total
captal  account  reseve reseve  resene reserve reserve funds reseve  resene profits  dividend Total interests equity
BETH A E
kB RET R E5 o REEf i R

BRARE  ERE EfER  ERR PERRE TOER RERE  BR R ATBE REEN  AHRE &3t BE EREE
Notes  HK$000  HKS000 HKS000  HKS0OO  HKS000  HKS000  HKS000  HKS000  HKS000  HKS000  HK$000  HKS000  HKS000  HK$000  HK§'000
Wi FEn  TEn  TEn  TEr  TEr TEr TR TER  FTEx  TEx  TEr TR TEr  TEr TER

At 1 Aprl 2011 RZF--%

mA-R
As previously reported mERZR 14412 1275015 56060 6761 (86,230 104767 316 581 (87,3%9) 161 1704640 22882 3161975 310546 347251
Prior year adjustments BEEERE 22 - - - - - - - - - - 512 - 52 - 512
As restated ] 4412 1275015 56060 6761 (36200) 104767 316 581 (37,399 161 1705161 22882 3162487 310546 3473033

Proft for the year (as restated) A% E R

(Z71) = = = - - - - - - - 113638 - 113633 43159 156792
Other comprehensive income/ AEFE 2
(loss) for the year: WA/ (E8):
Changes in fair value: AiHERE
of avalable-for-sale ZATE
investments 28 = = = = = = = - (186,683 - - - (186,683 - (186,683
Bxchange differences on ~ HEE5ER
translation of foreign JERER
operations - - - - - 48286 - - - - - - 48286 6,233 54519
Total comprehensive income/ A& 42
(oss) for the year WA/ (B8) - - - - - 4828 - - (186689 - 113638 - TRy 49392 2468
Reversal of contribution FERRE
from non-controling AARE
shareholders - - - - - - - - - - - - - (5583) (65830
Divicends paid to non- FERRRES
controling shareholders - - - - - - - - - - - - - (T4 (3749

Loss on deemed acquision 43 {E & —FE
of interestinasuosidiary ~ MBAFER

5B - B - . B - - - - ) . - ) 7 .
Issue of shares pon exercise {TEEMRIEZ
of share options RiAET 3600) 30 % - (R3] - - - - - - - - 0 - 90
Equiy-settled share option ~ DAEE&E 2
amangements BRELTH - - - 168 - = = = = = = - 168 - 168
Final 2011 dividend declred  ER=F——%
RERE = = = = = = = = = = - (288 (228 - (28
Proposed final 2012 dvidend =% ——%
REkE 12 - - - - - - - - - - s - - -
At 31 March 2012 RZF-2%

=A=1-B 114442 1275108 56,060 8413 (86200 153,083 316

<

81 (224,082) (600) 1773017 45777 3115856 267370 338322
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Year ended 31 March 2013 B Z2=F—=F=HA=+—HIFE

Attributable to owners of the parent

SRAEE AR
Leasehold Available-
land and for-sale
Share  building Share Exchange  Capital investment Non-
Issued  premium revaluation option  Goodwill equalisation redemption  Reserve revaluation ~ Capital ~Retained Proposed controlling Total
capital account  reserve  reserve  reserve  reserve  reserve funds  reserve  reserve profits  dividends Total interests equity
AELH THLE
Rt RET #R EX &x REEf FER
BRRA  BEE EfEE  BRE BEEE TORE WORE  BRe BF EXRE REEN B3RS &t BE BEAE
Notes | HK$000 HK$000 HK$000 HK$000 HKS000 HK$'000 HKS'000 HKS$'000 HKS000 HKS000 HKS'000 HKS000 HK$'000 HK$'000  HK$'000
i3 Térn Thr TEn  TEx  TER TEn TEx  TER  TEn TEx  TER  TEr  TEn  TER  FER
At 1 Apri 2012 RIB-Z%
MA-B
As previously reported nEsZH 114,442 1,275,108 56,060 8413 (86,230) 153,053 316 581 (224,082) (600) 1,771,977 45777 3114815 267,370 3,382,185
Prior year adjustments BEEERE 2 - - - - - - - - - - 1,040 - 1,040 - 1,040
As restated &l 114,442 1,275,108 56,060 8413 (86,230) 153,053 316 581 (224,082) (600) 1,773,017 45,777 3115855 267,370 3,383,225
Profit for the year REERA - - - - - - - - - - 153421 - 153421 14152 167,579
Other comprehensive income  AFE £t 2
for the year: WA
Change in fair value AERE
of available-forsale P
investments 29 - - - - - - - - 222562 - - - 222,562 - 202562
Exchange differences o~ EEINER
translaton of foreign ZEREE
operations - - - - - 9,489 - - - - - - 9,489 1,112 10,601
Total comprehensive income AN £2
for the year WA - - - - - 9,489 - - 222562 - 153421 - 385478 15,264 400,742
Deemed acquiston of interest 4% fEUEE — 74
n a subsidiary HEAFER - - - - - - - - - 19967 - - 19067 (19.967) -
Acquisition of non-controling - SRR
interests - - - - - - - - - 47,057 - - 47,057 (74,637)  (27,580)
Dividends paid to non- EfFEERREZ
controling shareholders &8 - - - - - - - - - - - - - (50,039)  (50,039)
Transfer to retained profis ~ RETRIEE R
upon expiy of share BEZREEN
options - - - (472) - - - - - - 412 - - - -
Issue of shares upon exercise 1T 2R 12
of share options k% 3600) 0 2170 - (170) - - - - - - - - 2,100 - 2,100
Equity-settled share option ~ AEREE 2
amangements BEREZH - - - 5,828 - - - - - - - - 5828 . 5808
Conversion of convertble B ATARZE
notes 36(c) 435 4,267 - - - - - - - - - - 4,702 - 4,702
Final 2012 dividend dedlared  ER=F-—%
RERE 12 - - - - - - - - - - (280)  (@5777)  (46,057) - (46057)
Proposed final 2013 dvidend = F-=%
RERE 12 - - - - - - - - - - (G189 57,789 - - -
Proposed special 2013 Bz
dividend Kike 12 - - - - - - - - - - (346,731) 346,731 - - -
At 31 March 2013
115,577 1,281545*  56,060*  12,999* (86,230  162,542* 316* 581t (1,520 66424 1,522,116 404520 3534930 137,991 3,672,921

the consolidated statement of financial position.

These reserve accounts comprise the consolidated reserves of
HK$3,014,833,000 (2012: HK$2,955,636,000 (as restated)) in

4

ey

RAEMBRAR ZEAREIA-

It %5 % 4% BR3,014,833,0008 T (Z & — =

F :2,955,636,000/8 T (L&) )EBIEE
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Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows
HABleRER

Year ended 31 March 2013 #Z2=-F—=#F=H=+—HIFF

2013 2012
—E—-=F —T——4F
Notes HK$’000 HK$’000
Bt 5 FET FHT
NET CASH FLOWS FROM RELEEKN
OPERATING ACTIVITIES HEREFHE 39 240,691 16,110
CASH FLOWS FROM INVESTING &R &&EE =
ACTIVITIES RERE
Bank interest received B BER1TH B 1,516 2,683
Interest received from £ U L A FE WK
an other receivable B - 137
Realised fair value loss on PTESMITAY
derivative financial instruments E#R A TEEE
— transactions not qualifying as —PEBERA
hedges R (3,104) (3,336)
Dividend received from Bl EERE
available-for-sale investments % B 66,672 22,224
Proceeds from redemption of FE 2] — I8 H i B R Y
an other receivable SIESE - 11,626
Purchases of items of property, BAYE HEX
plant and equipment RiEIE B (26,585) (43,097)
Proceeds from disposal of HEME BEKR
items of property, plant and HEIEB TS
equipment KB 131 535
Proceeds from disposal of HEAHEHERE
available-for-sale investments FT18 508 239,998 =
Purchase of investment BAKREME
properties - (947)
Proceeds from disposal of an HEREMEZ
investment property Fr{S 3K 18 26,000 =
Proceeds from disposal of HEERAFETIEREER
financial assets at fair value BafRE s
through profit or loss EREESHRIE 4,341 =
Purchase of financial assets BARATESRER
at fair value through BEafEE e
profit or loss BE (10,903) (8,940)
Repayment from a director —(IEEFEX - 652
Increase in pledged time deposits B E B TF 5K 2 18 0 (5,890) (5,247)
Decrease/(increase) in restricted BERFIRE 2R,
cash (#hn) 4,273 (9,784)
Decrease in time deposits with REHEBBE=@AE
original maturity of more than BT RZ R
three months - 6,356
Investment in structured deposits EBUETRZKE (80,244) -
Increase in advances to EYNEIE- 5 vl
associates, net 0 HEE (1,218) (35,036)
Net cash flows from/(used in) BEEBMRF (FA)
investing activities ZEeREFE 214,987 (62,174)
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Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows
GAREHER

Year ended 31 March 2013 #E_-—F—=#F=H=+—HI FE

2013 2012
—EB-=F —ET—F
Notes HK$’000 HK$’000
B 5T FET FET
CASH FLOWS FROM FINANCING BMEETH 2
ACTIVITIES HERE
Proceeds from issue of shares TEEREZEITRMD
upon exercise of share options Fr155K38 2,100 90
Proceeds from issue of BITABBRRER L
. Fris 78
convertible notes 80,000 -
New bank loans FTILIRITE R 544,103 646,771
New other loans i E M E R - 91,050
Repayment of bank loans ERIETER (713,999) (452,570)
Repayment of other loans EEEMER - (45,282)
Acquisition of non-controlling  UxB&EFEEALHE RS
interests (27,580) -
Capital element of finance lease BEMROBE SR
rental payments BAREH (589) =
Dividends paid BT S (46,057) (22,882)
Dividends paid to non-controlling BT IR AR R AR B
shareholders (50,039) (87,493)
Changes in balances with FEIZERRRRTBEE -
non-controlling shareholders, FEE
net (8,900) 14,323
Interest paid =ERE/ESS (61,922) (53,180)
Net cash flows from/(used in) BMEEBME (FTA)
financing activities ZHEREFE (282,883) 140,827
NET INCREASE IN CASH AND ReRBEEEE
CASH EQUIVALENTS HEEM FEE 172,795 94,763
Cash and cash equivalents FUzRER
at beginning of year ReEEER 318,966 217,244
Effect of foreign exchange rate EXEHNTE -
changes, net R 1,517 6,959
CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS FRCZEAER
AT END OF YEAR RE&%EHEA 493,278 318,966
ANALYSIS OF BALANCES OF BHERBEEE
CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS HE &R DN
Cash and cash equivalents as AR ERARNZES 2
stated in the statement of RekfeEEEE
financial position 28 479,413 305,200
Time deposits with original maturity 4 & R 2| HA B >
of less than three months when = 1@ A K 7
acquired, pledged as security ER—ARIRTT
for general banking facilities and SEREHRITERZ
short term bank loans TEHAF X 28 13,865 13,766
Cash and cash equivalents HEBEERERNEYZ
as stated in the consolidated Hek
statement of cash flows HeEBEEE 493,278 318,966
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Statement of Financial Position

Bt % ik 0L 2%

31 March 2013 —F—=#=H=+—H

2013 2012
—E—-=F —E—_F
Notes HK$’000 HK$’000
MIaE FExT FAET

NON-CURRENT ASSETS FRBEE
Interests in subsidiaries =N £ 19 1,548,191 1,627,282
CURRENT ASSETS REBEE
Other receivables and deposits HEap R R RiRE 99 99
Due from associates JiE Lk B N B BR 3R 3,925 3,925
Dividend receivable JiE W B 450,000 =
Cash and cash equivalents ReMAeEEIEAE 28 677 109
Total current assets REEELE 454,701 4,133
CURRENT LIABILITIES RBaE
Sundry creditors and accruals Hib e R R ezt & A (2,853) (1,528)
Convertible notes GIE:Y €2 35 (69,392) =
Due to directors ERES 44(c) (12,363) (5,712)
Total current liabilities nBaEeE (84,608) (7,240)
NET CURRENT RBEE(AH)

ASSETS/(LIABILITIES) SEE 370,093 (3,107)
TOTAL ASSETS LESS EEAERRBAE

CURRENT LIABILITIES 1,918,284 1,524,175
NON-CURRENT LIABILITY FRBERE
Due to a director ERN—UES 44(c) (15,713) (17,578)
Net assets BEEFE 1,902,571 1,506,597
EQUITY e
Issued capital BEITRA 36 115,577 114,442
Reserves s 38(b) 1,382,474 1,346,378
Proposed final and special BRI RERIRE

dividends 12 404,520 45,777
Total equity HEmARE 1,902,571 1,506,597

Ma Kai Yum
B
Director

EF

Ng Yan Kwong

Director

EZE
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CORPORATE INFORMATION 1. A6l &H
Carrianna Group Holdings Company Limited (formerly EEPFEEERBER 2T (BT BTak
known as Tak Sing Alliance Holdings Limited) (the Sing Alliance Holdings Limited ) ([Z4x2A
“Company”) is a limited liability company incorporated in Al R—HREBREAMKLZER
Bermuda. The registered office of the Company is located Ao AN a) i 9 = B i i Canon’s
at Canon’s Court, 22 Victoria Street, Hamilton HM12, Court, 22 Victoria Street, Hamilton
Bermuda. HM12, Bermuda °
During the year, the Company and its subsidiaries ERN-ARNEIRERBAT (558 [A&e
(collectively referred to as the “Group”) were principally BT EEKARELER MEKLKE
engaged in investment holding, property investment and KR GKEHE  EENBRETR -
development, and the operations of hotel, restaurant and
food businesses.

2.1 BASIS OF PREPARATION 2.1 HWHEE

These financial statements have been prepared in
accordance with Hong Kong Financial Reporting
Standards (“HKFRSs”) (which include all Hong Kong
Financial Reporting Standards, Hong Kong Accounting
Standards (“HKASs”) and Interpretations) issued by the
Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants
(“HKICPA”), accounting principles generally accepted in
Hong Kong and the disclosure requirements of the Hong
Kong Companies Ordinance. They have been prepared
under the historical cost convention, except for certain
leasehold land and buildings, investment properties,
derivative financial instruments, and certain financial
assets, which have been measured at fair value. These
financial statements are presented in Hong Kong dollars
and all values are rounded to the nearest thousand except
when otherwise indicated.

ZEMBBRRDZBELEGANRE
(BB SRS ]) Bz BEEMBER
SEA(TFEMBRSER]) (B
EIBEREMBREEL BEGE
Al(TEEEEA) hEE) BEE
BRAZ G5 RAMEE R RED 2
BRE YRAEERAZEZRE (AR
FEAEBZETHELHEET RE
ME - TEERIARETEREER
5N) o 2 FEMFRKRTIABITZES > MR
HAEFHHAIN IBEBECHBERELD
ZTEf-



2.1 BASIS OF PREPARATION (Continued)

The consolidated financial statements include the
financial statements of the Group for the year ended 31
March 2013. The financial statements of the subsidiaries
are prepared for the same reporting period as the
Company, using consistent accounting policies. The
results of subsidiaries are consolidated from the date of
acquisition, being the date on which the Group obtains
control, and continue to be consolidated until the date
that such control ceases. All intra-group balances,
transactions, unrealised gains and losses resulting from
intra-group transactions and dividends are eliminated on
consolidation in full.

Total comprehensive income within a subsidiary is
attributed to the non-controlling interest even if it results in
a deficit balance.

A change in the ownership interest of a subsidiary,
without a loss of control, is accounted for as an equity
transaction.

If the Group loses control over a subsidiary, it
derecognises (i) the assets (including goodwill) and
liabilities of the subsidiary, (i) the carrying amount of any
non-controlling interest and (jii) the cumulative translation
differences recorded in equity; and recognises (i) the fair
value of the consideration received, (i) the fair value of
any investment retained and (jii) any resulting surplus or
deficit in profit or loss. The Group’s share of components
previously recognised in other comprehensive income
is reclassified to profit or loss or retained profits, as
appropriate.
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2.1 BASIS OF PREPARATION (Continued) 2.1 %4 W E (m)

OPERATING CYCLE

The operating cycle of the Group for the property
investment and development business is the time
between the acquisition of assets for processing and
their realisation in cash or cash equivalents. Due to the
nature of such business, the normal operating cycle
is longer than 12 months. The Group’s current assets
include assets (such as properties under development
and properties held for sale) which are sold, consumed
or realised as part of the normal operating cycle for the
property investment and development business even
when they are not expected to be realised within 12
months after the end of the reporting period.

2.2 CHANGES IN ACCOUNTING POLICY

AND DISCLOSURES

The Group has adopted the following revised HKFRSs for

the first time for the current year’s financial statements.

HKFRS 1 Amendments Amendments to HKFRS 1 First-time
Adoption of Hong Kong Financial
Reporting Standards - Severe
Hyperinfiation and Removal of Fixed
Dates for First-time Adopters

HKFRS 7 Amendments Amendments to HKFRS 7 Financial
Instruments: Disclosures — Transfers
of Financial Assets

HKAS 12 Amendments Amendments to HKAS 12 /ncome

Taxes - Deferred Tax: Recovery of
Underlying Assets

Other than as further explained below regarding the
impact of amendments to HKAS 12, the adoption of the
revised HKFRSs has had no significant financial effect on
the financial statements.

=E 3R
AEENYMERERBREBEXBY
=S EEIEERE /R EHREF
EBYRIEREREHE - RIBHLEFEE -
HEXBRHABEAM2EA -NEEY
ERENEREBNRDEERRE—
BEEFEXBHALE HREXEZR
MEE (PIMNBERTFVERFIELEY
%) NEBRPZEFEENS LRSS
Rig12fE A W& -

FABREBEZED

AEBRAFEBERRANEREAT
FIRIERT 2 BB S E£ER -

BENMBRE BAMBREERFREL
ERIE 15 RAEEBHEER -

(3]) BEZ BRI E NFA
FRHEE AH BT
BENBRE BAMBREEMNERZA
ERFT5 TA RE-BELH
(5T) BEZER
BAGRER  BAG RS 12RIZH -
F125% EEHE:
(7T) WEIEEEE 2 R

BRI CE— PR E BB A G LR
125 2 BRI BN RNZERETE
BB RE LG AR EHRRLES A
MBRE-



2.2 CHANGES IN ACCOUNTING POLICY

AND DISCLOSURES (Continued)

The HKAS 12 Amendments clarify the determination
of deferred tax for investment property measured at
fair value and introduce a rebuttable presumption that
deferred tax on investment property measured at fair
value should be determined on the basis that its carrying
amount will be recovered through sale. Furthermore, the
amendments incorporate the requirement previously in
HK(SIC)-Int 21 /ncome Taxes — Recovery of Revalued
Non-Depreciable Assets that deferred tax on non-
depreciable assets, measured using the revaluation
model in HKAS 16, should always be measured on a
sale basis. Prior to the adoption of the amendments,
deferred tax with respect to the Group’s investment
properties was provided on the basis that the carrying
amount will be recovered through use, and accordingly
the profits tax rate had been applied to the calculation
of deferred tax arising on the revaluation of the Group’s
investment properties. Upon the adoption of HKAS 12
Amendments, deferred tax in respect of the Group’s
investment properties is provided on the presumption that
the carrying amount will be recovered through sale. The
effects of the above change are summarised below:
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2.2 CHANGES IN ACCOUNTING POLICY
AND DISCLOSURES (Continued)

22 BETH R R EZEH @)

2013 2012
—E-=5 —E——4F
HK$’000 HK$’000
FExT FET
Consolidated income statement BEr=A=+—HIFEZ
for the year ended 31 March AraWas &
Decrease in income tax expense Fr 15 %5 B SR 2> 1,106 528
Increase in profit for the year 12 s A 38 0 1,106 528
Increase in basic earnings AR A2 3 A0
per share (HK cents) (L) 0.10 0.05
Increase in diluted earnings (stive Sevablb il
per share (HK cents) (L) 0.09 0.05
Consolidated statement of R=EA=+—Hz
financial position at 31 March AE B AEE
Decrease in deferred tax liabilities and & ETH 18 & & &
total non-current liabilities ERB B ERTE R 2,146 1,040
Increase in net assets and reserves & H(E N L N 2,146 1,040
2011
—EF——F
HK$'000
FET
Consolidated statement of RgH—Hz
financial position at 1 April AR A B &
Decrease in deferred tax liabilities and #E ZE i 28 & (& &
total non-current liabilities ERB B ERRE R 512
Increase in net assets and reserves & & FE N FEE G N 512




2.3 ISSUED BUT NOT YET EFFECTIVE
HONG KONG FINANCIAL
REPORTING STANDARDS
The Group has not applied the following new and revised

HKFRSs, that have been issued but are not yet effective,
in these financial statements.

HKFRS 1 Amendments

HKFRS 7 Amendments

HKFRS 9

HKFRS 10

HKFRS 11

HKFRS 12

HKFRS 10, HKFRS

11 and HKFRS 12
Amendments

HKFRS 10, HKFRS 12
and HKAS 27 (2011)
Amendments

HKFRS 13

Amendments to HKFRS 1 First-
time Adoption of Hong Kong
Financial Reporting Stanaards —
Government Loans?

Amendments to HKFRS 7 Financial
Instruments: Disclosures —
Offsetting Financial Assets and
Financial Liabilities?

Financial Instruments*

Consolidated Financial Statements?
Joint Arrangements?

Disclosure of Interests in Other
Entities?

Amendments to HKFRS 10,
HKFRS 11 and HKFRS 12 -
Transition Guidance?

Amendments to HKFRS 10,
HKFRS 12 and HKAS 27 (2011)
- Investment Entities®

Fair Value Measurement?

e AR A T 2 JRC A PR
20134

Notes to Financial Statements
W ok Ik

31 March 2013 —F—=#=H=+—H

23 MMM RAERZEE MY

o i i 4

REBI RN ZEWBHRERARA TS
ERME R RER 2GR EIERT 2 &

P B T R A 2E R o

BENBHMEE BEMBHREENEIR

AIZE15% BN B B HE

(f&3T) EH - BTE 2 1ER]?

BENBHMEE BEMBREENETR

A7 EHITR RE-ZH

(&3T) EEAHTHEEL
EHE

BAENBRELE 2HTA

8115595

BEMBRERE HLARUBHEL

I 25108

BENBRELE AELH

AIZE115R

BERBREE AMERIEnFE

1| 25125%

AEMBHRE  BANBEREENEI05

A RIZE105% - BEANBREEASE1

BAMBHRE  SREBHBEHREER

RRIENMHR  B12R—BEM

BAENBWMSE /55 2B

LR ZE125%

(&7T)

BERMBREE BEUBREENE10%

AIZE10%; - BEMBERELRAE12

BAEMBHRSE SREBGH

FAE12H R BRIE27HR (ZF——

BAGHER  F)-REFLZBI

F27%

(ZF——%)

(&7T)

BERBREER A FEHE

1358



Carrianna Group Holdings Company Limited
Annual Report 2013

Notes to Financial Statements

Bt B 4 % W Ak

31 March 2013 —F—=#=H=+—H

2.3 ISSUED BUT NOTYET EFFECTIVE
HONG KONG FINANCIAL
REPORTING STANDARDS (Continued)

HKAS 1 Amendments

HKAS 19 (2011)

HKAS 27 (2011)

HKAS 28 (2011)

HKAS 32 Amendments

HKAS 36 Amendments

HK(FRIC)-Int 20

HK(FRIC)-Int 21

Annual Improvements
2009-2011 Cycle

Amendments to HKAS 1
Presentation of Financial
Statements — Presentation of
Iltems of Other Comprehensive
Income’

Employee Benefits?

Separate Financial Statements?

Investments in Associates and
Joint Ventures?

Amendments to HKAS 32 Financial
Instruments: Presentation —
Offsetting Financial Assets and
Financial Liabilities®

Amendments to HKAS 36
Impairment of Assets
— Recoverable Amount
Disclosures for Non-Financial
Assets®

Stripping Costs in the Production
Phase of a Surface Mine?

Levies®

Amendments to a number of
HKFRSs issued in June 20122

L Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 July

2012

2 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after

1 January 2013

€ Effective for annual periods beginning on or after

1 January 2014

4 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after

1 January 2015

2.3 EAA ffi fH 15 oK A R & i

Bk 4 B om)
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2.3 ISSUED BUT NOT YET EFFECTIVE

HONG KONG FINANCIAL
REPORTING STANDARDS (Continued)

Further information about those HKFRSs that are
expected to be applicable to the Group is as follows:

The HKFRS 7 Amendments require an entity to
disclose information about rights to set-off and related
arrangements (e.g., collateral agreements). The
disclosures would provide users with information that is
useful in evaluating the effect of netting arrangements
on an entity’s financial position. The new disclosures are
required for all recognised financial instruments that are
set off in accordance with HKAS 32 Financial Instruments:
Presentation. The disclosures also apply to recognised
financial instruments that are subject to an enforceable
master netting arrangement or similar agreement,
irrespective of whether they are set off in accordance with
HKAS 32. The Group expects to adopt the amendments
from 1 April 2013.

HKFRS 9 issued in November 2009 is the first part of
phase 1 of a comprehensive project to entirely replace
HKAS 39 Financial Instruments: Recognition and
Measurement. This phase focuses on the classification
and measurement of financial assets. Instead of
classifying financial assets into four categories, an entity
shall classify financial assets as subsequently measured
at either amortised cost or fair value, on the basis of both
the entity’s business model for managing the financial
assets and the contractual cash flow characteristics of
the financial assets. This aims to improve and simplify
the approach for the classification and measurement of
financial assets compared with the requirements of HKAS
39.
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2.3 ISSUED BUT NOTYET EFFECTIVE
HONG KONG FINANCIAL
REPORTING STANDARDS (Continued)

In November 2010, the HKICPA issued additions to
HKFRS 9 to address financial liabilities (the “Additions”)
and incorporated in HKFRS 9 the current derecognition
principles of financial instruments of HKAS 39. Most of
the Additions were carried forward unchanged from HKAS
39, while changes were made to the measurement of
financial liabilities designated at fair value through profit
or loss using the fair value option (“FVO”). For these FVO
liabilities, the amount of change in the fair value of a
liability that is attributable to changes in credit risk must
be presented in other comprehensive income (“OCI”).
The remainder of the change in fair value is presented in
profit or loss, unless presentation of the fair value change
in respect of the liability’s credit risk in OCI would create
or enlarge an accounting mismatch in profit or loss.
However, loan commitments and financial guarantee
contracts which have been designated under the FVO are
scoped out of the Additions.

HKAS 39 is aimed to be replaced by HKFRS 9 in its
entirety. Before this entire replacement, the guidance
in HKAS 39 on hedge accounting and impairment of
financial assets continues to apply. The Group expects to
adopt HKFRS 9 from 1 April 2015. The Group will quantify
the effect in conjunction with other phases, when the final
standard including all phases is issued.
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2.3 ISSUED BUT NOT YET EFFECTIVE

HONG KONG FINANCIAL
REPORTING STANDARDS (Continued)

HKFRS 10 establishes a single control model that
applies to all entities including special purpose entities
or structured entities. It includes a new definition of
control which is used to determine which entities are
consolidated. The changes introduced by HKFRS 10
require management of the Group to exercise significant
judgement to determine which entities are controlled,
compared with the requirements in HKAS 27 and
HK(SIC)-Int 12 Consolidation — Special Purpose Entities.
HKFRS 10 replaces the portion of HKAS 27 Consolidated
and Separate Financial Statements that addresses the
accounting for consolidated financial statements. It also
addresses the issues raised in HK(SIC)-Int 12. Based
on the preliminary analyses performed, HKFRS 10 is not
expected to have any material impact on the currently
held investments of the Group.

HKFRS 11 replaces HKAS 31 Interests in Joint Ventures
and HK(SIC)-Int 13 Jointly Controlled Entities — Non-
Monetary Contributions by Venturers. It describes the
accounting for joint arrangements with joint control. It
addresses only two forms of joint arrangements, i.e.,
joint operations and joint ventures, and removes the
option to account for joint ventures using proportionate
consolidation.

HKFRS 12 includes the disclosure requirements for
subsidiaries, joint arrangements, associates and
structured entities previously included in HKAS 27
Consolidated and Separate Financial Statements, HKAS
31 Interests in Joint Ventures and HKAS 28 Investments
in Associates. It also introduces a number of new
disclosure requirements for these entities.
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2.3 ISSUED BUT NOT YET EFFECTIVE

HONG KONG FINANCIAL
REPORTING STANDARDS (Continued)

In July 2012, the HKICPA issued amendments to
HKFRS 10, HKFRS 11 and HKFRS 12 which clarify the
transition guidance in HKFRS 10 and provide further relief
from full retrospective application of these standards,
limiting the requirement to provide adjusted comparative
information to only the preceding comparative period.
The amendments clarify that retrospective adjustments
are only required if the consolidation conclusion as to
which entities are controlled by the Group is different
between HKFRS 10 and HKAS 27 or HK(SIC)-Int 12 at
the beginning of the annual period in which HKFRS 10
is applied for the first time. Furthermore, for disclosures
related to unconsolidated structured entities, the
amendments will remove the requirement to present
comparative information for periods before HKFRS 12 is
first applied.

The amendments to HKFRS 10 issued in December 2012
include a definition of an investment entity and provide
an exception to the consolidation requirement for entities
that meet the definition of an investment entity. Investment
entities are required to account for subsidiaries at fair
value through profit or loss in accordance with HKFRS 9
rather than consolidate them. Consequential amendments
were made to HKFRS 12 and HKAS 27 (2011). The
amendments to HKFRS 12 also set out the disclosure
requirements for investment entities. The Group expects
that these amendments will not have any impact on the
Group as the Company is not an investment entity as
defined in HKFRS 10.
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2.3 ISSUED BUT NOT YET EFFECTIVE

HONG KONG FINANCIAL
REPORTING STANDARDS (Continued)

Consequential amendments were made to HKAS 27
and HKAS 28 as a result of the issuance of HKFRS 10,
HKFRS 11 and HKFRS 12. The Group expects to adopt
HKFRS 10, HKFRS 11, HKFRS 12, HKAS 27 (2011),
HKAS 28 (2011), and the subsequent amendments to
these standards issued in July and December 2012 from
1 April 2013.

HKFRS 13 provides a precise definition of fair value and
a single source of fair value measurement and disclosure
requirements for use across HKFRSs. The standard
does not change the circumstances in which the Group
is required to use fair value, but provides guidance on
how fair value should be applied where its use is already
required or permitted under other HKFRSs. The Group
expects to adopt HKFRS 13 prospectively from 1 April
20183.

The HKAS 1 Amendments change the grouping of
items presented in OCI. Items that could be reclassified
(or recycled) to profit or loss at a future point in time
(for example, net gain on hedge of a net investment,
exchange differences on translation of foreign operations,
net movement on cash flow hedges and net loss or gain
on available-for-sale financial assets) would be presented
separately from items which will never be reclassified
(for example, actuarial gains and losses on defined
benefit plans and revaluation of land and buildings). The
amendments will affect presentation only and have no
impact on the financial position or performance. The
Group expects to adopt the amendments from 1 April
2013.
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2.3 ISSUED BUT NOTYET EFFECTIVE
HONG KONG FINANCIAL
REPORTING STANDARDS (Continued)

HKAS 19 (2011) includes a number of amendments that
range from fundamental changes to simple clarifications
and re-wording. The revised standard introduces
significant changes in the accounting for defined benefit
pension plans including removing the choice to defer the
recognition of actuarial gains and losses. Other changes
include modifications to the timing of recognition for
termination benefits, the classification of short-term
employee benefits and disclosures of defined benefit
plans. The Group expects to adopt HKAS 19 (2011) from
1 April 2013.

The HKAS 32 Amendments clarify the meaning of
“currently has a legally enforceable right to setoff” for
offsetting financial assets and financial liabilities. The
amendments also clarify the application of the offsetting
criteria in HKAS 32 to settlement systems (such as central
clearing house systems) which apply gross settlement
mechanisms that are not simultaneous. The amendments
are not expected to have any impact on the financial
position or performance of the Group upon adoption on 1
April 2014.
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2.3 ISSUED BUT NOT YET EFFECTIVE
HONG KONG FINANCIAL
REPORTING STANDARDS (Continued)

The Annual Improvements to HKFRSs 2009-2011 Cycle
issued in June 2012 sets out amendments to a number of
HKFRSs. The Group expects to adopt the amendments
from 1 April 2013. There are separate transitional
provisions for each standard. While the adoption of some
of the amendments may result in changes in accounting
policies, none of these amendments are expected to
have a significant financial impact on the Group. Those
amendments that are expected to have a significant
impact on the Group’s policies are as follows:

(@

HKAS 1 Presentation of Financial Statements:
Clarifies the difference between voluntary additional
comparative information and the minimum required
comparative information. Generally, the minimum
required comparative period is the previous period.
An entity must include comparative information in
the related notes to the financial statements when it
voluntarily provides comparative information beyond
the previous period. The additional comparative
information does not need to contain a complete set
of financial statements.

In addition, the amendment clarifies that the
opening statement of financial position as at
the beginning of the preceding period must be
presented when an entity changes its accounting
policies; makes retrospective restatements or
makes reclassifications, and that change has a
material effect on the statement of financial position.
However, the related notes to the opening statement
of financial position as at the beginning of the
preceding period are not required to be presented.

HKAS 32 Financial Instruments: Presentation:
Clarifies that income taxes arising from distributions
to equity holders are accounted for in accordance
with HKAS 12 /ncome Taxes. The amendment
removes existing income tax requirements from
HKAS 32 and requires entities to apply the
requirements in HKAS 12 to any income tax arising
from distributions to equity holders.
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES

A subsidiary is an entity whose financial and operating
policies the Company controls, directly or indirectly, so as
to obtain benefits from its activities.

The results of subsidiaries are included in the Company’s
income statement to the extent of dividends received and
receivable. The Company’s investments in subsidiaries
are stated at cost less any impairment losses.

A joint venture is an entity set up by contractual
arrangement, whereby the Group and other parties
undertake an economic activity. The joint venture operates
as a separate entity in which the Group and the other
parties have an interest.

The joint venture agreement between the venturers
stipulates the capital contributions of the joint venture
parties, the duration of the joint venture and the basis on
which the assets are to be realised upon its dissolution.
The profits or losses from the joint venture’s operations
and any distributions of surplus assets are shared by the
venturers, either in proportion to their respective capital
contributions, or in accordance with the terms of the joint
venture agreement.

A joint venture is treated as:

(@) a subsidiary, if the Group has unilateral control,
directly or indirectly, over the joint venture;

(b)  a jointly-controlled entity, if the Group does not have
unilateral control, but has joint control, directly or
indirectly, over the joint venture;

(c) an associate, if the Group does not have unilateral or
joint control, but holds, directly or indirectly, generally
not less than 20% of the joint venture’s registered
capital and is in a position to exercise significant
influence over the joint venture; or
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)
JOINT VENTURES ( Continued)

(d) an equity investment accounted for in accordance
with HKAS 39, if the Group holds, directly or
indirectly, less than 20% of the joint venture’s
registered capital and has neither joint control of, nor
is in a position to exercise significant influence over,
the joint venture.

JOINTLY-CONTROLLED ENTITIES

A jointly-controlled entity is a joint venture that is subject
to joint control, resulting in none of the participating
parties having unilateral control over the economic activity
of the jointly-controlled entity.

The Group’s investment in a jointly-controlled entity is
stated in the consolidated statement of financial position
at the Group’s share of net assets under the equity
method of accounting, less any impairment losses.
The Group’s share of the post-acquisition results and
reserves of the jointly-controlled entity is included in
the consolidated income statement and consolidated
reserves, respectively. Unrealised gains and losses
resulting from transactions between the Group and the
jointly-controlled entity are eliminated to the extent of
the Group’s investment in the jointly-controlled entity,
except where unrealised losses provide evidence of an
impairment of the asset transferred.

ASSOCIATES

An associate is an entity, not being a subsidiary or a
jointly-controlled entity, in which the Group has a long
term interest of generally not less than 20% of the equity
voting rights and over which it is in a position to exercise
significant influence.
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

The Group’s investments in associates are stated in
the consolidated statement of financial position at the
Group’s share of net assets under the equity method
of accounting, less any impairment losses. The Group’s
share of the post-acquisition results and reserves of
associates is included in the consolidated income
statement and consolidated reserves, respectively.
Unrealised gains and losses resulting from transactions
between the Group and its associates are eliminated to
the extent of the Group’s investments in the associates,
except where unrealised losses provide evidence of an
impairment of the asset transferred.

Business combinations are accounted for using the
acquisition method. The consideration transferred is
measured at the acquisition date fair value which is
the sum of the acquisition date fair values of assets
transferred by the Group, liabilities assumed by the Group
to the former owners of the acquiree and the equity
interests issued by the Group in exchange for control of
the acquiree. For each business combination, the Group
elects whether to measure the non-controlling interests
in the acquiree that are present ownership interests
and entitle their holders to a proportionate share of net
assets in the event of liquidation at fair value or at the
proportionate share of the acquiree’s identifiable net
assets. All other components of non-controlling interests
are measured at fair value. Acquisition-related costs are
expensed as incurred.

When the Group acquires a business, it assesses the
financial assets and liabilities assumed for appropriate
classification and designation in accordance with the
contractual terms, economic circumstances and pertinent
conditions as at the acquisition date. This includes the
separation of embedded derivatives in host contracts by
the acquiree.
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

If the business combination is achieved in stages, the
previously held equity interest is remeasured at its
acquisition date fair value and any resulting gain or loss is
recognised in profit or loss.

Any contingent consideration to be transferred by the
acquirer is recognised at fair value at the acquisition
date. Contingent consideration classified as an asset or
liability that is a financial instrument and within the scope
of HKAS 39 is measured at a fair value with changes
in fair value either recognised in profit or loss or as a
change to other comprehensive income. If the contingent
consideration is not within the scope of HKAS 39, it is
measured in accordance with the appropriate HKFRS.
Contingent consideration that is classified as equity is not
remeasured and subsequent settlement is accounted for
within equity.

Goodwill is initially measured at cost, being the excess
of the aggregate of the consideration transferred, the
amount recognised for non-controlling interests and any
fair value of the Group’s previously held equity interests
in the acquiree over the identifiable net assets acquired
and liabilities assumed. If the sum of this consideration
and other items is lower than the fair value of the net
assets acquired, the difference is, after reassessment,
recognised in profit or loss as a gain on bargain purchase.

After initial recognition, goodwill is measured at cost
less any accumulated impairment losses. Goodwill is
tested for impairment annually or more frequently if
events or changes in circumstances indicate that the
carrying value may be impaired. The Group performs its
annual impairment test of goodwill as at 31 March. For
the purpose of impairment testing, goodwill acquired
in a business combination is, from the acquisition date,
allocated to each of the Group’s cash-generating units,
or groups of cash-generating units, that are expected to
benefit from the synergies of the combination, irrespective
of whether other assets or liabilities of the Group are
assigned to those units or groups of units.
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT 24 FEGH K ZHME (@)

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

BUSINESS COMBINATIONS AND
GOODWILL (Continued)

Impairment is determined by assessing the recoverable
amount of the cash-generating unit (group of cash-
generating units) to which the goodwill relates. Where the
recoverable amount of the cash-generating unit (group of
cash-generating units) is less than the carrying amount,
an impairment loss is recognised. An impairment loss
recognised for goodwill is not reversed in a subsequent
period.

Where goodwill has been allocated to a cash-generating
unit (or group of cash-generating units) and part of the
operation within that unit is disposed of, the goodwill
associated with the operation disposed of is included in
the carrying amount of the operation when determining
the gain or loss on the disposal. Goodwill disposed in
these circumstances is measured based on the relative
value of disposed operation and the portion of the cash-
generating unit retained.

IMPAIRMENT OF NON-FINANCIAL
ASSETS

Where an indication of impairment exists, or when
annual impairment testing for an asset is required (other
than inventories, financial assets, investment properties,
goodwill and non-current assets classified as held for
sale), the asset’s recoverable amount is estimated. An
asset’s recoverable amount is the higher of the asset’s
or cash-generating unit’s value in use and its fair value
less costs to sell, and is determined for an individual
asset, unless the asset does not generate cash inflows
that are largely independent of those from other assets or
groups of assets, in which case the recoverable amount
is determined for the cash-generating unit to which the
asset belongs.
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

IMPAIRMENT OF NON-FINANCIAL
ASSETS (Continued)

An impairment loss is recognised only if the carrying
amount of an asset exceeds its recoverable amount. In
assessing value in use, the estimated future cash flows
are discounted to their present value using a pre-tax
discount rate that reflects current market assessments
of the time value of money and the risks specific to the
asset. An impairment loss is charged to the income
statement in the period in which it arises in those expense
categories consistent with the function of the impaired
asset, unless the asset is carried at a revalued amount,
in which case the impairment loss is accounted for in
accordance with the relevant accounting policy for that
revalued asset.

An assessment is made at the end of each reporting
period as to whether there is an indication that previously
recognised impairment losses may no longer exist or
may have decreased. If such an indication exists, the
recoverable amount is estimated. A previously recognised
impairment loss of an asset other than goodwill is
reversed only if there has been a change in the estimates
used to determine the recoverable amount of that asset,
but not to an amount higher than the carrying amount that
would have been determined (net of any depreciation/
amortisation) had no impairment loss been recognised for
the asset in prior years. A reversal of such an impairment
loss is credited to the income statement in the period in
which it arises.
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

RELATED PARTIES
A party is considered to be related to the Group if:

(@) the party is a person or a close member of that
person’s family and that person

M

(i)
)

or

has control or joint control over the Group;

has significant influence over the Group; or

is a member of the key management personnel
of the Group or of a parent of the Group;

(b) the party is an entity where any of the following
conditions applies:

M

(i)

(i)

(V)

(V)

(vii)

the entity and the Group are members of the
same group;

one entity is an associate or joint venture of the
other entity (or of a parent, subsidiary or fellow
subsidiary of the other entity);

the entity and the Group are joint ventures of
the same third party;

one entity is a joint venture of a third entity
and the other entity is an associate of the third
entity;

the entity is a post-employment benefit plan for
the benefit of employees of either the Group or
an entity related to the Group;

the entity is controlled or jointly controlled by a
person identified in (a); and

a person identified in (a)(i) has significant
influence over the entity or is a member of the
key management personnel of the entity (or of
a parent of the entity).
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT
AND DEPRECIATION

Property, plant and equipment, other than construction in
progress, are stated at cost or valuation less accumulated
depreciation and any impairment losses. The cost of
an item of property, plant and equipment comprises
its purchase price and any directly attributable costs of
bringing the asset to its working condition and location
for its intended use. Expenditure incurred after items
of property, plant and equipment have been put into
operation, such as repairs and maintenance, is normally
charged to the income statement in the period in which
it is incurred. In situations where the recognition criteria
are satisfied, the expenditure for a major inspection
is capitalised in the carrying amount of the asset as a
replacement. Where significant parts of property, plant
and equipment are required to be replaced at intervals,
the Group recognises such parts as individual assets with
specific useful lives and depreciates them accordingly.

Depreciation is calculated on the straight-line basis to
write off the cost or valuation of each item of property,
plant and equipment to its residual value over its
estimated useful life. The principal annual rates used for
this purpose are as follows:

Over the lease terms
Over the lease terms

Hotel properties
Leasehold land under
finance leases
Buildings 2.5% to 3%
Leasehold improvements 5% to 20%
Plant and machinery 10%
Furniture, fixtures and equipment 15% to 20%
Motor vehicles 20% to 25%
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT 24 FESG K ZBE (@)

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT
AND DEPRECIATION (Continued)

Where parts of an item of property, plant and equipment
have different useful lives, the cost or valuation of that
item is allocated on a reasonable basis among the parts
and each part is depreciated separately. Residual values,
useful lives and the depreciation method are reviewed,
and adjusted if appropriate, at least at each financial year
end.

An item of property, plant and equipment including
any significant part initially recognised is derecognised
upon disposal or when no future economic benefits are
expected from its use or disposal. Any gain or loss on
disposal or retirement recognised in the income statement
in the year the asset is derecognised is the difference
between the net sales proceeds and the carrying amount
of the relevant asset.

Construction in progress represents buildings under
construction, which is stated at cost less any impairment
losses, and is not depreciated. Cost comprises the direct
costs of construction during the period of construction.
Construction in progress is reclassified to the appropriate
category of property, plant and equipment when
completed and ready for use.
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)
INVESTMENT PROPERTIES

Investment properties are interests in land and buildings
(including the leasehold interest under an operating
lease for a property which would otherwise meet the
definition of an investment property) held to earn rental
income and/or for capital appreciation, rather than for
use in the production or supply of goods or services or
for administrative purposes; or for sale in the ordinary
course of business. Such properties are measured initially
at cost, including transaction costs. Subsequent to
initial recognition, investment properties are stated at fair
value, which reflects market conditions at the end of the
reporting period.

Gains or losses arising from changes in the fair values
of investment properties are included in the income
statement in the year in which they arise.

Any gains or losses on the retirement or disposal of
an investment property are recognised in the income
statement in the year of the retirement or disposal.

NON-CURRENT ASSETS AND DISPOSAL
GROUPS HELD FOR SALE

Non-current assets and disposal groups are classified as
held for sale if their carrying amounts will be recovered
principally through a sales transaction rather than through
continuing use. For this to be the case, the asset or
disposal group must be available for immediate sale in
its present condition subject only to terms that are usual
and customary for the sale of such assets or disposal
groups and its sale must be highly probable. All assets
and liabilities of a subsidiary classified as a disposal group
are reclassified as held for sale regardless of whether
the Group retains a non-controlling interest in its former
subsidiary after the sale.

Non-current assets and disposal groups (other than
investment properties and financial assets) classified as
held for sale are measured at the lower of their carrying
amounts and fair values less costs to sell. Property, plant
and equipment and intangible assets classified as held for
sale are not depreciated or amortised.
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

Intangible assets acquired separately are measured on
initial recognition at cost. The cost of intangible assets
acquired in a business combination is the fair value at the
date of acquisition. The useful life of intangible asset is
assessed to be either finite or indefinite. Intangible asset
with finite life is subsequently amortised over the useful
economic life and assessed for impairment whenever
there is an indication that the intangible asset may be
impaired. The amortisation period and the amortisation
method for an intangible asset with a finite useful life are
reviewed at least at each financial year end.

Intangible assets represent the rights to purchase
pre-determined lots of land pursuant to legal binding
agreements. Intangible assets are stated at cost less
accumulated amortisation and any impairment losses.
Intangible assets are amortised to properties under
development as land costs in accordance with the future
acquisition patterns of these pre-determined lots of land
within the unexpired periods of the agreements.

Leases that transfer substantially all the rewards and
risks of ownership of assets to the Group, other than
legal title, are accounted for as finance leases. At the
inception of a finance lease, the cost of the leased asset
is capitalised at the present value of the minimum lease
payments and recorded together with the obligation,
excluding the interest element, to reflect the purchase and
financing. Assets held under capitalised finance leases,
including prepaid land lease payment under finance
leases, are included in property, plant and equipment and
depreciated over the shorter of the lease terms and the
estimated useful lives of the assets. The finance costs of
such leases are charged to the income statement so as to
provide a constant periodic rate of charge over the lease
terms.

Assets acquired through hire purchase contracts of a
financing nature are accounted for as finance leases, but
are depreciated over their estimated useful lives.
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)
LEASES (Continued)

Leases where substantially all the rewards and risks of
ownership of assets remain with the lessor are accounted
for as operating leases. Where the Group is the lessor,
assets leased by the Group under operating leases are
included in non-current assets, and rentals receivable
under the operating leases are credited to the income
statement on the straight-line basis over the lease terms.
Where the Group is the lessee, rentals payable under
operating leases are charged to the income statement on
the straight-line basis over the lease terms.

Prepaid land lease payments under operating leases are
initially stated at cost and subsequently recognised on the
straight-line basis over the lease terms. When the lease
payments cannot be allocated reliably between the land
and buildings elements, the entire lease payments are
included in the cost of the land and buildings as a finance
lease in property, plant and equipment.

PROPERTIES UNDER DEVELOPMENT

Properties under development are stated at the lower of
cost and net realisable value and comprise land costs,
construction costs, borrowing costs, professional fees
and other costs directly attributable to such properties
incurred during the development period.

Properties under development are classified as current
assets unless the construction of the relevant property
development project is expected to complete beyond the
normal operating cycle. On completion, the properties are
transferred to properties held for sale.
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

INVESTMENTS AND OTHER FINANCIAL
ASSETS

Financial assets within the scope of HKAS 39 are
classified as financial assets at fair value through profit or
loss, loans and receivables, and available-for-sale financial
investments, as appropriate. The Group determines the
classification of its financial assets at initial recognition.
When financial assets are recognised initially, they are
measured at fair value plus transaction costs, except in
the case of financial assets recorded at fair value through
profit or loss.

All regular way purchases and sales of financial assets
are recognised on the trade date, that is, the date that
the Group commits to purchase or sell the asset. Regular
way purchases or sales are purchases or sales of financial
assets that require delivery of assets within the period
generally established by regulation or convention in the
marketplace.

The subsequent measurement of financial assets
depends on their classification as follows:

Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss include
financial assets held for trading and financial assets
designated upon initial recognition as at fair value through
profit or loss. Financial assets are classified as held for
trading if they are acquired for the purpose of sale in the
near term. Derivatives, including separated embedded
derivatives, are also classified as held for trading unless
they are designated as effective hedging instruments as
defined by HKAS 39.
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

INVESTMENTS AND OTHER FINANCIAL
ASSETS (Continued)

Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss are
carried in the statement of financial position at fair value
with positive net changes in fair value presented as other
income and gains and negative net changes in fair value
presented as other expenses in the income statement.
These net fair value changes do not include any dividends
or interest earned on these financial assets, which are
recognised in accordance with the policies set out for
“Revenue recognition” below.

Financial assets designated upon initial recognition at fair
value through profit or loss are designated at the date of
initial recognition and only if the criteria under HKAS 39
are satisfied.

The Group evaluates its financial assets at fair value
through profit or loss (held for trading) to assess whether
the intent to sell them in the near term is still appropriate.
When, in rare circumstances, the Group is unable to
trade these financial assets due to inactive markets and
management’s intent to sell them in the foreseeable future
significantly changes, the Group may elect to reclassify
them. The reclassification from financial assets at fair
value through profit or loss to loans and receivables,
available-for-sale financial assets or held-to-maturity
investments depends on the nature of the assets. This
evaluation does not affect any financial assets designated
at fair value through profit or loss using the fair value
option at designation, as these instruments cannot be
reclassified after initial recognition.
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT 24 FEGH K ZHME (@)

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

INVESTMENTS AND OTHER FINANCIAL
ASSETS (Continued)

Derivatives embedded in host contracts are accounted for
as separate derivatives and recorded at fair value if their
economic characteristics and risks are not closely related
to those of the host contracts and the host contracts are
not held for trading or designated at fair value through
profit or loss. These embedded derivatives are measured
at fair value with changes in fair value recognised in the
income statement. Reassessment only occurs if there is
a change in the terms of the contract that significantly
modifies the cash flows that would otherwise be required.

Loans and receivables are non-derivative financial assets
with fixed or determinable payments that are not quoted
in an active market. After initial measurement, such assets
are subsequently measured at amortised cost using
the effective interest rate method less any allowance
for impairment. Amortised cost is calculated by taking
into account any discount or premium on acquisition
and includes fees or costs that are an integral part of
the effective interest rate. The effective interest rate
amortisation is included in other income and gains in the
income statement. The loss arising from impairment is
recognised in the income statement in other expenses.
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

Available-for-sale financial investments are non-derivative
financial assets in listed equity investments. Equity
investments classified as available for sale are those
which are neither classified as held for trading nor
designated at fair value through profit or loss.

After initial recognition, available-for-sale financial
investments are subsequently measured at fair value,
with unrealised gains or losses recognised as other
comprehensive income in the available-for-sale investment
revaluation reserve until the investment is derecognised,
at which time the cumulative gain or loss is recognised
in the income statement in other income, or until the
investment is determined to be impaired, when the
cumulative gain or loss is reclassified from the available-
for-sale investment revaluation reserve to the income
statement in other expenses. Dividends earned whilst
holding the available-for-sale financial investments are
reported as dividend income and are recognised in the
income statement as other income in accordance with the
policy set out for “Revenue recognition” below.

The Group evaluates whether the ability and intention
to sell its available-for-sale financial assets in the near
term are still appropriate. When, in rare circumstances,
the Group is unable to trade these financial assets due
to inactive markets and management’s intent to do
so significantly changes in the foreseeable future, the
Group may elect to reclassify these financial assets.
Reclassification to loans and receivables is permitted
when the financial assets meet the definition of loans and
receivables and the Group has the intent and ability to
hold these assets for the foreseeable future or to maturity.
The reclassification to the held-to-maturity category is
permitted only when the Group has the ability and intent
to hold until the maturity date of the financial asset.
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT 24 FESG K ZBE (@)

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

INVESTMENTS AND OTHER FINANCIAL
ASSETS (Continued)

For a financial asset reclassified from the available-for-
sale category, the fair value carrying amount at the date
of reclassification becomes its new amortised cost and
any previous gain or loss on that asset that has been
recognised in equity is amortised to profit or loss over the
remaining life of the investment using the effective interest
rate. Any difference between the new amortised cost and
the maturity amount is also amortised over the remaining
life of the asset using the effective interest rate. If the
asset is subsequently determined to be impaired, then the
amount recorded in equity is reclassified to the income
statement.

DERECOGNITION OF FINANCIAL ASSETS

A financial asset (or, where applicable, a part of a financial
asset or part of a group of similar financial assets) is
derecognised when:

° the rights to receive cash flows from the asset have
expired; or

° the Group has transferred its rights to receive
cash flows from the asset, or has assumed an
obligation to pay the received cash flows in full
without material delay to a third party under a “pass-
through” arrangement; and either (a) the Group has
transferred substantially all the risks and rewards of
the asset, or (b) the Group has neither transferred
nor retained substantially all the risks and rewards of
the asset, but has transferred control of the asset.
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

When the Group has transferred its rights to receive cash
flows from an asset or has entered into a pass-through
arrangement, it evaluates if and to what extent it has
retained the risk and rewards of ownership of the asset.
When it has neither transferred nor retained substantially
all the risks and rewards of the asset nor transferred
control of the asset, the asset is recognised to the extent
of the Group’s continuing involvement in the asset. In
that case, the Group also recognises an associated
liability. The transferred asset and the associated liability
are measured on a basis that reflects the rights and
obligations that the Group has retained.

Continuing involvement that takes the form of a guarantee
over the transferred asset is measured at the lower of the
original carrying amount of the asset and the maximum
amount of consideration that the Group could be required
to repay.

The Group assesses at the end of each reporting period
whether there is objective evidence that a financial asset
or a group of financial assets is impaired. A financial asset
or a group of financial assets is deemed to be impaired
if, and only if, there is objective evidence of impairment
as a result of one or more events that occurred after the
initial recognition of the asset (an incurred “loss event”)
and that loss event has an impact on the estimated
future cash flows of the financial asset or the group of
financial assets that can be reliably estimated. Evidence
of impairment may include indications that a debtor or
a group of debtors is experiencing significant financial
difficulty, default or delinquency in interest or principal
payments, the probability that they will enter bankruptcy
or other financial reorganisation and observable data
indicating that there is a measurable decrease in the
estimated future cash flows, such as changes in arrears
or economic conditions that correlate with defaults.
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

For financial assets carried at amortised cost, the Group
first assesses individually whether objective evidence of
impairment exists for financial assets that are individually
significant, or collectively for financial assets that are not
individually significant. If the Group determines that no
objective evidence of impairment exists for an individually
assessed financial asset, whether significant or not, it
includes the asset in a group of financial assets with
similar credit risk characteristics and collectively assesses
them for impairment. Assets that are individually assessed
for impairment and for which an impairment loss is,
or continues to be, recognised are not included in a
collective assessment of impairment.

If there is objective evidence that an impairment loss has
been incurred, the amount of the loss is measured as the
difference between the asset’s carrying amount and the
present value of estimated future cash flows (excluding
future credit losses that have not been incurred). The
present value of the estimated future cash flows is
discounted at the financial asset’s original effective
interest rate (i.e., the effective interest rate computed at
initial recognition). If a loan has a variable interest rate, the
discount rate for measuring any impairment loss is the
current effective interest rate.

The carrying amount of the asset is reduced through the
use of an allowance account and the loss is recognised
in the income statement. Interest income continues to be
accrued on the reduced carrying amount and is accrued
using the rate of interest used to discount the future
cash flows for the purpose of measuring the impairment
loss. Loans and receivables together with any associated
allowance are written off when there is no realistic
prospect of future recovery.
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)
IMPAIRMENT OF FINANCIAL ASSETS

(Continued)

If, in a subsequent period, the amount of the estimated
impairment loss increases or decreases because of an
event occurring after the impairment was recognised, the
previously recognised impairment loss is increased or
reduced by adjusting the allowance account. If a write-off
is later recovered, the recovery is credited to the income
statement.

If there is objective evidence that an impairment loss has
been incurred on an unquoted equity instrument that is
not carried at fair value because its fair value cannot be
reliably measured, the amount of the loss is measured
as the difference between the asset’s carrying amount
and the present value of estimated future cash flows
discounted at the current market rate of return for a
similar financial asset. Impairment losses on these assets
are not reversed.

For available-for-sale financial investments, the Group
assesses at the end of each reporting period whether
there is objective evidence that an investment or a group
of investments is impaired.

If an available-for-sale asset is impaired, an amount
comprising the difference between its cost (net of any
principal payment and amortisation) and its current fair
value, less any impairment loss previously recognised
in the income statement, is removed from other
comprehensive income and recognised in the income
statement.
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

IMPAIRMENT OF FINANCIAL ASSETS

(Continued)

In the case of equity investments classified as available
for sale, objective evidence would include a significant
or prolonged decline in the fair value of an investment
below its cost. The determination of what is “significant”
or “prolonged” requires judgement. “Significant” is
evaluated against the original cost of the investment
and “prolonged” against the period in which the fair
value has been below its original cost. Where there is
evidence of impairment, the cumulative loss — measured
as the difference between the acquisition cost and
the current fair value, less any impairment loss on that
investment previously recognised in the income statement
— is removed from other comprehensive income and
recognised in the income statement. Impairment losses
on equity instruments classified as available for sale are
not reversed through the income statement. Increases in
their fair value after impairment are recognised directly in
other comprehensive income.

FINANCIAL LIABILITIES

Financial liabilities within the scope of HKAS 39 are
classified as financial liabilities at fair value through profit
or loss, and loans and borrowings. The Group determines
the classification of its financial liabilities at initial
recognition.

All financial liabilities are recognised initially at fair value
and, in the case of loans and borrowings, net of directly
attributable transaction costs.
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)
FINANCIAL LIABILITIES (Continued)

The subsequent measurement of financial liabilities
depends on their classification as follows:

Financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss
include financial liabilities held for trading and financial
liabilities designated upon initial recognition as at fair value
through profit or loss.

Financial liabilities are classified as held for trading if they
are acquired for the purpose of selling in the near term.
This category includes derivative financial instruments
entered into by the Group that are not designated as
hedging instruments in hedge relationships as defined
by HKAS 39. Separated embedded derivatives are also
classified as held for trading unless they are designated as
effective hedging instruments. Gains or losses on liabilities
held for trading are recognised in the income statement.
The net fair value gain or loss recognised in the income
statement does not include any interest charged on these
financial liabilities.

Financial liabilities designated upon initial recognition at
fair value through profit or loss are designated at the date
of initial recognition and only if the criteria in HKAS 39 are
satisfied.
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

After initial recognition, interest-bearing loans and
borrowings are subsequently measured at amortised cost,
using the effective interest rate method unless the effect
of discounting would be immaterial, in which case they
are stated at cost. Gains and losses are recognised in the
income statement when the liabilities are derecognised
as well as through the effective interest rate amortisation
process.

Amortised cost is calculated by taking into account any
discount or premium on acquisition and fees or costs
that are an integral part of the effective interest rate. The
effective interest rate amortisation is included in finance
costs in the income statement.

Financial guarantee contracts issued by the Group are
those contracts that require a payment to be made to
reimburse the holder for a loss it incurs because the
specified debtor fails to make a payment when due
in accordance with the terms of a debt instrument. A
financial guarantee contract is recognised initially as a
liability at its fair value, adjusted for transaction costs that
are directly attributable to the issuance of the guarantee.
Subsequent to initial recognition, the Group measures
the financial guarantee contract at the higher of: () the
amount of the best estimate of the expenditure required
to settle the present obligation at the end of the reporting
period; and (i) the amount initially recognised less, when
appropriate, cumulative amortisation.

24 FEGHHREZHE @)

RN B HERIL 5t BEER R BEFRERIA
BERMROR LB KA E - FRIFFTR
TEBMTRE  ERBR T ARAAR
SR - B B ER IR RIRER A R
ETHEREFR HRBERGRAE

27
o

BN FT R ERE R RSO
EBERBERMEAANBREONERK
PR AT E - BR A R HFT AR R
HIBE AR

AEBBIT 2 MBERERTIEERR
EEBARERREBZZE RN E B
B S RRIR R A SN SRIBR AR E R A
PIRXBR -MBERARTNFUARF
BEEARAE TREZHVBERS
REBERBENRZERATAHE - E
LR 2R AEEHPGERE R
METENONRBRERRBTEBRET
REGHAXESER: RRNFERE
BB (ER) Rt MEZRSE

| s
=T H o
Al 7



2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

The component of convertible notes that exhibits
characteristics of a liability is recognised as a liability in
the statement of financial position, net of transaction
costs. On issuance of convertible notes, the fair value of
the liability component is determined using a market rate
for an equivalent non-convertible note; and this amount
is carried as a long term liability on the amortised cost
basis until extinguished on conversion or redemption. The
remainder of the proceeds is allocated to the conversion
option that is recognised and included in shareholders’
equity, net of transaction costs. The carrying amount of
the conversion option is not remeasured in subsequent
years. Transaction costs are apportioned between the
liability and equity components of the convertible notes
based on the allocation of proceeds to the liability
and equity components when the instruments are first
recognised.

If the conversion option of convertible notes exhibits
characteristics of an embedded derivative, it is separated
from its liability component. On initial recognition,
the derivative component of the convertible notes is
measured at fair value and presented as part of derivative
financial instruments. Any excess of proceeds over the
amount initially recognised as the derivative component
is recognised as the liability component. Transaction
costs are apportioned between the liability and derivative
components of the convertible notes based on the
allocation of proceeds to the liability and derivative
components when the instruments are initially recognised.
The portion of the transaction costs relating to the liability
component is recognised initially as part of the liability.
The portion relating to the derivative component is
recognised immediately in the income statement.
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT 24 FESG K ZBE (@)

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

DERECOGNITION OF FINANCIAL
LIABILITIES

A financial liability is derecognised when the obligation
under the liability is discharged or cancelled, or expires.

When an existing financial liability is replaced by another
from the same lender on substantially different terms,
or the terms of an existing liability are substantially
modified, such an exchange or modification is treated as
a derecognition of the original liability and a recognition of
a new liability, and the difference between the respective
carrying amounts is recognised in the income statement.

OFFSETTING OF FINANCIAL
INSTRUMENTS

Financial assets and financial liabilities are offset and
the net amount is reported in the statement of financial
position if there is a currently enforceable legal right to
offset the recognised amounts and there is an intention to
settle on a net basis, or to realise the assets and settle the
liabilities simultaneously.

FAIR VALUE OF FINANCIAL
INSTRUMENTS

The fair value of financial instruments that are traded
in active markets is determined by reference to quoted
market prices or dealer price quotations (bid price
for long positions and ask price for short positions),
without any deduction for transaction costs. For financial
instruments where there is no active market, the fair value
is determined using appropriate valuation techniques.
Such techniques include using recent arm’s length market
transactions; reference to the current market value of
another instrument which is substantially the same; a
discounted cash flow analysis; and option pricing models
or other valuation models.
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)
DERIVATIVE FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS

The Group uses derivative financial instruments, such as
interest rate swaps, to hedge its interest rate risk. Such
derivative financial instruments are initially recognised
at fair value on the date on which a derivative contract
is entered into and are subsequently remeasured at fair
value. Derivatives are carried as assets when the fair value
is positive and as liabilities when the fair value is negative.

Any gains or losses arising from changes in fair value of
derivatives are taken directly to the income statement.

INVENTORIES

Inventories are stated at the lower of cost and net
realisable value. Cost is determined on the first-in, first-out
basis and, in the case of work in progress and finished
goods, comprises direct materials, direct labour and an
appropriate proportion of overheads. Net realisable value
is based on estimated selling prices less any estimated
costs to be incurred to completion and disposal.

PROPERTIES HELD FOR SALE

Properties held for sale are stated at the lower of cost
and net realisable value on an individual property basis.
Cost includes all development expenditure, applicable
borrowing costs and other direct costs attributable to
such properties. Net realisable value is estimated by the
directors by reference to the prevailing market price.
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS

For the purpose of the consolidated statement of cash
flows, cash and cash equivalents comprise cash on
hand and demand deposits, and short term highly liquid
investments that are readily convertible into known
amounts of cash, are subject to an insignificant risk of
changes in value, and have a short maturity of generally
within three months when acquired, less bank overdrafts
which are repayable on demand and form an integral part
of the Group’s cash management.

For the purpose of the statement of financial position,
cash and cash equivalents comprise cash on hand and at
banks, including term deposits, which are not restricted
as to use.

PROVISIONS

A provision is recognised when a present obligation (legal
or constructive) has arisen as a result of a past event and
it is probable that a future outflow of resources will be
required to settle the obligation, provided that a reliable
estimate can be made of the amount of the obligation.

When the effect of discounting is material, the amount
recognised for a provision is the present value at the
end of the reporting period of the future expenditures
expected to be required to settle the obligation. The
increase in the discounted present value amount arising
from the passage of time is included in finance costs in
the income statement.
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

Income tax comprises current and deferred tax. Income
tax relating to items recognised outside profit or loss
is recognised outside profit or loss, either in other
comprehensive income or directly in equity.

Current tax assets and liabilities for the current and prior
periods are measured at the amount expected to be
recovered from or paid to the taxation authorities, based
on tax rates (and tax laws) that have been enacted or
substantively enacted by the end of the reporting period,
taking into consideration interpretations and practices
prevailing in the countries in which the Group operates.

Deferred tax is provided, using the liability method, on all
temporary differences at the end of the reporting period
between the tax bases of assets and liabilities and their
carrying amounts for financial reporting purposes.

Deferred tax liabilities are recognised for all taxable
temporary differences, except:

o when the deferred tax liability arises from goodwill
or the initial recognition of an asset or liability in a
transaction that is not a business combination and,
at the time of the transaction, affects neither the
accounting profit nor taxable profit or loss; and

o in respect of taxable temporary differences
associated with interests in subsidiaries, associates
and joint ventures, when the timing of the reversal
of the temporary differences can be controlled and
it is probable that the temporary differences will not
reverse in the foreseeable future.
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

Deferred tax assets are recognised for all deductible
temporary differences, the carryforward of unused tax
credits and any unused tax losses. Deferred tax assets
are recognised to the extent that it is probable that
taxable profit will be available against which the deductible
temporary differences, the carryforward of unused tax
credits and unused tax losses can be utilised, except:

o when the deferred tax asset relating to the
deductible temporary differences arises from
the initial recognition of an asset or liability in a
transaction that is not a business combination and,
at the time of the transaction, affects neither the
accounting profit nor taxable profit or loss; and

o in respect of deductible temporary differences
associated with interests in subsidiaries, associates
and joint ventures, deferred tax assets are only
recognised to the extent that it is probable that the
temporary differences will reverse in the foreseeable
future and taxable profit will be available against
which the temporary differences can be utilised.

The carrying amount of deferred tax assets is reviewed
at the end of each reporting period and reduced to the
extent that it is no longer probable that sufficient taxable
profit will be available to allow all or part of the deferred
tax asset to be utilised. Unrecognised deferred tax assets
are reassessed at the end of each reporting period and
are recognised to the extent that it has become probable
that sufficient taxable profit will be available to allow all or
part of the deferred tax asset to be recovered.
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)
INCOME TAX (Continued)

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are measured at the
tax rates that are expected to apply to the period when
the asset is realised or the liability is settled, based
on tax rates (and tax laws) that have been enacted or
substantively enacted by the end of the reporting period.

Deferred tax assets and deferred tax liabilities are offset
if a legally enforceable right exists to set off current tax
assets against current tax liabilities and the deferred taxes
relate to the same taxable entity and the same taxation
authority.

GOVERNMENT GRANTS

Government grants are recognised at their fair value
where there is reasonable assurance that the grant will
be received and all attaching conditions will be complied
with. When the grant relates to an asset, the fair value is
credited to a deferred income account and is released
to the income statement on a systematic basis over the
useful life of the asset.

REVENUE RECOGNITION
Revenue is recognised when it is probable that the

economic benefits will flow to the Group and when the
revenue can be measured reliably, on the following bases:

(@) from the sale of goods, when the significant risks
and rewards of ownership have been transferred
to the buyer, provided that the Group maintains
neither managerial involvement to the degree usually
associated with ownership, nor effective control over
the goods sold;

(b) income from the restaurant and food businesses, at
the point of sale to customers;

(c) income from the sale of completed properties, on
the exchange of legally binding unconditional sales
contracts;
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT 24 FESG K ZBE (@)

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

(d) rental income, in the period in which the properties
are let out and on the straight-line basis over the
lease terms;

(e) hotel and other service income, in the period in
which such services are rendered:;

()  interest income, on an accrual basis using the
effective interest method by applying the rate that
exactly discounts the estimated future cash receipts
over the expected life of the financial instrument or a
shorter period, when appropriate, to the net carrying
amount of the financial asset; and

(@ dividend income, when the shareholders’ right to
receive payment has been established.

The Company operates a share option scheme for the
purpose of providing incentives and/or rewards to eligible
participants (including the Company’s directors and
other employees of the Group, any consultant, advisor
or agent engaged by or business/joint venture partners
of any member of the Group) who render services and/
or contribute to the success of the Group’s operations.
Employees (including directors) and advisors of the
Group receive remuneration in the form of share-based
payments, whereby employees/advisors render services
as consideration for equity instruments (“equity-settled
transactions”).

The cost of equity-settled transactions with employees
for grants after 7 November 2002 is measured by
reference to the fair value at the date at which they are
granted. The cost of equity-settled transactions with non-
employees is measured by reference to the fair value of
the services received at the date they are received. Where
the market information for the services provided by non-
employees cannot be reliably determined, the fair value of
the share options granted at the date when the services
are received is applied as a surrogate measure. The fair
value is determined by an external valuer using a binomial
model, further details of which are given in note 37 to the
financial statements.
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)
SHARE-BASED PAYMENTS (Continued)

The cost of equity-settled transactions is recognised,
together with a corresponding increase in equity, over the
period in which the performance and/or service conditions
are fulfilled. The cumulative expense recognised for
equity-settled transactions at the end of each reporting
period until the vesting date reflects the extent to which
the vesting period has expired and the Group’s best
estimate of the number of equity instruments that will
ultimately vest. The charge or credit to the income
statement for a period represents the movement in the
cumulative expense recognised as at the beginning and
end of that period.

No expense is recognised for awards that do not
ultimately vest, except for equity-settled transactions
where vesting is conditional upon a market or non-vesting
condition, which are treated as vesting irrespective of
whether or not the market or non-vesting condition is
satisfied, provided that all other performance and/or
service conditions are satisfied.

Where the terms of an equity-settled award are modified,
as a minimum an expense is recognised as if the terms
had not been modified, if the original terms of the award
are met. In addition, an expense is recognised for any
modification that increases the total fair value of the
share-based payments, or is otherwise beneficial to the
employee as measured at the date of modification.

e AR A 2 JRC A PR
20134

Notes to Financial Statements
W oK Ik

31 March 2013 —F—=#=H=+—H

24 FEGHHREZBE @)

WAl 1 3¢ fF ()
AN 2R 5 2 BRA - E R A8
FEIE DN ER 17 - BRI SRR 15k
BRETHRAER - £57 8 B 8a - Z/E
BERRERZABRA LN 2R 52 &
RS KRB EE 280 kA S
BHREKERBIRATAHE &
fEfbF - ERX - HEAERERANR
SERREERR - TY R AR R 5 SR HR ¥)
B HA AR TR IS Y B

HRERBERRREZRE 1~ &%
RIS BB F 5 IR R &M
R E 5 8 BB B AR AN 2 2 22 5 Bl
RSN HRZBUNBRAZ N Z R HME -
REMAEMERR, RRBEGEEEL
ZRK TSR IER B IR R D EK -
B EWBERERE -

fidf & DA RS ST AN 2 2208 2 1R 3R P
¥ REBEREGRTE  HORXATHER
REF BRI EAE R BT 2K F o
AN WEREE AR HE  EUERE
BHUARN XN 2 @A EFAEM:
S EEFREMA - B L FE
ERERMX -



Carrianna Group Holdings Company Limited
Annual Report 2013

Notes to Financial Statements
W oK Ik

31 March 2013 —F—=#=H=+—H

2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

SHARE-BASED PAYMENTS (Continued)

Where an equity-settled award is cancelled, it is treated
as if it had vested on the date of cancellation, and any
expense not yet recognised for the award is recognised
immediately. This includes any award where non-vesting
conditions within the control of either the Group or
the employee are not met. However, if a new award is
substituted for the cancelled award, and is designated
as a replacement award on the date that it is granted,
the cancelled and new awards are treated as if they were
a modification of the original award, as described in the
previous paragraph.

The dilutive effect of outstanding options is reflected as
additional share dilution in the computation of earnings
per share.

OTHER EMPLOYEE BENEFITS

The Group operates a defined contribution Mandatory
Provident Fund retirement benefit scheme (the “MPF
Scheme”) under the Mandatory Provident Fund Schemes
Ordinance for those employees who are eligible to
participate in the MPF Scheme. Contributions are made
based on a percentage of the employees’ basic salaries
and are charged to the income statement as they become
payable in accordance with the rules of the MPF Scheme.
The assets of the MPF Scheme are held separately from
those of the Group in an independently administered fund.
The Group’s employer contributions vest fully with the
employees when contributed into the MPF Scheme.
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)
OTHER EMPLOYEE BENEFITS (Continued)

The employees of the Group’s subsidiaries which
operate in Mainland China are required to participate
in central pension schemes (the “CP Schemes”)
operated by respective local municipal governments.
These subsidiaries are required to contribute a certain
percentage of their covered payroll to the CP Schemes to
fund their benefits. The only obligation of the Group with
respect to the CP Schemes is to pay the ongoing required
contributions under the CP Schemes. Contributions under
the CP Schemes are charged to the income statement as
they become payable in accordance with the rules of the
CP Schemes.

BORROWING COSTS

Borrowing costs directly attributable to the acquisition,
construction or production of qualifying assets, i.e., assets
that necessarily take a substantial period of time to get
ready for their intended use or sale, are capitalised as
part of the cost of those assets. The capitalisation of such
borrowing costs ceases when the assets are substantially
ready for their intended use or sale. Investment income
earned on the temporary investment of specific
borrowings pending their expenditure on qualifying assets
is deducted from the borrowing costs capitalised. All
other borrowing costs are expensed in the period in which
they are incurred. Borrowing costs consist of interest and
other costs that an entity incurs in connection with the
borrowing of funds.
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

Final dividends proposed by the directors are classified as
a separate allocation of retained profits within the equity
section of the statement of financial position, until they
have been approved by the shareholders in a general
meeting. When these dividends have been approved by
the shareholders and declared, they are recognised as a
liability.

These financial statements are presented in Hong
Kong dollars, which is the Company’s functional
and presentation currency. Each entity in the Group
determines its own functional currency and items
included in the financial statements of each entity are
measured using that functional currency. Foreign currency
transactions recorded by the entities in the Group are
initially recorded using their respective functional currency
rates prevailing at the dates of the transactions. Monetary
assets and liabilities denominated in foreign currencies are
retranslated at the functional currency rates of exchange
ruling at the end of the reporting period. Differences
arising on settlement or translation of monetary items
are recognised in the income statement. Non-monetary
items that are measured in terms of historical cost in a
foreign currency are translated using the exchange rates
at the dates of the initial transactions. Non-monetary
items measured at fair value in a foreign currency are
translated using the exchange rates at the date when
the fair value was determined. The gain or loss arising on
translation of a non-monetary item measured at fair value
is treated in line with the recognition of the gain or loss on
change in fair value of the item (i.e., translation difference
on the item whose fair value gain or loss is recognised
in other comprehensive income or profit or loss is also
recognised in other comprehensive income or profit or
loss, respectively).
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

The functional currencies of certain overseas subsidiaries,
associates and the jointly-controlled entity are currencies
other than the Hong Kong dollar. As at the end of the
reporting period, the assets and liabilities of these entities
are translated into the presentation currency of the
Company at the exchange rates prevailing at the end
of the reporting period and their income statements are
translated into Hong Kong dollars at the weighted average
exchange rates for the year. The resulting exchange
differences are recognised in other comprehensive
income and accumulated in a separate component of
equity. On disposal of a foreign operation, the component
of other comprehensive income relating to that particular
foreign operation is recognised in the income statement.

Any goodwill arising on the acquisition of a foreign
operation and any fair value adjustments to the carrying
amounts of assets and liabilities arising on acquisition are
treated as assets and liabilities of the foreign operation
and translated at the closing rate.

For the purpose of the consolidated statement of
cash flows, the cash flows of overseas subsidiaries
are translated into Hong Kong dollars at the exchange
rates ruling at the dates of the cash flows. Frequently
recurring cash flows of overseas subsidiaries which arise
throughout the year are translated into Hong Kong dollars
at the weighted average exchange rates for the year.
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3.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
JUDGEMENTS AND ESTIMATES

The preparation of the Group’s financial statements
requires management to make judgements, estimates
and assumptions that affect the reported amounts of
revenues, expenses, assets and liabilities, and their
accompanying disclosures, and the disclosure of
contingent liabilities. Uncertainty about these assumptions
and estimates could result in outcomes that could require
a material adjustment to the carrying amounts of the
assets or liabilities affected in the future.

In the process of applying the Group’s accounting
policies, management has made the following
judgements, apart from those involving estimations,
which have the most significant effect on the amounts
recognised in the financial statements:

The Group has entered into commercial property leases
on its investment property portfolio. The Group has
determined, based on an evaluation of the terms and
conditions of the arrangements, that it retains all the
significant risks and rewards of ownership of these
properties which are leased out on operating leases.

The Group determines whether a property qualifies as an
investment property, and has developed criteria in making
that judgement. Investment property is a property held to
earn rentals or for capital appreciation or both. Therefore,
the Group considers whether a property generates cash
flows largely independently of the other assets held by the
Group.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
JUDGEMENTS AND ESTIMATES

(Continued)

Some properties comprise a portion that is held to earn
rentals or for capital appreciation and another portion that
is held for use in the production or supply of goods or
services or for administrative purposes. If these portions
could be sold separately (or leased out separately under
a finance lease), the Group accounts for the portions
separately. If the portions could not be sold separately, the
property is an investment property only if an insignificant
portion is held for use in the production or supply
of goods or services or for administrative purposes.
Judgement is made on an individual property basis to
determine whether ancillary services are so significant that
a property does not qualify as an investment property.

The Group develops properties held for sale and
properties held to earn rentals and/or for capital
appreciation. Judgement is made by management in
determining whether a property is designated as an
investment property or a property held for sale. The
Group considers its intention of holding the properties
at the early development stage of the related properties.
During the course of construction, the related properties
under construction are accounted for as properties under
development if the properties are intended for sale after
its completion, whereas, the properties are accounted
for as investment properties under construction if the
properties are intended to be held to earn rentals and/
or for capital appreciation. Upon completion of the
properties, the properties held for sale are transferred to
completed properties held for sale and are stated at cost,
while the properties held to earn rentals and/or for capital
appreciation are transferred to investment properties and
are subject to revaluation at each reporting date.
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3.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
JUDGEMENTS AND ESTIMATES

(Continued)

ESTIMATION UNCERTAINTY

The key assumptions concerning the future and other
key sources of estimation uncertainty at the end of the
reporting period, that have a significant risk of causing
a material adjustment to the carrying amounts of assets
and liabilities within the next financial year, are described
below.

The Group determines whether goodwill is impaired at
least on an annual basis. This requires an estimation of
the value in use of the cash-generating units to which the
goodwill is allocated. Estimating the value in use requires
the Group to make an estimate of the expected future
cash flows from the cash-generating units and also to
choose a suitable discount rate in order to calculate the
present value of those cash flows. The carrying amount
of goodwill at 31 March 2013 was HK$40,111,000 (2012:
HK$40,111,000). More details are given in note 17.

The Group engaged independent professionally qualified
valuers to perform the valuation of the investment
properties of the Group at the end of the reporting period.
The valuations were carried out as follows:
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
JUDGEMENTS AND ESTIMATES

(Continued)

ESTIMATION UNCERTAINTY (Continued)

In the valuation, the valuers consider information from a
variety of sources, including:

(@) direct comparison approach and made reference to
the recent transactions for similar premises in the
proximity;

(b) discounted cash flow analysis which discounts
the projected free cash flows generated from the
properties at an appropriate market rate of return to
arrive at the present values of the properties; and

(c) a combination of the market and depreciated
replacement cost approach in assessing the land
portion of the properties and the buildings and
structures standing on the land respectively.

The carrying amount of investment properties of the
Group as at 31 March 2013 was HK$1,501,351,000
(2012: HK$1,446,897,000).

The Group engaged independent professionally qualified
valuers to perform the valuation of the intangible assets
of the Group at the date of acquisition of a subsidiary.
Such valuation was based on certain assumptions, which
are subject to uncertainty and might materially differ
from the actual results. The carrying amount of other
intangible assets of the Group as at 31 March 2013 was
HK$399,732,000 (2012: HK$399,732,000).
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3.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
JUDGEMENTS AND ESTIMATES

(Continued)

ESTIMATION UNCERTAINTY (Continued)

The Group is subject to income taxes in the People
Republic of China (“PRC”). As a result of the fact that
certain matters relating to the income taxes have not been
confirmed by the local tax bureau, objective estimate
and judgement based on currently enacted tax laws,
regulations and other related policies are required in
determining the provision for income taxes to be made.
Where the final tax outcome of these matters is different
from the amounts originally recorded, the differences will
impact on the income tax and tax provisions in the period
in which the differences realise.

The Group is subject to LAT in the PRC. The provision
for LAT is based on management’s best estimates
according to the understanding of the requirements set
forth in the relevant PRC tax laws and regulations. The
actual LAT liabilities are subject to the determination by
the tax authorities upon the completion of the property
development projects. As the Group has not finalised its
LAT calculation and payments with the tax authorities
for certain of its property development projects, the final
outcome could be different from the amounts that were
initially recorded.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
JUDGEMENTS AND ESTIMATES

(Continued)

The Group assesses whether there are any indicators of
impairment for all non-financial assets at the end of each
reporting period. Indefinite life intangible assets are tested
for impairment annually and at other times when such an
indicator exists. Other non-financial assets are tested for
impairment when there are indicators that the carrying
amounts may not be recoverable. An impairment exists
when the carrying value of an asset or a cash-generating
unit exceeds its recoverable amount, which is the higher
of its fair value less costs to sell and its value in use. The
calculation of the fair value less costs to sell is based
on available data from binding sales transactions in an
arm’s length transaction of similar assets or observable
market prices less incremental costs for disposing of the
asset. When value in use calculations are undertaken,
management must estimate the expected future cash
flows for the asset or cash-generating unit and choose
a suitable discount rate in order to calculate the present
value of those cash flows.

Deferred tax assets are recognised for unused tax
losses to the extent that it is probable that taxable
profit will be available against which the losses can be
utilised. Significant management judgement is required
to determine the amount of deferred tax assets that can
be recognised, based upon the likely timing and level of
future taxable profits together with future tax planning
strategies. The carrying value of deferred tax assets
relating to recognised tax losses at 31 March 2013 was
HK$1,807,000 (2012: HK$1,929,000 (as restated)).
Further details are contained in note 32 to the financial
statements.
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3.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
JUDGEMENTS AND ESTIMATES

(Continued)

ESTIMATION UNCERTAINTY (Continued)

Development costs of properties are recorded as
properties under development during the construction
stage and will be transferred to properties held for sale
upon completion. An apportionment of these costs will be
recognised in the income statement upon the recognition
of the sales of completed properties. Before the final
settlement of the development costs and other costs
relating to the sale of the completed properties, these
costs are accrued by the Group based on management’s
best estimate.

When developing properties, the Group may divide the
development projects into phases. Specific costs directly
related to the development of a phase are recorded as the
cost of such phase. Costs that are common to phases
are allocated to individual phases based on the estimated
saleable area of the entire project.

Where the final settlement of costs and the related
cost allocation is different from the initial estimates, any
increase or decrease in the development costs and other
costs would affect the profit or loss in future years.
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OPERATING SEGMENT
INFORMATION

For management purposes, the Group is organised into
business units based on their products and services and
has three reportable operating segments as follows:

(@ the restaurant, food and hotel segment is engaged
in restaurant and hotel operations and the provision
of food and beverage services;

(b) the property investment and development segment
comprises the development and sale of properties
and the leasing of commercial and residential
premises; and

(c) the “others” segment comprises, principally,
investment holding and other operations.

Management monitors the results of its operating
segments separately for the purpose of making
decisions about resources allocation and performance
assessment. Segment performance is evaluated based
on reportable segment profit, which is a measure of
adjusted profit before tax. The adjusted profit before tax
is measured consistently with the Group’s profit before
tax except that bank interest income, interest income
from an other receivable, certain fair value gains/(losses)
from the Group’s financial instruments, finance costs
as well as corporate expenses are excluded from such
measurement.

Intersegment sales and transfers are transacted with
reference to the selling prices used for sales made to third
parties at the then prevailing market prices.
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4. OPERATING SEGMENT
INFORMATION (Continued)

Year ended 31 March 2013

%I I\ K
SR
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BE-ZE—=F=ZA=+—HLEE

Property
Restaurant,  investment
food and and
hotel development Others Total
mE- MERE
BRRERE REE Hitr @t
HK$'000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$°000
TER TER TER TER
Segment revenue: DBRA:
Sales to external customers HETIAEFR 600,821 147,658 - 748,479
Intersegment sales NEEZEE 1,922 6,526 - 8,448
756,927
Reconciliation: LD -
Elimination of intersegment sales ~ Hi#59) 2bfE 2 tHE 5 (8,448)
Total revenue FEEON 748,479
Segment results DHEE 98,837 194,581 (320) 293,098
Reconciliation: e -
Bank interest income RITHEWA 1,516
Unallocated other income and RAOBEEMBA R
gains, net FE 8,180
Corporate and unallocated expenses 1> % K A2 sz i (41,614)
Finance costs A (47,305)
Profit before tax W 4 A 213,875
Other segment information: HitoHER:
Changes In fair value of investment  R& W% 7 A FEE
properties, net B - 70,693 - 70,693
Fair value gain on financial assets at & /A F{B5/8R R B+
fair value through profit or loss, net ~ RIEZ & RIEEZ
NFEWE 358
- unallocated -XHKE 1,243
Fair value gain on derivative MTETRZATERE-
instruments — transactions not THEHHER LIRS
qualifying as hedges, net R
- segment - - 32,477 - 32,477
- unallocated X5 6,085

38,562
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4. OPERATING SEGMENT 4. B2 HER (9
INFORMATION (Continued)
Year ended 31 March 2013 BE-_Z—=%=A=1+—HILEE
Property
Restaurant,  investment
food and and
hotel development Others Total
BRRRBE RERE Hitr @zt
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$°000
TER TER TER TER
Other segment information: HtrpHEs: (F)
(Continued)
Share of profits and losses of FEAGH & A R)s 7l BB 18
associates - 5,420 - 5,420
Equity-settled share option expense Wiz 4 & 7 B ER T
- segment -nH - 652 - 652
- unallocated -kHE 5,176
5,828
Impairment of trade debtors FEWE F RS Z/DETE 270 1,295 - 1,565
Recognition of prepaid land lease ~ #R B L E
payment 409 - - 409
Depreciation neE
- segment -9 27,012 8,486 - 35,498
- unallocated VL 2,329
37,827
Interests in associates BENAES - 253,165 158 253,323
Capital expenditure BARRY
- segment — %8 14,344 11,419 - 25,763
- unallocated KPR 3,534
29,297+
* Capital expenditure consists of additions to property, plant * BERRYBERBEYSE WEREE-

and equipment.
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OPERATING SEGMENT

ML
INFORMATION (Continued)
Year ended 31 March 2012 e Z——F=-A=+—HItFE
Property
Restaurant, investment
food and and
hotel development Others Total
i MERE
BB E KR Hity @t
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TET TET TET TET
Segment revenue: 2EBA
Sales to external customers HETIRER 621,958 550,811 = 1,172,769
Intersegment sales DEE . HE 1,010 6,318 - 7,328
1,180,097
Reconciliation: A
Elimination of intersegment sales ~ #$ 7 2F 8 2 $5 & 58 (7,328)
Total revenue BIRA 1,172,769
Segment results PWEE 96,828 214,059 (405) 310,482
Reconciliation: I
Bank interest income AT B YA 2,683
Interest income from an other Hb W2 Fl B A
receivable 137
Unallocated other income and ROBEAMBA KM
gains, net FE 1,230
Corporate and unallocated rERRAEXH
expenses (39,514)
Finance costs B R A (42,626)
Profit before tax R 250 A A 232,392
Other segment information: ~ Ht 2 &R :
Changes in fair value of investment &M% 2 N FEES
properties, net FE = 91,335 = 91,335
Fair value loss on financial assets &2 FEFIR kR BT
at fair value through profit or BEZEREELZ
loss, net ~YERE FE
- unallocated VL (26)
Fair value loss on derivative TETIAEZ A TEEE-
instruments - transactions not ~~ FMEAUMER LS
qualifying as hedges
- unallocated N (11,085)
Share of profits and losses of (B AR A RSB
associates - 1,087 - 1,087
Equity-settled share option NERZEE 7 BIRERY
expense
- segment ik = 1,026 = 1,026
- unallocated Ty 659

1,685
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INFORMATION (Continued)
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Year ended 31 March 2012 BE-_ZT——F=-A=+—HItFE
Property
Restaurant, investment
food and and
hotel  development Others Total
B2 MERE \
RRRBE RER Hith @it
HK$’OO_O HK$'O@ HK$'O@ HK$'O(p
AT THT THT AT
Other segment information: ~ Htt 2 HEH : (&)
(Continued)
Impairment of trade debtors EWESERRE 468 1,686 = 2,154
Recognition of prepaid land lease R BN Lit A EZE
payment 404 - - 404
Depreciation e
- segment - 28,918 10,180 - 39,098
- unallocated —-KOE 1,637
40,735
Interests in associates BENEES - 256,369 158 256,527
Capital expenditure BARRY
- segment - 8,357 31,955 - 40,312
- unallocated Vol 3,732
44,044

*k

Capital expenditure consists of additions to property, plant
and equipment and investment properties.

* BARXBERENE BEERER
BREME-
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4. OPERATING SEGMENT
INFORMATION (Continued)

3
HA

W

BoBEE R )

Y

GEOGRAPHICAL INFORMATION H 3% & Rl
2013 2012
—E—=£F —E——fF
HK$’000 HK$’000
FHExT FHET
Hong Kong BB 45,715 47,461
Mainland China PR K B 702,764 1,125,308
748,479 1,172,769

The revenue information above is based on the

B AERTIRIRR P AE 2

locations of the customers. % i1 5E °
2013 2012
—E—-=F —E——4F
HK$’000 HK$’000
FExT FAT
Hong Kong BB 182,565 169,250
Mainland China B K 3,280,774 3,276,857
3,463,339 3,446,107

LiIEREBEEER TIRIBEERM
rEziwEmE (£ TERIN) -

The non-current assets information above is based
on the locations of the assets and excludes financial
instruments.

HE_T—=FK_Z——_F=H
—t+—BUHFE TERFEFEAEEEZ
A Z10%ER A L o

No customer accounted for 10% or more of the Group’s
total revenue for the years ended 31 March 2013 and
2012.



REVENUE

Revenue, which is also the Group’s turnover, represents
gross restaurant and food business income and net
invoiced value of goods sold, net of relevant business
tax and allowances for trade discounts; income from
rendering of hotel and other services; proceeds from
sale of properties; and gross rental income received and

receivable during the year.
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i A

WA RARE 2 €X8 HFNEE
EREMEBRARBENCEERERF
BERMEREXHNLE SR 2B
JE R E MRS 2 WA HE M EMERK

15K

B kW kEE S WALLE-

An analysis of revenue is as follows: WA :
Group
rE
2013 2012
—E-=£F ==
HK$'000 HK$'000
FERT FET
Income from hotel, restaurant and BIE BB RRMEBIRA
food businesses 600,821 621,958
Gross rental income e W ABsE 67,143 68,469
Proceeds from sale of properties HEMEFTE IR 80,515 482,342
748,479 1,172,769

PROFIT BEFORE TAX 6. BB Ay i Al
The Group’s profit before tax is arrived at after charging/ AEBRBAEFEMER(FTA) :
(crediting):
Group
RE
2013 2012
—E—=5F —Eg—=
Notes HK$’000 HK$’000
Bt FExT FHET
Cost of inventories sold and EEFEREREEREZ
services provided DN 401,851 697,751
Depreciation e 14 37,827 40,735
Recognition of prepaid land HERIE N L E s
lease payment 16 409 404
Lease payments under operating /A B 1 ith K18 F 4L &
leases for land and buildings: MAzHE -
Minimum lease payments =EBEER R 27,475 26,787
Contingent rents AT S 1,069 1,520
28,544 28,307
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6. PROFIT BEFORE TAX (Continued)

6. BB Ei% Al om)

Group
RE
2013 2012
—E—-=F —E——fF
Notes HK$’000 HK$’000
B 5 FET FHT
Auditors’ remuneration % 5 Bl 3 B 2,850 2,923
Employee benefit expense EERARX
(excluding directors’ (EEZH BRI
remuneration (note 8))*: (PtzE8) ) *:
Wages and salaries TERE® 105,487 104,507
Equity-settled share option NEREE 2
expense R 787 1,319
Pension scheme contributions Rk & 5T 2|t 5k
(defined contribution (REHKETE)
scheme) 10,390 8,967
116,664 114,793
Equity-settled share option BB IRERGE T
expense in respect of share —FEEERE
options granted to a consultant  LAMEZSAE &
for services rendered 2 BIRERX 2,678 -
Foreign exchange differences,  [E X = %8 %(&
net 835 5,606
Impairment of trade debtors EUE ZER R 2 RE 27 1,565 2,154
Fair value losses/(gains), net: AEEEE (W) -
FRE
Financial assets at fair value BEAFEYERRRER
through profit or loss FREEZEHEE (1,243) 26
Derivative instruments — PTETE-TRFE LM
transactions not qualifying as B 25
hedges (38,562) 11,085
Available-for-sale investments AHHERE (RHER
(transfer from equity on B )
disposal) (38,389) -
Gain on disposal of an HEREYE 2 W
investment property (8,000) =
Changes in fair value of REVMFENFEZE FHE
investment properties, net 15 (70,693) (91,335)
Gross rental income A& WA 42 %E (67,143) (68,469)
Direct operating expenses e o EME
(including repairs and EXvEELETN
maintenance) arising on rental- (B IE#E R RS)
earning investment properties 4,526 1,800
(62,617) (66,669)
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6. PROFIT BEFORE TAX (Continued) 6. BB r i Al a0
Group
rE
2013 2012
—E—-=F —FT——4F
Notes HK$’000 HK$’'000
B 5 FERT FHET
Bank interest income RITH B U A (1,516) (2,683)
Interest income from an other ~ E b U F 2 FI| BUZ A
receivable - (137)
Dividend income from AHEEERE ZKRBEWA
available-for-sale investments (66,672) (22,224)
Loss on disposal of items of HEME  ME&EHE
property, plant and HEB 2 BE - F8E
equipment, net 217 214
# Inclusive of an amount of HK$78,429,000 (2012: e BRIBRAECETERERERT 2
HK$74,733,000) classified under cost of inventories sold X A878,429,0008 T (Z & — —F:
and services provided 74,733,000/ 7T )
7. FINANCE COSTS 7. BB RA
Group
rE
2013 2012
—E-=F —FT——4F
HK$’000 HK$’000
FERT FHET
Interest in respect of: EETIEEZAE
Bank loans, overdrafts and other RITER BEXRARAF
loans (including convertible notes) NERHEENIRERER
wholly repayable within five years ZHMER (B IETHRR
or on demand Z15) 63,825 42,640
Bank loans not wholly repayable BERAFERNBHREEZ
within five years RITER 232 10,540
Finance leases AEEL 98 -
Total interest expense on financial WIER A FEHERRREBERETF
liabilities not at fair value through REZEMBEZ
profit or loss MEFRXBE 64,155 53,180
Less: Interest capitalised B BEMEF B (16,850) (10,554)
47,305 42,626
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8. DIRECTORS’ REMUNERATION

Directors’ remuneration for the year, disclosed pursuant
to the Rules Governing the Listing of the Securities on
The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the “Listing
Rules”) and Section 161 of the Hong Kong Companies
Ordinance, is as follows:

8.

EEMe
RIEBEEBHAXSMARARZES LT
BAI(TEMAA]) REEREEHE
161ERBEESMa LT :

Group

rEH
2013 2012
—E—-= —E——4F
HK$’000 HK$'000
FExT FBT
Fees B 600 300

Other emoluments: E A<

Salaries and allowances Fre KoERL 8,636 7,130
Bonuses paid and payable* BT R ERTEAT 7,978 5,290
Equity-settled share option expense  MARR 19 45 E BB IR 7 & 4 2,363 366
Pension scheme contributions RIRET B FR 194 157
19,171 12,943
19,771 13,243

* Certain executive directors of the Company are entitled to
bonus payments which are approved by the Remuneration
Committee with reference to the Group’s current year
profit and the individual’s performance.

During the year, certain directors were granted share
options, in respect of their services to the Group, under
the share option scheme of the Company, further details
of which are set out in note 37 to the financial statements.
The fair value of such options, which has been recognised
in the income statement over the vesting period, was
determined as at the date of grant and the amount
included in the financial statements for the current year is
included in the above directors’ remuneration disclosures.

Y ARRBETHTESAES ZIEAR
REMEZESRUERDEAEEEF
o A BLE AR MEEE °

RAFE  ETEZRBAREE 2R
AR BB B R BRE - FI5
HN M B IRKRM 37 - ZFBEREZ L
FE(EXEBHANBRRTER) T
ERTBEHFE MEt ARFERB
BRHRANDBRE LREFHES R

E‘go



8. DIRECTORS’ REMUNERATION 8.

(Continued)

(A) INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE
DIRECTORS

The fees paid to independent non-executive
directors during the year were as follows:
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EEM 2

(A By EHATEF

REFEENBIIENTESHEEN
T

2013 —E-=fF
Fees
we
HK$°000
FERT
Mr. Lo Ming Chi, Charles B EE 200
Mr. Lo Man Kit, Sam B 200
Mr. Wong See King BRBEAE 200
600

2012 —E——4F
Fees
HK$’000
FHET
Mr. Lo Ming Chi, Charles B L AE 100
Mr. Lo Man Kit, Sam B HEEE 100
Mr. Wong See King EEBAE 100
300

There were no other emoluments payable to the AEEWERMNBYIFNTEEY

independent non-executive directors during the year
(2012: Nil).

HEtile (ZF——F |E) -

135
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8. DIRECTORS’ REMUNERATION 8. #EMZ (m)
(Continued)
(B) EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS B) HiTE S
Salaries Bonuses  Equity-settled Pension
and paidand  share option scheme Total
Fees allowances payable expense contributions  remuneration
2R HURBEE Bie
ne  HERER EREA RREX W sHEER MepE
HK$'000 HK$’000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TR TR TR TR TER TER
2013 —E-=F%
Executive directors: WIES:
Mr. Ma Kai Cheung ENELE - 2,347 2,499 - 52 4,898
Mr. Ma Kai Yum ENgEsE - 1,956 2,499 - 52 4,507
Mr. Chan Sheung Lai, Jimmy*  BRi& L 4+ - 968 758 988 4 2,718
Mr. Ng Yan Kwong RENREE - 1,929 1,389 825 62 4,205
Mr. Ma Hung Ming, John ) it - 659 833 550 12 2,054
Mr. Yuen Wai Man* REXEE - 77 - - 12 789
- 8,636 7,978 2,363 194 19,171
Salaries Bonuses Equity-settled Pension
and paid and share option scheme Total
Fees allowances payable expense contributions remuneration
2R HRBEE B#ie
ik FoR2H ERTEA AREXZH TEHR Hewm
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FTHT FHT FTHT FTHT FTHT FTHT
2012 ZZ-ZF
Executive directors: WIES:
Mr. Ma Kai Cheung ENEEL S 2,350 1,831 S 52 4233
Mr. Ma Kai Yum ENREE = 1,648 1,831 = 31 3,510
Mr. Ng Yan Kwong RENXEE - 1,699 1,017 183 50 2,949
Mr. Ma Hung Ming, John )t S 661 611 183 12 1,467
Mr. Yuen Wai Man* REXEE - 772 - - 12 784
- 7,130 5,290 366 157 12,943
* Appointed as executive director on 22 October * %;%ﬁi:¢+ﬂ —t-HEZ
2012 ERHTES
**  Resigned as executive director on 10 June 2013 R ZE—=FXNA+HBEEHT
E=
There was no arrangement under which a director waived RENEBEMBEARESRESA

A 5
N

or agreed to waive any remuneration during the year. B A
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9. FIVE HIGHEST PAID EMPLOYEES’ 9. ifiFHEME 2k A
REMUNERATION

The five highest paid employees of the Group during the BE-_ZT—=K=-_FT—=-F=H
years ended 31 March 2013 and 2012 were also the =t+—BIEFEZAERRUSZEEE
executive directors of the Company, details of whose BIAARRGBIRNITES  EHEMNFER
remuneration are set out in note 8 above. HIR _EXXHIEES ©
10. INCOME TAX 10. i 3 B
Hong Kong profits tax has been provided at the rate of BEAEMERDOBEBEFARRE S 2
16.5% (2012: 16.5%) on the estimated assessable profits SRR R FIE16.5% (ZF——F:
arising in Hong Kong during the year. Taxes on profits 16.5% ) 2 TR FT E B - P BIRREFER
assessable in Mainland China have been calculated at the M Al 2 I8 T R B KB 2 BT &
rates of tax prevailing in Mainland China. T8
Group
rEE
2013 2012
—E-—=5 —E——fF
HK$’000 HK$’000
FET FHET
(Restated)
(&%)
Group A&
Current — Hong Kong BNEI—&B
Charge for the year REFZH 528 720
Current — Mainland China BVHA — rp B K e
CIT BEMEH 29,132 46,989
LAT T IR B 3,713 13,001
Overprovision in prior years BEFEBERE (46) —
Deferred (note 32) EIE (Fi5E32) 12,969 14,890
Total tax charge for the year AEEHEBIAT N 46,296 75,600
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10. INCOME TAX (Continued) 10. Fir 4% Bt (a0
A reconciliation of the tax expense applicable to profit ST NS AR E AR AR AT AR IR A
before tax at the statutory rate for the jurisdiction in EMEFE UARBREETEWRER
which the Company and the majority of its subsidiaries is T 7 s i DA S B T Ml b 2 A AR &
domiciled to the tax expense at the effective tax rate, and STEREREY  WAS BB EEER (AIZ
a reconciliation of the applicable rate (.., the statutory tax EEMER)EERMMEZ LR AT :
rate) to the effective tax rate, are as follows:
Group
&
2013 2012
—E-Z=F —E——F
HK$’000 % HK$'000 %
TER FET
(Restated)
(271)
Profit before tax R 25 Al i ) 213,875 232,392
Tax at the Hong Kong statutory IR EBEER R E
tax rate HIE 35,289 16.5 38,345 16.5
Higher tax rate of specific REAERTEENRRZ
provinces in Mainland China T & 2,465 141 15,306 6.6
Adjustments in respect of RBEHENEHTE
current tax of previous periods HE (46) - = =
Profits and losses attributable FE{GEE 2 A AR R
to associates BB 894 0.4 179 0.1
Income not subject to tax BAHH WA (34,055) (15.9) (5,626) (2.4)
Expenses not deductible for tax AAERBNR 2 ER 30,317 14.2 21,554 9.3
LAT T EER 3,590 1.6 10,698 46
Tax losses utilised from EBRBTERL
previous periods HEEE (45) - (5,224) 2.3)
Tax losses not recognised AR BHIEEE 7,887 3.7 368 0.1
Tax charge at the Group’s BASEERHEGEL
effective rate WY 46,296 21.6 75,600 325




11. PROFIT ATTRIBUTABLE TO OWNERS

12.

OF THE PARENT

The consolidated profit attributable to owners of the
parent for the year ended 31 March 2013 includes a
profit of HK$114,414,000 (2012: loss of HK$8,312,000)
which has been dealt with in the financial statements of
the Company. In addition, the Company also recorded
dividend income of HK$314,987,000 (2012: Nil) from
a subsidiary attributable to previous years’ profits. In
aggregate, the Company’s profit for the year ended 31
March 2013 amounted to HK$429,401,000 (note 38(b)).
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11. B G 8 A A\ JE 1) 6 F

BE-_T—ZF-A=Z=+—HLFE"
BARHEEAEGEEZEE RN BERF
114,414,0008 L (ZE—Z_F : [F#E
8,312,000 7T) ' E R AR R I # &
FARRERE B IN RNDQ R INERS FEAE
—HWBRRBEFE R ZBREWA
314,987,0008 L (ZE—ZF : &) - &
E-E-—=F=ZF=+—RHItFE K
N A2 R A H5429,401,000% 7T (Ft
FE38(b)) °

DIVIDENDS 12. i 8
2013 2012
—E—= —E——%F
HK$’000 HK$’000
FExT FHET
Proposed final - HK5 cents (2012: & K8 — &I I @ RSB
HK4 cents) per ordinary share T F4E) 57,789 45,777
Proposed special — HK30 cents EzEh-8gRrREBR
(2012: Nil) per ordinary share 0B (ZZE—=F: |) 346,731 -
404,520 45777
Additional 2012 final —E - FEEINRE 280 -

The proposed final and special dividends for the year are
subject to the approval of the Company’s shareholders at

the forthcoming annual general meeting.

\

/

AERZZBRYPRFHREAFAR
AIRRREE B2 BRBFEAS L1
f o
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13. EARNINGS PER SHARE 13. B 2 &) % i % HE 75 A ON JE A
ATTRIBUTABLE TO ORDINARY 3 fix & Al
EQUITY HOLDERS OF THE PARENT
The calculation of basic earnings per share is based FREAZMNIBRBEG AT jﬁLH&%%
on the profit for the year attributable to ordinary equity BABRGARFEREMNERFEFABETER
holders of the parent, and the weighted average B& 2 hn#E 19 $1,149,564,913f% (_
number of ordinary shares of 1,149,564,913 (2012: — % :1,144,373,967 )5t & -
1,144,373,967) in issue during the year.
The calculation of diluted earnings per share is based SREERAF R ED QR L AERER
on the profit for the year attributable to ordinary equity BABEARFEE aMzE WEDFARE
holders of the parent, adjusted to reflect the interest on DA&%T%HQ%‘%V@Z?U SN E S
the convertible notes and fair value gain on derivative ZPTETEE 1 NEERGE -EFE
component of the convertible notes. The weighted FrFTER A 2 SRR i F S A REtE
average number of ordinary shares used in the calculation ERERBNFARAZFEFAEEITEB
is the number of ordinary shares in issue during the year, BEEE - A &%ﬁf’jﬂﬁ S EE i Fﬁﬁ%ﬁ
as used in the basic earnings per share calculation, and BELTRRALBRERREEER
the weighted average number of ordinary shares assumed K E B IR I S
to have been issued at no consideration on the deemed
exercise or conversion of all dilutive potential ordinary
shares into ordinary shares.
The calculations of basic and diluted earnings per share ERERBANREERANTEER
are based on:
2013 2012
—E—-=F —E——fF
HK$’000 HK$’000
FERT FHET
(Restated)
(&%)
Earnings B
Profit attributable to ordinary equity AR EERERZRN 2
holders of the parent, used in the (SN Tjt BIRERA A
basic earnings per share calculation &1 3% 153,427 113,633
Interest on convertible notes ARERREZFE 2,600 =
Less: Fair value gain on the derivative & : AR ZIR 2 HTET A
component of the convertible iz A FEKE
notes (8,041) -
Profit attributable to ordinary equity 1B AJ IR ZiE 2 F 8
holders of the parent before AR AR EARERFE A
interest on convertible notes i lepial 147,986 113,633
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13. B} A 5] % 4 Ji% 6 ok B O\ JE 44
5Kk & A m

EQUITY HOLDERS OF THE PARENT

(Continued)
Number of shares
g 4=
2013 2012
—E—=5F —_F—=

Shares B 5

Weighted average number of ordinary AR FTESREARBF 2 F KX

shares in issue during the year BEITE R INE T

used in the basic earnings
per share calculation

1,149,564,913

1,144,373,967

Effect of dilution — weighted average

BEorE - LA

number of ordinary shares: IniEFHE
Share options i g e 13,407,964 13,983,900
Convertible notes Al AR E iR 8,266,826 =

1,171,239,703 | 1,158,357,867

141
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14. PROPERTY, PLANT AND

—=#=f=+-A

14. % %~ BB &

i ffi

Group rEE
Furniture,
Hotel Land and Leasehold Plantand fixtures and Motor  Construction
properties buildings improvements machinery  equipment vehicles in progress Total
BE BER  BA-#EB
BENE  LHRET NEER B R%fE EH ERIR L]
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TER TERT TER TET TEn TET TER TET
31 March 2013 —E-=f=f=1-H
At 1 April 2012: RZE-ZF
mA—-A:
Cost or valuation BRAESAE 401,382 95,323 121,633 28,671 79,706 28,654 - 755,369
Accumulated depreciationand it ERFE
impairment (46,729)  (27,967)  (106,339) (10,311) (63,866) (14,359) - (269,571)
Net carrying amount REFE 354,653 67,356 15,294 18,360 15,840 14,295 - 485,798
At 1 April 2012, net of W=%2--4MmA-A"
accumulated depreciation BB RETE R
and impairment 354,653 67,356 15,204 18,360 15,840 14,295 - 485,798
Additions RE 4,522 11,355 4,391 1,084 1,747 5,010 1,188 29,297
Depreciation provided FRNERE (Hi6)
during the year (note 6) (11,480) 4,731) (7,656) (2,430) (6,794) (4,736) - (37,827)
Disposals et - - - (33) (60) (255) - (348)
Exchange realignment R A% 2,358 355 88 50 77 61 7 2,996
At 31 March 2013, net of W-2-=%
accumulated depreciation =A=t-AR"
and impairment BB EHTERRE 350,053 74,335 12,117 17,031 10,810 14,375 1,195 479,916
At 31 March 2013 RZE-=F
EfETr=0Ee
Cost or valuation ERAEREE 408,644 107,099 108,219 29,708 79,756 30,704 1,195 765,325
Accumulated depreciationand it ERAE
impairment (58,591) (32,764 (96,102) (12,677) (68,946) (16,329) - (285,409)
Net carrying amount BEFHE 350,053 74,335 12,117 17,031 10,810 14,375 1,195 479,916




14. PROPERTY, PLANT AND
EQUIPNIENT (Continued)
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14. W%~ W B K& fld o)

Group i EE
Furniture,
Hotel Land and Leasehold Plantand  fixtures and Motor  Construction
properties buildings  improvements machinery equipment vehicles in progress Total
HE BER  GM-%E
BENE  THRET NEXE e Ri% B ERIR it
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TET T FET T TET T T THr
31 March 2012 “T--f=Zf=1+-A
At 1 April 2011: RZE-—4MA-A:
Cost or valuation BRAES A 385,423 83,704 99,736 27,624 74,503 18,934 1,234 691,158
Accumulated depreciationand it ERFE
impairment (34,128) (23,539) (91,468) (7,646) (54,307) (11,384) - (222472
Net carrying amount REFE 351,295 60,165 8,268 19,978 20,196 7,550 1,234 468,686
At 1 April 2011, net of RZE-——4MA-A"
accumulated depreciation BB HERAE
and impairment 351,295 60,165 8,268 19,978 20,196 7,550 1,234 468,686
Additions HE 2,214 4,874 3,644 541 3,307 10,078 18,439 43,097
Depreciation provided during the ~ FRTE#& 1 (H6)
year (note 6) (11,260) (4.278) (11,535) (2,449) (8,106) (3,107) S (40,735)
Disposals HE - - - (45) (197) (507) - (749)
Reclassification/Transfers BHAE/BR - 4,983 14,720 = = = (19,703) =
Exchange realignment B 5 AR 12,404 1,612 197 335 640 281 30 15,499
At 31 March 2012, net of RZE-CF
accumulated depreciation EfET=Er
and impairment BB RHAERAE 354,653 67,356 15,204 18,360 15,840 14,295 = 485,798
At 31 March 2012: WZ%-=%
=A=t+-R:
Cost or valuation BRAESAE 401,382 95,323 121,633 28,671 79,706 28,654 = 755,369
Accumulated depreciationand it ERFE
impairment (46,729) (27,967)  (106,339) (10,311) (63,866) (14,359) - (269,571)
Net carrying amount REFE 354,653 67,356 15,294 18,360 15,840 14,295 = 485,798

The net carrying amount of the Group’s items of property,
plant and equipment held under finance leases included
in the total amount of motor vehicles at 31 March 2013

amounted to HK$2,397,000 (2012: Nil).

R—_ZTE—=F=ZA=+—H8 REH
BHERAFAREBESEZAEH
ME - BEERRECEEZEERFER
2,397,000 L (ZE—ZF &) -
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14. PROPERTY, PLANT AND
EQUIPI“ENT (Continued)

Certain of the Group’s leasehold land and buildings were
revalued at 31 March 1995, by independent professionally
qualified valuers at an open market value based on their
existing use. Since 1995, no further valuation of the
Group’s leasehold land and buildings has been carried
out, as the Group has relied upon the exemption, granted
under the transitional provisions in paragraph 80A of
HKAS 16, from the requirement to carry out further
revaluations of its property, plant and equipment which
were stated at valuation at that time.

Had these leasehold land and buildings been carried
at historical cost less accumulated depreciation and
any impairment losses, their total carrying amount
would have been approximately HK$1,351,000 (2012:
HK$1,453,000).

At 31 March 2013, certain of the Group’s property,
plant and equipment with a net carrying amount of
approximately HK$377,071,000 (2012: HK$382,611,000)
were pledged to secure general banking facilities granted
to the Group (note 43).

14. % 5%~ W5 R ak fis (a0

BYEXMGEMEREA MG EER
RATER-NANBAE=RA=+—0Y%
AEFEETHELHRETETER-
B-ANRFE AEEZHET R
BFUEETE-—FTER RARAE
BEEREEEGERE16HTE
BOAR 2 BRIGF R L 2 R HZER
BERZGHEIRZYE BEEREE
TE—FEBZHE-

Wz EHE L i RIEF IR LK AR
S ITE MEMRERSE AR H@8
EEEELA1,351,0008 7T (ZE—=
F 11,453,000/ 7T ) °

R—_TE—=ZF=ZA=+—H8 &x&H
HEBR®EFEH377,071,000% T (=
T— 4 :382,611,00087T) 2E T
¥ BB REREERE  EAXEEER
—MRIBITEE ZER (MH5E43) »



14. PROPERTY, PLANT AND
EQUIPNIENT (Continued)
The analysis of the cost/valuation of the Group’s land and

buildings and hotel properties by geographical location
and lease term is as follows:
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14. % 5%~ W5 K ak fis (a0

AEEZRMERRAESFHE S 2 Tt Kk
BFRBEEMENKAEHED TN
T

Group
rEE
2013 2012
—_E—= —E——4F
HK$’000 HK$’000
FET FHT
Medium term leasehold land and REBZHPEEE T K&
buildings situated in Hong Kong, BF E-NNAFHE
at 1995 valuation 23,991 23,991
Medium term leasehold land and R B AR, P EIEE T &
buildings situated in Mainland China, & ' &K A&
at cost 83,108 71,332
Medium term hotel properties situated 7 A B A FE 2 A BR B JE 4 3£ -
in Mainland China, at cost LK AE 408,644 401,382
515,743 496,705
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15. INVESTMENT PROPERTIES

15. &%

Group
AEE
2013 2012
—E—-=F —E——-fF
Note HK$°000 HK$’000
=2 FERT FHET
Carrying amount REY 2 REE
at beginning of year, RiGE
at valuation 1,446,897 1,346,196
Addition (from acquisition) RE(BEERRE) - 047
Disposal HE (18,000) =
Net gain from NP ERBEEZFEF
fair value adjustments 6 70,693 91,335
Exchange realignment ME 5, 78 B 1,761 8,419
Carrying amount R=A=+—H82
at 31 March, at valuation REE RHE 1,501,351 1,446,897
Analysis by geographical b [E &5
location:
Hong Kong BB 130,159 119,510
Mainland China i B A fE 1,371,192 1,327,387
1,501,351 1,446,897

The Group’s investment properties, of which
HK$1,318,327,000 (2012: HK$1,256,923,000) are held
under medium term leases and HK$183,024,000 (2012:
HK$189,974,000) under long term leases, were revalued
on 31 March 2013 by Vigers Appraisal & Consulting
Limited, independent professionally qualified valuers,
at open market value, based on their existing use. The
investment properties are leased to third parties under
operating leases, further summary details of which are
included in note 41(a) to the financial statements.

At 31 March 2013, the Group’s investment properties
of HK$1,270,226,000 (2012: HK$1,120,392,000) were
pledged to secure general banking facilities granted to the
Group (note 43).

Further particulars of the Group’s investment properties
are included on pages 213 to 215.

B S H AL E R E H & E ST EE
ERAREZRREABRZIEEEMRAR
SEZHBARRPHNEEDE K=
T —ZF=ZA=Z=+—HHN2AHAMED
Al 41,318,327,0008 7T (— T — — 4 :
1,256,923,000/% 7T ) % 183,024,000/
7T ( ZZF— 4 : 189,974,000/ 7T ) - &%
EMEDNZECERERTE=F#B
BRI BRI TR

R—ZF-—=Z%=ZA=Z+—8"
1,270,226,000 L (T — =& :
1,120,392,000/ 7T ) WX & WX B EE
B tEBAREBE —RBITEEZE
R (H5E43) »

AEBREMEZ E—THBEEHIR
$213%215H
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16. PREPAID LAND LEASE PAYMENT 16. T8 ff 1 st # & 3% 18
Group
rEE
2013 2012
—E—-=5F —E——4F
HK$’000 HK$’000
FTET FET
Carrying amount at beginning of year R &E ]2 BRE & 13,780 13,700
Recognised during the year (note 6) R F AR (Hi5E6) (409) (404)
Exchange realignment BEE 5, 58 B 91 484
Carrying amount at 31 March R=A=+—HZEEE 13,462 13,780
Current portion included in debtors,  BVHAZR{H B & 7E FE U BR 7K »
deposits and prepayments Be REMNRIEBEZA (411) (408)
Non-current portion JEBNEAER 1 13,051 13,372

The leasehold land is situated in Mainland China and is

ME AP BRBEORFA  LRFPEX

held under a medium term lease. Bk o
17. GOODWILL 17. 7 &
Group rEE
HK$’000
FHT
At 1 April 2011, 31 March 2012, R-—E——FmA—Q-
1 April 2012 and 31 March 2013: —E——-—HF=A=+—8"
T —FmA-BHR
—E-—=F=A=+—8:
Cost B AR 45,062
Accumulated release upon sale of HEEERMERSEL
developed properties (1,288)
Accumulated impairment ZEHRE (3,663)
Net carrying amount AREEE 40,111
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17. GOODWILL (Continued) 17. ﬁﬁ %gi (%)

Goodwill acquired through business combinations has
been allocated to the following cash-generating units for
impairment testing:

° Restaurant, food and hotel cash-generating unit;
and

° Property investment and development cash-
generating unit.

The recoverable amount of the restaurant, food and hotel
cash-generating unit has been determined based on a
value in use calculation using cash flow projections based
on financial budgets covering a five-year period approved
by senior management. The discount rate applied to the
cash flow projections is 7% (2012: 7%) and cash flows
beyond the five-year period are extrapolated using a
growth rate of 5% (2012: 4%) which is the same as the
long term average growth rate of the industry.

The recoverable amount of the property investment and
development cash-generating unit has been determined
based on a value in use calculation using cash flow
projections based on financial budgets covering the
expected development project period approved by senior
management. The discount rate applied to the cash flow
projections is 13% (2012: 13%).

HEBEHARBZAZEENRENAT
BeEEBMAERERNR :

s ER RRNEERSELEM:
&

s MEREBENERRSELE(-

B RARBERSEEBM 2K
EEgBEEBESREBASH]EZR
FHYHBEEFERARESRERNFE

FREEET -ReRERAEAR 2
BRAET (ZTE—ZF:7%) RHBAT
FHZRESREBMNERRS% (ZT—=
F 4% )ETRA ZIBREREZITE
NERBATFHIEREER -

MERERERRSELEM 2 KD
FHEOEBERRAEEASIEZ BE
TEHZERIBEEFHMBBRECAR S
mERAFEsFAEEEBEE BHeR
ERAERAZITBEER13% (ZT—=
F:13%) °



17. GOODWILL (Continued)

IMPAIRMENT TESTING OF GOODWILL

(Continued)
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17. 7 & (@)

R FALREAE D)

The carrying amounts of goodwill allocated to each of the FMECEAE I RGT —EAReEASE
cash-generating units are as follows: (DR(NE
Restaurant, Property investment
food and hotel and development Total
BE RRRERE MERERER #E
2013 2012 2013 2012 2013 2012
—E-=F —T——F —E-=F —T——F —E-=F —T——F
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TER TEL TER TEL FER THx
Carrying amount of goodwil HEZEAE 8,721 8,721 31,390 31,390 40,111 40,111

Assumptions were used in the value in use calculation
of the restaurant, food and hotel cash-generating unit
and the property investment and development cash-
generating unit for 31 March 2013 and 31 March 2012.
The following describes each key assumption on which
management has based its cash flow projections to
undertake impairment testing of goodwill:

Budgeted gross margins — The basis used to determine
the value assigned to the budgeted gross margins is the
average gross margins achieved in the year immediately
before the budget year, increased for expected efficiency
improvements and expected market development.

Discount rates — The discount rates used are before tax
and reflect specific risks relating to the relevant units.

FE_E-=F="A=+—RHAEK=ZF
——F=-A=+—HBAE amkBE
REEFEL- %%Tﬁﬁ&?‘@ﬁé?
EBEUEREER BEERARRK-E

EBRERSRERANETHERE) E'Juﬁ

PTkBZ R EEZREBMT
BEEREN -REEEREEREN
FIEEBECEE RERBREFER

—FRBZFHEEEN LEHREH
R LR K T8 HA T 35 B R 4 AR e 38

=
=] ©

PR R —FRfER 2 I R B AR HIRA
&Jiﬁg%éﬁiffﬁ BEMEHE IS ERR 2L
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18. OTHER INTANGIBLE ASSETS 18. H ih i ¥ & &

Group rEH
HK$’000
FET
Cost at 1 April 2011, 31 March 2012, R—ZE——FMYA—H-
1 April 2012 and 31 March 2013 - —_H#=Z/A=+—H"
net of accumulated amortisation —E——_FWOWA—HK
—E—=F=A=1+—H
LA kR RET S 399,732
At 31 March 2013 and 2012: RZZE—Z=ZFK
—E——F=ZA=+—8:
Cost PR AN 533,559
Accumulated amortisation BT (133,827)
Net carrying amount REDEE 399,732
* As further described in note 2.4 to the financial * U0 B IS SRR B sE2.4 P — S E it
statements, the amortisation has been included in B AEEA T KA AERES
properties under development as land cost. MEo
19. INTERESTS IN SUBSIDIARIES 19. It B 2 5] B 3%
Company
VNN
2013 2012
—_E—= —E——4F
HK$’000 HK$’000
FExT AT
Unlisted shares, at cost IE ETRD - R ANE 61,990 61,990
Due from subsidiaries JE W Bt /B8~ &) 3R 1B 2,024,123 1,844,064
Due to subsidiaries AN EINGIE S (518,575) (359,425)
1,567,538 1,546,629
Impairment? B (19,347) (19,347)
1,548,191 1,527,282

i An impairment was recognised for certain amounts

due from subsidiaries with a total carrying amount of
HK$137,398,000 (2012: HK$137,396,000) because
certain subsidiaries have suffered losses over the years
and the amounts are considered as not recoverable. There
was no change in the impairment account during the
current and prior years.

The amounts due from/to the subsidiaries are unsecured,
interest-free and have no fixed terms of repayment.

#

HRETHBERARNRBEFMZEE
HEERATARE - At = T &
WMEBAGRE ARMES R 2R
{8 /5137,398,0008 7c (=& — — 4 :
137,396,000/ 7T ) ° AANFE E B AF
EREREZRESEESE -

FEU FEAST T 1 R 2 FUIA R AR 4R -
AEHHM B KB E &R
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19. Mt B A 8] #3550
AAREEHBARMEEENT :

19. INTERESTS IN SUBSIDIARIES (Continued)

Particulars of the principal subsidiaries of the Company
are as follows:

Place of Nominal value of
incorporation/ issued ordinary/ Percentage of equity
registration and Class of equity registered interest attributable
Name operations interest held share capital to the Company Principal activities
EmAL, BRITEE/ AR EERE
£8 ERPS - FrisRERR R AHEE Aotk TEER
2013 2012
—E-ZF | ZZ—Z-F
Amica Properties Limited Hong Kong Ordinary shares HK$10,000 100 100  Property investment
SENMEXARAF BB LRk 10,0007 7 MERE
Carrianna (BVI) Ltd.* British Virgin Islands/  Ordinary shares US$1 100 100 Investment holding
Hong Kong
RERAES/BE LTER E REZK
Carrianna (Chiu Chow) Hong Kong Ordinary shares HK$8,000,000 73 73 Restaurant operations
Restaurant Limited"
EZ (M) B BE EER 8,000,000 7T it S
BRAR"
Carrianna Chinese Food Hong Kong Ordinary shares HK$900,000 89 89  Investment holding
(Hong Kong) Limited
EEBEREG (BFE)  BE AR 900,000/ 7 BamR
BB AT
Carrianna Holdings Limited Hong Kong/ Ordinary shares HK$25,000,000 100 100  Property investment
Mainland China and development
EEFEEERAR B/ PEAR LRk 25,000,000 7T NERERER
Carrianna (Shenzhen) PRC/ Registered capital HK$80,000,000 100 100 Investment holding
Investment Co., Ltd.*® Mainland China and property
development
EEH (RY)RE LA B &R 80,000,000/ 7T REZRR
BRARO MEER
China East International Hong Kong Ordinary shares HK$1,000,000 72 72 Investment holding
Materials City Limited
ERERMRAERRA B LER 1,000,0007 7T REZK
Crown Tech Investments Hong Kong Ordinary shares HK$1 100 100 Investment holding
Limited
ERREBRAA BE 13 18T REZR
Earn Fame Group Limited British Virgin Islands/  Ordinary shares USs$1 100 100 Investment holding
Hong Kong
AEEEBRARF KRERES/BE LAR =Y REZR
Elite Brave Development British Virgin Islands/  Ordinary shares US$1 100 100  Investment holding
Limited" Hong Kong
BEERBRAAN RERAES/BE LTER E REZK
Goldfield Properties Limited ~ Hong Kong Ordinary shares HK$2 100 100  Property investment
FEEXARLA B LER 28T NERE
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19. INTERESTS IN SUBSIDIARIES (Continued) ~ 19. Ff J& 2 5] # 25 (&)
Particulars of the principal subsidiaries of the Company ARRFTENBRAANGFHBER T :
are as follows: (Continued) (#8)
Place of Nominal value of
incorporation/ issued ordinary/ Percentage of equity
registration and Class of equity registered interest attributable
Name operations interest held share capital to the Company Principal activities
TR/ BRITEE/ AN FELRE
A% AMRESE Y FrisRERS R AEE BAk TEER
2013 2012
E-=F | ZE— &
Huge Moral International British Virgin Islands/ ~ Ordinary shares US$1 100 100 Investment holding
Limited"* Hong Kong
EEEBRERAA RERAES/BE LTER e REER
Kunming Carrianna Chaozhou PRC/ Registered capital HK$12,000,000 60 60  Restaurant operations
Restaurant Ltd.*@ Mainland China
RRAERHHMNEE PN HMER 12,000,000/ 7T i S
BRAF
Tak Sing Alliance Limited Hong Kong Ordinary shares HK$200 100 100 Property investment
Non-voting HK$1,000,000 - -
deferred
shares
3 LER 200/ 7T MERE
ERFERT 1,000,000 7T
o)
Tak Sing (Panyu) Fashion PRC/ Registered capital HK$51,000,000 100 100  Property investment
Company Limited* (! Mainland China
BMTERREERA LGN &R 51,000,000/ 7 MERE
E= ( i) % PRC/ Registered capital RMB14,700,000 100 100 Hotel and restaurant
BRAE™O Mainland China operations
B A B AMER AR 14,700,000 BERBREE
REEZHER PRC/ Registered capital RMB1,000,000 70 70 Restaurant operations
BRRAA@ Mainland China
LA B HMER AR #1,000,0007T i S
REEEMEEEE PRC/ Registered capital RMB3,000,000 53 53 Restaurant operations
BRAA Mainland China
FEIAR R AMER AR 3,000,0007C BEEE
FIEBHBER PRC/ Registered capital RMB5,000,000 100 100 Restaurant operations
BRARO Mainland China
B A B AMER AR #5,000,0007C BIEEE
BHEEPR M PRC/ Registered capital RMB23,000,000 55 55 Food business
BRRAA@ Mainland China
HEIARE AMER AR #23,000,0007C RmEE



19. INTERESTS IN SUBSIDIARIES (Continued)

Particulars of the principal subsidiaries of the Company
are as follows: (Continued)
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19. W B 7 5] # 35 (@)

AARETEWBAAGEELT

(%)

Place of Nominal value of
incorporation/ issued ordinary/ Percentage of equity
registration and Class of equity registered interest attributable
Name operations interest held share capital to the Company Principal activities
EmE, BRITEE/ ANRELRE
a8 BRI ES-$E FERERR HERRAHEE Aok TEER
2013 2012
—E-Z§ | ZTZF
wHEEPEEEE PRC/ Registered capital  RMB100,000,000 80 80  Hotel operations
ERBERAR® Mainland China
B ARE FMER AR #100,000,0007 il
Carrianna (Hunan) PRC/ Registered capital ~ RMB385,000,000 871.5 84.1  Property investment
Enterprise Co., Ltd. Mainland China and development
(“Hunan Carrianna”)* @
EEHCRE)EXERAR FEAAE BRIIE-W AR #385,000,0007 NERERER
(THmEZR]) @
EZREARSHYHRRE PR/ Registered capital US$36,000,000 72 72 Property investment
(EEB)BRAF Mainland China and development
FEIA B FMER 36,000,000% T NERBRER
T REEHREER PRC/ Registered capital RMB12,000,000 75 75  Restaurant operations
BARAF Mainland China
B ARE BRIIE-P AR #12,000,0007 i didey
FIERHPHRR PRC/ Registered capital RMB6,000,000 68 68  Restaurant operations
BERRARFE Mainland China
B ARE FMER AR #:6,000,0007 it S

*k

Company

Direct subsidiaries of the Company

55% of equity interest is directly attributable to the

# The statutory financial statements of these companies
were not audited by Ernst & Young, Hong Kong or another

* ARBEEZNHEBE AR
KRR EEFB5%E

A
# ESEIN

Z%

Bl AERBRRL BEERE
RGN BB L KGN E

member firm of the Ernst & Young global network

(1) Wholly-foreign-owned enterprises
(2)  Sino-foreign joint venture companies

(8)  Domestic enterprises

The above table lists the subsidiaries of the Company
which, in the opinion of the directors, principally affected
the results for the year or formed a substantial portion
of the net assets of the Group. To give details of other
subsidiaries would, in the opinion of the directors, result in
particulars of excessive length.

PRERMm 2z Rtk 8 &t =
Bz

(1) SEBELE

@ WIHIARELE

@ RNELXE

EERR ULEMRIOHBARATE
FEREENFEANRESAKRNE
BEEFENTERONMBERR M
HRRFIEMHEARNER &<
HEMBRIIE-
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20. INVESTMENT IN A JOINTLY- 20. AEFERERZKE
CONTROLLED ENTITY
Group
AEE
2013 2012
—E—-=5F —E——fF
HK$’000 HK$'000
FET FET
Share of net assets E{EEERE 1,790 1,790
Amount due to BT H R E B2 5B
the jointly-controlled entity (612) 612)
Provision for impairment VERIEREL ] (1,178) (1,178)

The balance with the jointly-controlled entity is unsecured,
interest-free and is not repayable within one year from the
end of the reporting period.

Particulars of the jointly-controlled entity are as follows:

SE R 4 48 40 % B R A4 B R
B+ BBERNRE AR — PO EE -

ARZEHIER 2 FHBET:

Percentage of

AEEEERDT
Business Place of Ownership Voting Profit  Principal
Name structure registration interest power sharing  activity
a8 SHRRE it B FEEER FE  ANEIE IEXH
Chengdu Carrianna Chaozhou  Corporate PRC 51 50 51 Dormant
Restaurant Co., Ltd.
A EE LR AT R TR

HMNEEBRAR

The investment in the jointly-controlled entity is indirectly
held by the Company.

ARrERERARZEFERIRE -



21. INTERESTS IN ASSOCIATES
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21. N2 A6 2 B &

Group

AEE
2013 2012
—E—-=5F —E——4F
HK$’000 HK$’000
FHET FET
Share of net assets DB EFE 66,136 71,556
Due from associates NG 201,846 199,589
Due to associates JE T Bt 2 2 A (4,031) (3,990)
263,951 267,155
Provision for impairment VERIEREL ] (10,628) (10,628)
253,323 256,527

The amounts due from/to associates are unsecured,
interest-free and have no fixed terms of repayment.

Particulars of the principal associate are as follows:

FEU,/ FE Bt i X B B IR B9 R AR IR
RS KRB E R K

IEH %‘/ B uEH ZZD—F:

Percentage of equity

Particulars of Business Place of interest attributable
Name issued shares held structure incorporation to the Group Principal activities
AEEELRE
a8 RECROTROFE XBES LR B AL it B BAk TEER
2013 2012
“E-ZF | 2T
South China International Ordinary shares of Corporate Hong Kong 50 50  Property investment
Purchasing Exchange HK$1 each (unlisted) and development
Centre Limited*
EREARRERSHR L LER G B NERBRER
BRAA SREEIET
(L)

# Not audited by Ernst & Young, Hong Kong or another
member firm of the Ernst & Young global network

The above table lists the associate of the Group which, in
the opinion of the directors, principally affected the results
for the year or formed a substantial portion of the net
assets of the Group. To give details of other associates
would, in the opinion of the directors, result in particulars
of excessive length. All associates were indirectly held by
the Company.

o WEKEBL KSR EBE LK
SR EBIEEBOEMKES
BRI

EZRR U EMIIANEENEZQE]

REBYEARSERAFEREENE
RAEBEEEFREIZMOOBER
)+ A0 [R] B R 51 EL A R A8 51 o e B
NEAINER AgSHENBRITK -

PR EARHAARIREREH-
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21. INTERESTS IN ASSOCIATES (Continued)

The following table illustrates the summarised financial
information of the Group’s associates extracted from their
management accounts at the end of the reporting period:

LR AT 2R @

O AR RS R A A A EE R A
TEmEE BB B ER

2013 2012
—Eg—= —_EF—=
HK$’000 HK$’000
FET FET
Assets BE 607,310 520,530
Liabilities =R (477,635) (382,304)
Revenue W %5 - -
Loss E5 18 (10,840) (2,174)
22. AVAILABLE-FOR-SALE 22 it ERE
INVESTMENTS
Group
E
2013 2012
—E-=F —E——F
HK$’000 HK$'000
FExT FBT
Listed equity investments REB EMRAKRSE -
in Hong Kong, at fair value BAFEE 954,368 933,415
Less: Available-for-sale investments 3l : 7l B 1EH & 2 7]
classified as held for sale HERE (773,711) =
Non-current portion JEBNEAER 1 180,657 933,415

The above investments represented the Group’s entire
equity interests in China South City Holdings Limited
(“CSC”) which were designated as available-for-sale
financial assets and have no fixed maturity date or coupon
rate.

During the year, the gross gain in respect of the
Group’s available-for-sale listed equity investments
recognised in other comprehensive income amounted to
HK$260,951,000 (2012: loss of HK$186,683,000), out of
which HK$38,389,000 (2012: Nil) was reclassified upon
disposal from other comprehensive income to the income
statement for the year.

MATE A R EAEE R ERERA
TH%ﬁWUM%&h% HiEE AT
HirESRAERBETHNE XA
RS

FRN - REMEZEBAFTERZAEE
ZAHEE EMBRARE 2 Wa B
£260,951,0008 L (ZE——F : 18
186,683,000/ 7T ) + E #238,389,000/%
T (ZE—ZF &) TREAZEKA
ENODEEARAFEZRER -



22. AVAILABLE-FOR-SALE

INVESTMENTS (Continued)

On 6 February 2013, a wholly-owned subsidiary of
the Group (the “CSC Vendor”), Chen’s International
Investment Limited (the “Purchaser”, an independent
third party), Mr. Chen Hong Tian (the “Guarantor”, an
independent third party) and the Company entered into
a sale and purchase agreement (the “S&P Agreement”),
pursuant to which the CSC Vendor has conditionally
agreed to sell and the Purchaser has conditionally
agreed to acquire 750,000,000 shares of CSC (the
“Sale Shares”), representing approximately 12.39%
of the issued share capital of CSC at the date of
the S&P Agreement, at a total cash consideration of
HK$1,162,500,000 (i.e., HK$1.55 per Sale Share).

The disposal of 154,838,000 Sale Shares was completed
before 31 March 2013 and the disposal of the remaining
595,162,000 Sale Shares is expected to be completed
on or before 30 June 2013. Accordingly, the carrying
fair value of these remaining Sale Shares is classified as
held for sale on the consolidated statement of financial
position. Further details of the S&P Agreement were set
out in the Company’s circular dated 13 March 2013.

The debit available-for-sale investment revaluation reserve
in relation to the Sale Shares yet to be disposed of as at
31 March 2013 amounted to HK$1,232,000.

The fair values of these listed equity investments are
based on the quoted market price.

e AR A 2 JRC A PR
20134

Notes to Financial Statements
W oK Ik

31 March 2013 —F—=#=H=+—H

22, Mt H &K E (@)

RZE—=F-_AXNA XEEZ—H
2EWBAR ([FEEMEA]) Chen's
International Investment Limited ([ & 77 -
BMYE=F) BRAKREE([ERAI B
NEZF)RARBGTIERE i ([EEWH
OB EEBEAEEAEKHERELE
i B 77 2 A &4 R E 4 750,000,000 2 /g
B (TRERMD])  EERERMNE
Eipm BB EITREAL12.39%  RERE
4858 51,162,500,0007 7T ( BN &% 45 & B 19
1.55/870) °

155 154,838,000 FE/ MR T —=F =
A=+—BRI7EMX - &H%E# T595,162,000
BREERNDIEHRER _—_E—=FA=1H
SRR ALY ZERTHFERD 2K
ARFERGE SRR AND B EIFERS
E-BEEBBZE—LHBHNAIAABH
AT —ZF=ZA+=AZBRA-

R-ZE—=FZA=+—HE@NEFLE
ZEERD AN ERESHREBZES
% 58 51,232,000/ 7T °

HE ETRARE 2 AT E RS R E

Ho
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22. AVAILABLE-FOR-SALE 22, Mt &K E #)
INVESTMENTS (Continued)

At 31 March 2013, the carrying amount of the Group’s RZE—=F=A=1+—H0 AKER
interests in this listed equity security classified as HAAIHEERE LRAZS 2 #
available-for-sale investments exceeded 10% of the total m REEBARNSEREE 210% °
assets of the Group.

tl) %

Percentage of equity

Particulars of Business Place of interest attributable
Name issued shares held structure incorporation to the Group Principal activities
RE@ESRE
% FRERTRAHEE EEES SE A L B BAK TEER
2013 2012
“Z-Z% | ZZ—ZF
CSC Ordinary shares of Corporate Hong Kong 12.13 14.85  Property development
HK$0.01 each and management
and hotel services
ERW SREE0O1BT NG G MEZRRER
LBk OB 5 BR 7
23. FINANCIAL ASSETS AT FAIR VALUE 23. 1% A F 15 5 Bk &t R 2 R
THROUGH PROFIT OR LOSS Mz e g E
Group
RKE
2013 2012
—E-=F —F——F
HK$°000 HK$’000
FERT FABT
Unlisted investments, at fair value JEEMIRE  BAFE 15,313 9,411
Less: Current portion - BNEAER 1 - (493)
Non-current portion JEBNEREL 19 15,313 8,918
The above investments at 31 March 2013 and 2012 PR —ZE—=FR_F——F=A1
were, upon initial recognition, designated by the Group as =+ —RAZBETRIIARERRHIEE
financial assets at fair value through profit or loss as they BEATEIERRERTREE S/
are managed and their performance are evaluated on a BE RERZERETNREMREZ J—L
fair value basis, in accordance with a documented risk REERINERE ERAFEEEET
management and investment strategy, and information M ERE  MABZSE Tx BEZE ﬂ
about the investments is provided on that basis to the DIRZEEMNAEBR 2 FEZEEBASR

Group’s key management personnel. =



23.

24.

FINANCIAL ASSETS AT FAIR VALUE
THROUGH PROFIT OR LOSS (Continued)

The fair values of the above investments were based on
the market prices provided by financial institutions at the
end of the reporting period.

At 31 March 2013, all of the Group’s above investments
were pledged to secure banking facilities granted to the
Group (note 43).

STRUCTURED DEPOSITS

Structured deposits at 31 March 2013 were stated at
fair value and represented several deposits placed in
banks. The Group designated the structured deposits
as investments at fair value through profit or loss in
accordance with HKAS 39. The directors of the Company
estimated the aggregate fair values of the structured
deposits at approximately HK$81,643,000 as at 31
March 2013 and total realised and unrealised fair value
gains of HK$1,399,000 (2012: Nil) were recognised by the
Group for the year ended 31 March 2013.

At 31 March 2013, a structured deposit with a value
of HK$12,250,000 (2012: Nil) was pledged to secure
general banking facilities granted to the Group (note 43).

23.

24.
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HAFHE R ENEEDE
HzemEE @

PR E 2 A ED R BEER RS
HREHRzMERELE-

31 March 2013

RZE—=F=A=+—8" LiutE
AEERECIEER EAREBATE
—RREBRITEE ZER (Ki5E43) ©

R R

N—E—=F=fA=+—HBZ&BLTF
KO AFEINEREFBERRITZ
HEFR -ASBCRERS S ER
BB LEBUEFRIEEAR A TE
RN ERPREZIRE - ARAIE
EHAEBUETRR-_ZE—=F=A
=+ —HZ#BAFERLS1,643,000/%
TTARBEE R ARER N FEW LT
1,399,000 T (Z T ——F : E)ERN
HE—_ZT—=F=ZA=+—HLLFEH
NEEHER -

R-ZE—=F=A=+—H HEA
12,250,000/ 70 (Z T ——F ) 7 4
BUGEREER FRASEMER—
MRIRITEE 2R (KI5E43) ©
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25. PROPERTIES UNDER

25. R Y ¥

DEVELOPMENT
Group
rEE
2013 2012
—E—-=fF —E-F
HK$°000 HK$’000
FERT FHET
At beginning of year REA) 1,351,972 1,159,930
Additions NE 209,935 321,583
Transfer to properties held for sale  BEEEH{EFE 2% - (161,681)
Exchange realignment b 5 F 2 6,904 32,140
At 31 March A\=HA=+—H 1,568,811 1,351,972
Properties under development TEEIR A THIRE T 2
expected to be completed: BRPYE:
Within normal operating cycle BE E/\}mibléffgz
included under current assets BREEENA 604,216 360,888
Beyond normal operating cycle i) Hj é‘qu@J BEZ
included under non-current assets TR A 5 964,595 991,084
1,568,811 1,351,972
Properties under development FEEIR AT HE&ZEIR
expected to be completed within % T R e[ el 2 3R )2 -
normal operating cycle and
recovered:
Within one year —F R 577,371 238,743
After one year —Fig 26,845 122,145
604,216 360,888
The Group’s properties under development were located REE 2 BERPYEM A B ARRE-

in Mainland China.

Included in the Group’s properties under development as
at 31 March 2013 were land use rights with an aggregate
carrying amount of approximately HK$572,046,000
(2012: HK$566,284,000) held under medium term leases.

At 31 March 2013, the Group’s properties under
development with a value of HK$903,477,000 (2012:
HK$593,192,000) were pledged to secure general
banking facilities granted to the Group (note 43).

Further particulars of the Group’s major properties under
development are included on pages 220 to 223.

REBR -_ZE—=F=A=+—8H
BRS ff%%#ﬁﬂi%ﬁ%imzﬁﬁﬁﬁiﬁ
A572,046,0008 L (=& — — F:
566,284,0007 7T ) LA HAFE %*ﬁvﬁ

R—_ZTE—=F=ZA=+—8 &x&8
B {H903,477,0008 T (=T — — & :
593,192,000/ TT) < ERF W EIER
AEBER —RBTEEZER (HiE

43) o
HMWAEB 2HEFMEFBHANRE
220F223H ©
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26. INVENTORIES 26. 7 &
Group
rEE
2013 2012
—E—-=fF —E——4F
HK$’000 HK$’000
FExT FETT
Finished goods BUPK i 3,358 3,364
Food and beverages B & ek 43,774 48,215
47,132 51,579
27. DEBTORS, DEPOSITS AND 27. EW IR K ~#% & R T f 3 T
PREPAYMENTS

Included in the balance is an amount of HK$40,203,000
(2012: HK$62,180,000) representing the trade debtors of

4588 B $540,203,0008 T (Z &2 — =
F :62,180,000/8 7T0) AAEE 2 BKE

the Group. SRR
Group
rEE
2013 2012
—_E—= —E——4F
HK$’000 HK$’000
FHET FHET
Trade debtors FEULE Z R 60,236 80,756
Impairment BB (20,033) (18,576)
40,203 62,180

An aged analysis of such debtors as at the end of the
reporting period, based on the invoice date and net of
provision, is as follows:

RIRESFR AR ERRE RO S
RN B 2 BB AT T

Group

rEE
2013 2012
—E-=£ —E—-—fF
HK$’000 HK$’000
FTET FHET
Current to 30 days BNHERZ=30H 8,410 33,331
31 to 60 days 31260H 5,272 5,014
61 to 90 days 61290H 2,149 4,611
Over 90 days #3890 H 24,372 19,224
40,203 62,180
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27. DEBTORS, DEPOSITS AND

PREPAYMENTS (Continued)
CREDIT TERMS

For hotel, restaurant and food business, the Group’s
trading terms with its customer are mainly on cash
and credit card settlements. For property sales, credit
terms vary in accordance with the terms of the sale and
purchase agreements. All trade debtors are recognised
and carried at their original invoiced amounts less
impairment which is recorded when the collection of the
full amount is no longer probable. Bad debts are written
off as incurred.

In view of the aforementioned and the fact that the
Group’s trade debtors relate to a large number of
diversified customers, there is no significant concentration
of credit risk. The Group does not hold any collateral or
other credit enhancements over these balances. Trade
debtors are non-interest-bearing.

The movements in the provision for impairment of trade
debtors are as follows:

27.

e B K~ % & R TR A Sk E
(&)

fs B f& 5%

BT DR A QLR S - ARER
HEF 2B HER—BURS R
BEAT RWEHEMS FEERA
RREEA R 2 R EE - 8 BB
BRRANRERERSEOBRNTE
] 528 B B SRR 0 AR 2 R 74
BB EENELR T A

ZEILANEE NEERKE SR
REMRENZBBAUEF RAEEX
MIEERBRES NEELERZEFE
HEBEMERKEMEERA B
FEM AR TR R E BB o

BTESHRKERNR O RERE 2 ZEHn
T

Group

AEE
2013 2012

—E—=5F —Eg—=

HK$’000 HK$’000
FERT FHET
At beginning of year REF) 18,576 16,047
Impairment losses recognised (note 6) 2R EE1E (M 5E6) 1,565 2,154
Amount written off as uncollectible ~ {EA& A U] 2 i 4 & &8 (226) (142)
Exchange realignment E TR 118 517
At 31 March R=A=+—H 20,033 18,576

Included in the above provision for impairment of trade
debtors is a provision for individually impaired trade
debtors of HK$20,033,000 (2012: HK$18,576,000) with
a carrying amount before provision of HK$20,557,000
(2012: HK$20,365,000). Such provision was determined
after taking into account the ageing of individual debtors’
balances, the creditworthiness of the debtors, the
repayment history and historical write-off experience.

LA FRRE SRR BERET
BRERENEREREKE ZEREL 2
B 1520,033,0008 T (T — —F:
18,576,000 7T) ' Z Z R R 2 BF
M {B 420,557,000 T (—ZF — —F:
20,365,000 L) - Z B EZEFTEL
BEBEBRSEUWERRESRZIRER
JEWBR X 2 E A BTN BE
MRS 2 2 -



27. DEBTORS, DEPOSITS AND

PREPAYMENTS (Continued)
CREDIT TERMS (Continued)

The aged analysis of the trade debtors that are not
considered to be impaired is as follows:

27.
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EWRZ e R TEM®IE
(%)
s BB 8

BAERBE 2 FRURFIRE DT AT

=

Trey
M

Group

AEE
2013 2012
—E—-= —E——fF
HK$°000 HK$’000
FERT FET
Neither past due nor impaired R H ok R ORUE 11,792 34,204
Less than 1 month past due —1& A A3 &7 2,090 5,563
1 to 3 months past due Bl —Z= = i A 3,214 3,644
Over 3 months past due w HAER @ = 1E A 22,583 16,980
39,679 60,391

Receivables that were neither past due nor impaired relate
to a large number of diversified customers for whom there
was no recent history of default.

Receivables that were past due but not impaired relate
to a number of independent customers that have a good
track record with the Group. Based on past experience,
the directors of the Company are of the opinion that no
provision for impairment is necessary in respect of these
balances as there has not been a significant change in
credit quality and the balances are still considered fully
recoverable.

RBHSRBIE 2 W RRF L R KE D
HMZBEFPMBRIFRCH-

EBRERBE RKERTIBRREZ
HEANEERERFERCBE BT
F-REBEER ARAREFAR
REEBRME AR EEERYREL
BAEE BxFRaarr B8 E -
BB A B U A AU E R -
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28. CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTSAND 28. 14 - B &% EH K E K

PLEDGED DEPOSITS E # 1F
Group Company
X 5E ADF
2013 2012 2013 2012
“E-=f | ZE-—-fF| ZB-ZF| ZZ—=-F
Note HK$’000 HK$'000 HK$°000 HK$'000
()3 TER FTET TER AL
Cash and bank balances Re RBIER 370,350 302,194 677 109
Time deposits THER 165,602 57,713 - =
535,952 359,907 677 109
Less: Pledged time deposits for & : AR HRITE
long term bank loans THER 2
EHER (29,661) (23,771) - -
Pledged time deposits for AB—RIRT
general banking facilities ERREH
and short term bank loans RITER
i
THER (13,865) (13,766) - -
Restricted cash BRHIHEE () (13,013) (17,170) - =
Cash and cash equivalents RekBe
Z{BIEE 479,413 305,200 677 109
Note: Bt 5T
(@)  According to relevant contracts, property development @ RBHBEGY AEENEEMEER
companies of the Group are required to place at ZRRBATR—ELENETRTA
designated bank accounts certain amounts as deposits for AR R IR AR 2 M E B KIZHIE
potential default in payment of mortgage loans advanced R ZIBRA S TFRGERITESHA
to property purchasers. Such guarantee deposits will only EERERERBXNZMEERMRTT
be released either after the property ownership certificate 5178 2 BP IR 18 L 3R 05 BBk o

is submitted to the banks as collateral or when the
property purchasers have repaid the full mortgage loans to

the banks.

At the end of the reporting period, the cash and RBERR rEB 2R RRESET
bank balances (including time deposits) of the Group F(BREREBERBEAREERENM
denominated in Renminbi amounted to HK$129,784,000 ETF 7 K52 5 E0129,784,0008 7T (=&
(2012: HK$244,631,000). The Renminbi is not freely — T4 :244,631,0008 7T) - AR R
convertible into other currencies, however, under EERLBAHMEE  BRIEFREKK
Mainland China’s Foreign Exchange Control Regulations B 2 HINGEE & i A6 1) % A B - 5 B 2 ST BB
and Administration of Settlement, Sale and Payment of ERKRARENRTAEEEBFTE
Foreign Exchange Regulations, the Group is permitted to ITINEER CRITHBRARKBEME
exchange Renminbi for other currencies through banks o

authorised to conduct foreign exchange business.



28.

29.

CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AND
PLEDGED DEPOSITS (Continued)

Cash at banks earns interest at floating rates based on
daily bank deposit rates. Short term time deposits are
made for varying periods of between one day and three
months depending on the immediate cash requirements
of the Group, and earn interest at the respective short
term time deposit rates. The bank balances and pledged
deposits are deposited with creditworthy banks with no
recent history of default.

TRADE CREDITORS

An aged analysis of trade creditors as at the end of the
reporting period, based on the invoice date, is as follows:

28.

29,
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Ble -BleFHEHREKN
E H] 7 K (o

RITBSMMZ AL TIREHRITER
M ZZEHMERME - HATERFRLZ
HRA— N F—RE=EAAFTEF X2
BFEAEE 2 FREFSR LRTF
B %2 A T AT RURENR B - |RITAE T &
ERERERREERIFBNTHPREE
HIRCER 2 RTT

FE fF & 5 Bk X

RBEHR BNEZERFRREZAH
ZEREOMT

Group

rEH
2013 2012
—E-=£F —E——fF
HK$°000 HK$’000
FERT FET
Current to 30 days BNERZ=30H 91,211 97,564
31 to 60 days 31260H 5,879 9,557
61 to 90 days 61290H 4,540 11,483
Over 90 days #B3B90H 6,434 12,008
108,064 130,612

Trade creditors are non-interest-bearing and repayable
within the normal operating cycle.

ENEZERRTEAMERBERLERE
ERYNEE-
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30. INTEREST-BEARING BANK AND 30. Mt Bz e AT K H b fs &
OTHER BORROWINGS
Group rE
31 March 2013 31 March 2012
—g-=£=g=1-A —F-—f=A=t+-A
Effective Effective
interest interest
rate (%)  Maturity HK$°000 rate (%)  Maturity HK$'000
ERAZ  FEA TEx | ERAx  3HA THx
Current
IR
Bank loans - secured 2.0-83 by March 2014 207,009 19-85 by March 2013 270,843
BiTRR-HER —E-mE=f -F-=4£=f
Current portion of long term bank 12-79 by March 2014 239,965 12-85  byMarch 2013 284,232
loans - secured
HNBRBRITES-BER —E-WE=f —T—=#=R
Long term bank loans repayable 22-79 Ondemand 248,369 2.1-83  Ondemand 6,584
on demand - secured (note)
BXBRERBRITER RER e
—HER (K)
695,343 561,659
Non-current
F BN
Bank loans - secured 1.2-78 2014 -2025 252,492 12-6.9 2013-2025 553,125
BITER-FER “Z-mEZE —T-ZFE
—E-EE —E-RF
Other loans - unsecured 8.5 by December 2014 49,436 8.5 by December 2013 49,104
HtbER—EiEH “E-mE+ZR —T—=%+=A
301,928 602,229
997,271 1,163,888




30. INTEREST-BEARING BANK AND
OTHER BORROWINGS (Continued)
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B 4 & M Ak

—F-=#=H=+-H

30. it Bzt fT R A b fs & ()

Group
EEE
2013 2012
—_Eg—= —ET—_4F
HK$°000 HK$’000
FERT FHET
Analysed into: HE:
Bank loans repayable: RITEFENRE:
Within one year or on demand (note) — 4 A1k 2 KK
&8 (Kish) 695,343 561,659
In the second year F_-F 135,617 185,852
In the third to fifth years, inclusive E=FEERF
(BEEMERFEEN) 106,115 252,409
Beyond five years AFLALE 10,760 114,864
947,835 1,114,784
Other borrowings repayable: AR THEREEZ 2
HER:
In the second year FF 49,436 49,104
997,271 1,163,888

Note: The Group’s term loans with an aggregate carrying

o

AEBEBER AR

5 55 R IR R B

amount of HK$398,072,000 (2012: HK$19,322,000)
containing on-demand clauses have been classified in
total as current liabilities. Accordingly, a portion of those
term loans due for repayment after one year with an
aggregate carrying amount of HK$248,369,000 (2012:
HK$6,584,000) has been reclassified as current liabilities.
For the purpose of the above analysis, the loans are
included within current interest-bearing bank and other
borrowings and analysed into bank loans repayable within
one year or on demand.

Based on the maturity terms of the loans, the amounts
repayable in respect of these term loans are: within
one year or on demand HK$149,703,000 (2012:
HK$12,738,000); in the second year HK$75,744,000
(2012: HK$4,984,000); and in the third to fifth years,
inclusive HK$172,625,000 (2012: HK$1,600,000).

EREATDABIEHERS
BR T {8 /4398,072,0008 T (— T ——
£ :19,322,000 7T ) - A It % #B 15
CEHERER —FREEZHAKRR
8 5248,369,0008 0 (=& — —4F :
6,584,000 7T ) IR E AR B R E AR

BE - EASTME  ZEERBEE
—FANRAPREZ RIS RITRE
HERA -

BEBEREHHER E@ZECHE
FZEEESBES A - FRAREIR
£ 5k149,708,0008 L (=& — =4 :
12,738,000/ 7t ) : 88 = % 75,744,000
BT (ZZT — 4 :4,984,000/8
) BZERAF(HEEMEBEE
A) 172,625,000 L (=& — —F:
1,600,000/ 7T ) ©
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30. INTEREST-BEARING BANK AND

OTHER BORROWINGS (Continued)

Included in the current portion of long term bank loans
of HK$284,232,000 in the prior year was a loan of
approximately HK$75,258,000 that was classified as a
current liability in its entirety as a result of non-compliance
with certain financial covenants as set out in the relevant
banking facility agreement entered into with a bank.
During the year, the banking facility agreement was
renewed with revised terms and the Group complied with
all loan covenants stipulated in the relevant banking facility
agreement during the year and as at 31 March 2013.

Included in the Group’s interest-bearing bank and other
borrowings as at 31 March 2013 were borrowings
with a carrying amount of HK$479,464,000 (2012:
HK$532,347,000) which were denominated in Renminbi.
The remaining interest-bearing bank and other borrowings
are denominated in Hong Kong dollars.

Certain of the Group’s interest-bearing bank and other
borrowings were secured by the pledge of certain of
the Group’s assets as further detailed in note 43 to the
financial statements.

30. Wt B 2 47 K 16 18 8% ()

RBEFEFANBRBARITIER
284,232,000/ 7T B & — I8 4775,258,0007%
TTHERELEERE—FHIRTFILZE
BARITEEHZME & THBRZOMES
EARBDBE-REA RITEEBER
BEEFTGERTUESE MASEERR
HE-_Z—=F=ZA=+—HLFEZH
BAIRITEERRRT LB ERRZLD -

R-_E—=F=ZA=+—H &A%
MEZRITEREMERPEREE
479,464,000 L (=& — —F -
532,347,000 7T ) 2 E KA A R &t
B HAWE ZRITREMERABE
ERER

AEBETHWEZRITREMERTIA
BHAEBETEERER ¥
1B B B 5 R R I 7431



31. FINANCE LEASE PAYABLES

The Group leases certain of its motor vehicles for its
property investment and development business. These
leases are classified as finance leases and have remaining

lease terms of three years.

At 31 March 2013, the total future minimum lease
payments under finance leases and their present values

were as follows:

Group

31.
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FEfF Bl AL R
AREREYELE REELEHEE
ETHAE RESHEREAREEE
BTEEFHA=F-

R_E—=F=A=+—HB ®EHE
BN ZARFERENRARENLERE
LUINE

%M

Present value of

Minimum lease minimum lease

payments payments
2013 2013
BREHEE
BREAESR HRZBEE
—2—= —E-=fF
HK$’000 HK$’000
FH&ET FHET
Amounts payable: P B HA ) P ) 2 BIE
Within one year —F R 825 740
In the second year E_FER 825 776
In the third to fifth years, inclusive FE==FnF
(BEEEMF) 619 607
Total minimum finance =R EHRENREE
lease payments 2,269 2,123
Future finance charges RIKEEE R (146)
Total net finance lease payables AR ERENRIRLFRE 2,123
Portion classified as current liabilities 5l & 8) & &35 15 (740)
Non-current portion JEBNEAER 17 1,383
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32. DEFERRED TAX 32. it 1 Hi 1
The movements in deferred tax during the year are as AEERELEHB BT :
follows:
DEFERRED TAX LIABILITIES i B A R
Group rE
2013
—E-=F
Depreciation Fair value
allowance in  adjustments
excess of  arising from
related acquisition of Revaluation
depreciation  subsidiaries  of properties Total
KB R
BBEHETE QAREEZ
MERHE  LATERR MEER @zt
HK$’000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TET THT TET TER
(Restated) (Restated)
(E3l) (E35)
At 1 April 2012 RZE——FMA—H 3,179 263,465 159,214 425,858
Deferred tax charged/(credited) AERKEERR
to the income statement e/ (GtA) 2
during the year (note 10) ERFIE (H3E10) (276) (728) 13,851 12,847
Exchange realignment B 5 3% - - 183 183
Gross deferred tax liabilities RZE-=%=A=+—H
at 31 March 2013 Zaﬁuﬁlﬁﬁﬁ,ﬁ@fﬁ 2,903 262,737 173,248 438,888
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32. DEFERRED TAX (Continued) 32. f HE B TE (@)
DEFERRED TAX ASSETS i A B B E
Group rKE
2013
—E—=
Losses available
for offsetting
against future
taxable profits
] A BABE R 3R
FERFLER
KEE 2B 18
HK$’000
FExT
(Restated)
(E%)
At 1 April 2012 R-—T——#mA—Q 1,929
Deferred tax charged to the income statement NG [E Yz 7k kR 2 BT T IE
during the year (note 10) (Mg5E10) (122)
Gross deferred tax assets RZE—Z=F=ZA=+—H2
at 31 March 2013 B IEEEMRE 1,807

EAﬁﬁziEﬁﬂi EXHBEEMABEDE T

Deferred tax assets and liabilities at the end of the

reporting period, presented after appropriate offsetting: HE
HK$’000
FET
Deferred tax liabilities recognised Réxa M Bikn &
in the consolidated statement of WRZIELEHIBAE
financial position 437,081
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32. DEFERRED TAX (Continued) 32. I B (8)
DEFERRED TAX LIABILITIES i B A R
Group rKE
2012
—T—F
Depreciation Fair value
allowance in  adjustments
excess of arising from
related  acquisition of Revaluation
depreciation subsidiaries  of properties Total
SR
BRAEBITE ARELZ
WrERNE ATERE MEER @t
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
THT TERT TET TR
(Restated) (Restated)
(&31) (&51)
At 1 April 2011 RZZE——FMA—A 2,063 266,997 139,665 408,725
Deferred tax charged/(credited) AEEWRRTNR/
to the income statement (]t A) 2 ERERIE
during the year (note 10) (BzE10) 1,116 (3,632) 18,842 16,426
Exchange realignment B 5 3R - - 707 707
Gross deferred tax liabilities RZZ——F
at 31 March 2012 =RA=t—-Bz
ERREEERE 3,179 263,465 159,214 425,858
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32. DEFERRED TAX (Continued) 32. i A B IE (a0
DEFERRED TAX ASSETS i B IR & E
Group rKE
2012
—E——fF
Losses available
for offsetting
against future
taxable profits
A] FA LA B 2R 2R
JE ER A i
K3 2 E5 18
HK$’'000
FAET
(Restated)
(E%)
At 1 April 2011 R-ZZE——FHMHA—H 393
Deferred tax credited to the income statement ARFEFUWzE KR P EH A Z FRAEFTE
during the year (note 10) (MI5E10) 1,536
Gross deferred tax assets at 31 March 2012 RZE——F=A=+—H2
EREFIEEERE 1,929
Deferred tax assets and liabilities at the end of the RBERR EEHEEERABEE T
reporting period, presented after appropriate offsetting: EEHH:
HK$’000
FET
(Restated)
(&%)
Deferred tax liabilities recognised RERE BB &
in the consolidated statement of WRZELEHIBEGE
financial position 423,929
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32. DEFERRED TAX (Continued)

The Group has tax losses arising in Hong Kong of
HK$202,157,000 (2012: HK$191,962,000 (as restated)),
subject to the agreement by the Hong Kong Inland
Revenue Department, that are available indefinitely for
offsetting against future taxable profits of the companies
in which the losses arose. The Group also has estimated
tax losses arising in Mainland China of HK$99,038,000
(2012: HK$99,230,000) that will expire in one to five
years for offsetting against future taxable profits. Deferred
tax assets have not been recognised in respect of these
losses as it is not considered probable that taxable profits
will be available which the tax losses can be utilised.

Pursuant to the PRC Corporate Income Tax Law, a
10% withholding tax is levied on dividends declared to
foreign investors from the foreign investment enterprises
established in Mainland China. The requirement is
effective from 1 January 2008 and applies to earnings
after 31 December 2007. A lower withholding tax rate
may be applied if there is a tax treaty between Mainland
China and the jurisdiction of the foreign investors. For the
Group, the applicable rates are 5% and 10%. The Group
is therefore liable for withholding taxes on dividends
distributed by those subsidiaries established in Mainland
China in respect of earnings generated from 1 January
2008.

At 31 March 2013, no deferred tax has been recognised
for withholding taxes that would be payable on the
unremitted earnings that are subject to withholding taxes
of the Group’s subsidiaries established in Mainland China.
In the opinion of the directors, it is not probable that these
subsidiaries will distribute such earnings in the foreseeable
future. The aggregate amount of temporary differences
associated with investments in subsidiaries in Mainland
China for which deferred tax liabilities have not been
recognised totalled approximately HK$530,706,000 at 31
March 2013 (2012: HK$449,839,000).

There are no income tax consequences attaching
to the payment of dividends by the Company to its
shareholders.

2. FE R IE (&)

AEBAEREEBZHEEIB
202,157,000 L (=& — = & :
191,962,000/ 7T (KR &EF) ) " BAREE
BB BT Mt ZEE T ER S
LA H B8R 7 2 R 2K FE R B s K K
H- AEBNBEHRRARNERER 2BIE
[E5 18 4999,038,0008 7L (=& — = -
99,230,000 7T) * Mt FEEAER —
FERFRNAUEGHEQRZRKER
M AR RABRKR A RESE
B 2 JE ER Tk ) FA VB K 85 1t S5 R TE /S
B AL SEERRAREERIBEEE

RIE (PEBERERE) - RRARRER
MZNEMBIMNEEETIRZKRE A
WRWI0%TENHR -BEEAREE_SZ
NE—A—BRER TERAR-ZZ
+tFE+_A=+—BEMRELZEF-
fif R B B IR SME & & T B Rl AE R 2
EABBIEL B HREE BN R
o AREE 2 ERALLER%N10%  E
b AEBARZERRERER L2
WBARM TN NF—A—HREXE
Z B DR Z BB FBIN -

R-T—=F=A=+—8 AEBL
R B RFER Y B BB R EMH 2
MBARZAELBFMERENZE
N -EZRE ZEMNBRARRAR
RARDERZEBFNZEETIRK - R_F
—=Ff=ZA=+—H S@HPRREZ
MBARICKREABCEREEREE
# 49530,706,000/% JT [# & #E 3R & ik &
FIE B & (—ZF — — 4 : 449,839,000/
JT) °

AR B A E PR BRI B A A A AS
Big o
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33. DERIVATIVE FINANCIAL 33. fiEemMITH

INSTRUMENTS
Group KE
Assets Liabilities
EE g%
2013 2012 2013 2012
—E-=F —E--F —E-=F —E—-F
HK$’000 HK$'000 HK$°000 HK$'000
TER A TER SR
Interest rate swap Sy - = 7,270 8,418
Forward contract BHED 32,477 = - =
32,477 - 7,270 8,418
Portion classified as non-current; 2 38 AJEENER 2 547
Interest rate swap 7l & 45 5 - = (4,224) (6,418)
Current portion BNE3ER {7 32,477 = 3,046 =

The Group uses an interest rate swap to minimise its
exposure to movements in interest rate in relation to one
of its floating rate term loans with a nominal amount of
HK$200,000,000. Such swap did not meet the criteria for
hedge accounting.

The forward contract is in relation to the S&P Agreement
(note 22) whereby the Group has conditionally agreed
to sell and the Purchaser has conditionally agreed to
purchase the Sale Shares at a predetermined price of
HK$1.55 per Sale Share.

These derivatives are not designated for hedge
purposes and are measured at fair value through profit
or loss. Changes in the fair value of these derivatives of
HK$38,562,000 (2012: loss of HK$11,085,000) were
credited to the income statement during the year.

The above derivatives were measured at fair value at the
end of the reporting period and were determined based
on discounted cash flows model.

N5 (B {55 F 45 % £ %8200,000,000/8 7T.2
I 2= 2 HA DURLE F1) 208 Eh 6 — T B R 55
FEERZTE - ZIBBITFA Y
R IBE-

EHENEBE S (E22) 8/
B ARECBGRERBELENRET
EERHEREREFERD AEER
BRFERN1.558TT

ZEMETRAUEECESRAER
EAFEREETRREIRNGTE -ZE
PTE T A2 A F{EE 538,562,000/ T
—F— —F:[E1811,085,0008 L) B
RERFTAWEGRE

AETETERBREMR 2 A FERR
BReREENAFE-
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34.

— =

—=

=F=HA=+—H

DEFERRED INCOME

The deferred income represents cash subsidies received
from a government authority in respect of a property
development project in Mainland China. No deferred
income was released to the income statement during the
years ended 31 March 2013 and 2012.

. CONVERTIBLE NOTES

On 1 February 2013, the Company entered into a
subscription agreement with an independent placing
agent to issue convertible notes that are convertible into
ordinary shares of the Company in the principal amount of
HK$80,000,000.

On 15 February 2013 (the “Issuance Date”), all convertible
notes were issued in full to the subscribers. The
convertible notes are unsecured, bear interest at 5%
per annum and are due for repayment at 100% of the
outstanding principal amount on 14 February 2014 (the
“Maturity Date”). The convertible notes are convertible
into ordinary shares of the Company at any time from
the Issuance Date up to five business days prior to (and
excluding) the Maturity Date at a conversion price of
HK$1.15 per share (subject to adjustment). Upon full
conversion of the convertible notes, a total of 69,565,217
new ordinary shares of the Company would be issued.

During the year, convertible notes with an aggregate
principal amount of HK$5,000,000 were converted into
4,347,825 new ordinary shares of the Company at a
conversion price of HK$1.15 per share. The outstanding
principal amount of the convertible notes as at 31 March
2013 amounted to HK$75,000,000.

34

39.

9 2 WA

SESE N AR R BB 3PS — TR
BAENERRA B RERHY - HE
—E-=FR-F-—F=A=t+—A
I RBRTLIBELELA -

] Mk R &

R-ZE—=F_"F—H8 ARaHE—F
BYREREITURBHZEARITAS
%8 /580,000,00078 7T I A # #8 A AN &)
L@k AR R o

RZTE—=F-_A+HAB([%47H
H]) FAETRREBEBHETT
REA-TRERERNEER ZKEF
5%zt B R AR _ZT—NFE_A+WA
(TRER D RERITEARE T 2100%
BE - AIMREBITBERITEHREIES
B (R TEEZB) B A S % B ERZ
EREZR 58T (A THAE)EnA
RRABZ EBI - NBHE R BRE
B 1% A 69,565,217 AN N B ¥ & i@
PG - LA B 7T

FR - K4 458 55,000,000 7T 2 7] #2
REERBIREREFRIASE TER A
4,347 8250 AN BT E @AY o AT AR 2=

BR-_ZE-—=F=A=1t—RAZHRKRT
i 7K & %8 /375,000,000 T ©



35. CONVERTIBLE NOTES (Continued)

The conversion options were recognised as derivative
financial instruments and were measured at fair value
on initial recognition. The respective excess of proceeds
over the amount initially recognised as the derivative
component of the convertible notes were recognised as
liability component which were subsequently measured at
amortised cost, using the effective interest rate method.

The movements of the liability component and derivative
component of the convertible notes issued by the
Company are as follows:
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35. Mk 8w

BHRMERIARTESRIA IR
FHERBFIR A FEF 2 - EREBRL
MR AR TR 2 0TE T A
SR ARERDNERRBERNILLE
BERBERN R XIRBHAAGTE -

ARBBEITABMBRER 2 BED R
TET AR 2EHWT

Liability Derivative

component component Total

EERs MEIAHS MEt

HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$’'000

FHET FAET FHET

At 1 April 2012 W-E——&mA—AR - - -

Issuance during the year RERNETT 59,029 20,971 80,000

Redemption during the year RERNEE (3,758) (949) (4,702)

Fair value change NEEE - (8,041) (8,041)

Interest expense FEFX 2,135 - 2,135
At 31 March 2013 RZT—=4%

=A=+—8H 57,411 11,981 69,392
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36. SHARE CAPITAL 36. ik A&
Company
VNN
2013 2012
—E—-=fF —E—_F
HK$’000 HK$'000
TET FETT
Authorised: JETERRA
2,000,000,000 (2012: FREECI10E T
2,000,000,000) ordinary shares & 3/ A%2,000,000,000/%
of HK$0.10 each (ZZB——%:
2,000,000,0000% ) 200,000 200,000
Issued and fully paid: BET AR
1,155,770,153 (2012: FMREECI10E T
1,144,422 ,328) ordinary shares EEA%1,155,770,1530%
of HK$0.10 each (ZZB——%:
1,144,422 ,328%) 115,577 114,442

During the years ended 31 March 2013 and 2012, the

BHE_Z—=—6Kk=-_F——-HF=H

movements in share capital were as follows: = t—HILEFER BREAZEHWAT :

B& B 72300,00017 i Ak # 2 R i
BEREFEREEER03E
JCF LATTE (MI5E37) - BB 1T
300,0000% & I | {80.178 7T Z #T
@A e A (E 8% /90,000
BT RNEFITHEBERER ©%F
33,000/ TTE B R EFHERE

P tn 4t (B R o

(@ The subscription rights attaching to 300,000 (@)

share options were exercised in the prior year at
the subscription price of HK$0.3 per share (note
37), resulting in the issue of 300,000 new ordinary
shares of HK$0.1 each for a total cash consideration
of HK$90,000. An amount of HK$33,000 was
transferred from the share option reserve to share
premium account upon the exercise of the share
options in the prior year.

(b) M BE 7,000,000 B& A% #E 2 R
BRECRAFERNERRBESR
0.3 T FLATTIE (MI5E37) » BEL
%% 177,000,0000% & A% @ E0.178

(b) The subscription rights attaching to 7,000,000
share options were exercised during the year at the
subscription price of HK$0.3 per share (note 37),

resulting in the issue of 7,000,000 new ordinary
shares of HK$0.1 each for a total cash consideration
of HK$2,100,000. An amount of HK$770,000 was
transferred from the share option reserve to share
premium account upon the exercise of the share
options.

The convertible notes with an aggregated principal
amount of HK$5,000,000 were converted into
4,347,825 new ordinary shares of the Company at a
conversion price of HK$1.15 per share.

TZHEBR - BERERES
2,100,000/8 7C » 1T AR #E 1R - &
¥A770,00058 7L © M BB R (R 58

BERMGER-

) A% #2% /45,000,000 T 2 7] #
REECIRER.158 T2 EBH](E
B A4 347 825X A AR FTE B

P
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36. SHARE CAPITAL (Continued) 36. Mt A& (=)
A summary of the transactions during the year with FARR AR RAREBETRAES) 2
reference to the above movements in the Company’s RHGMEBMAT

issued share capital is as follows:

Number of Share
shares Issued premium
in issue capital account Total
R
ROEE CBERTRE RORER @it
Notes HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
P&t TET TET THT
At 1 April 2011 RZF——
mA—H 1,144,122,328 114,412 1,275,015 1,389,427
Share options exercised BT BkE (a) 300,000 30 93 123
At 31 March 2012 and RZT—Z
1 April 2012 ZA=+—-Bk
—E——fF
mA—H 1,144,422,328 114,442 1,275,108 1,389,550
Share options exercised BT BkE (b) 7,000,000 700 2,170 2,870
Conversion of convertble notes B A # R Z i () 4,347,825 435 4,267 4,702
At 31 March 2013 R_E—=F

=A=t+—H 1,155,770,153 115,677 1,281,545 1,397,122
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37. SHARE OPTION SCHEME

The Company operates a share option scheme (the
“Scheme”) for the purpose of providing incentives and
rewards to eligible participants who contribute to the
success of the Group’s operations. Eligible participants of
the Scheme include the Company’s directors, including
independent non-executive directors, other employees of
the Group and consultants of any member of the Group.
The Scheme became effective on 10 October 2005 and,
unless otherwise cancelled or amended, will remain in
force for 10 years from that date.

The maximum number of unexercised share options
currently permitted to be granted under the Scheme is
an amount equivalent, upon their exercise, to 10% of
the shares of the Company in issue at any time. The
maximum number of shares issuable under share options
to each eligible participant in the Scheme within any
12-month period is limited to 1% of the shares of the
Company in issue at any time. Any further grant of share
options in excess of this limit is subject to shareholders’
approval in a general meeting.

Share options granted to a director are subject to
approval in advance by the independent non-executive
directors of the Company, or to any of their associates, in
excess of 0.1% of the shares of the Company in issue at
any time or with an aggregate value (based on the price
of the Company’s shares at the date of grant) in excess of
HK$5 million, within any 12-month period, are subject to
shareholders’ approval in advance in a general meeting.

7. W iz A 5t

ARBIRE - HBBRESS ([Z&H
2 REAKEEBELERZEE
RSRERHEBRER LB A
BERSEZARARAES BREBY
FATEFT AEEEMBETIRAKE
EAKE AR ZEH Zf BN _FF
hFETATHAER HRIFETHIE
R ZETEISNE BT +EASERH
2 o

RiFZET S BRMER D 2 HARTTRE
BRELLRINSEBARFNRDET
RN BB Z210% - MNZFTEIE T 2 8%
BER2RERBBRERZHTRN L
R AEM12(8 A BRI SEB8ARRN
2 BITRD B2 1%  (EfE— TR
e BREBEBIRE MFLRRE
PBERAE L&

RYEEERESNTHELESEARRB
MIEHITES (KEBBAL)IE: &
BIBARR R TR B BITIRH0.1% N E
1218 A BAfE - R BB (&% T B Hi6s
AR R Z % E) B 185,000,000/ 7t » Al
EERLERERRERS EE-
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37. SHARE OPTION SCHEME (Continued) 37. W % HE 5 & (s
The offer of a grant of share options may be accepted PRI IR B B B28 R 2R 0E -
within 28 days from the date of offer. The amount payable BENERERFNRIBERIBITL KTHE
on acceptance of an option is HK$1. The exercise period REMNTTFEARESEE
of the share options granted is determinable by the
directors.
The exercise price of share options is determinable by the BRECTEENREEEET VAR
directors and shall be at least the highest of (i) the closing LWTEEBzZREE: (RMOAEZREBEH
price of the shares as stated in the daily quotation sheet (ZAMEREEB)RNERBAR I
of The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the “Stock BRAR ([BRFT]) BRAMERAMYZ
Exchange”) on the offer date, which must be a business W& (RN EZEEREB B RE
day; (i) the average closing price of the shares as stated LEHRNEBZITEBERERZFH
in the Stock Exchange’s daily quotation sheets for the five T (E K (i) HE1E -
business days immediately preceding the offer date; and
(i) the nominal value of a share.
Share options do not confer rights on the holders to BRETERTHE ARIERR S
dividends or to vote at shareholders’ meeting. RERERE LRRE-
The following share options were outstanding under the ERFERN  Zat & T RARITE 2 B
Scheme during the year: T
2013 2012
—E-=F —EB-C&
Weighted Weighted
average average
exercise Number exercise Number
price of options price of options
MEEY ¥
TRE BREHA THEE BREHE
HK$ HKS
per share per share
ShiEx FRABT
At beginning of year RE] 0.68 36,000,000 0.68 36,300,000
Granted during the year RERRL 0.76 18,800,000 = =
Exercised during the year RERTTHRE 0.30 (7,000,000 0.30 (300,000)
Expired during the year RERE R 2.15 (700,000 = =
At 31 March R=A=+—H 0.75 47,100,000 0.68 36,000,000
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37. SHARE OPTION SCHEME (Continued)

The weighted average share price at the date of exercise
for share options exercised during the year was HK$0.82
(2012: HK$0.88) per share and the weighted average
closing price of the Company’s shares immediately before
the exercise date of the share options was HK$0.83 per
share (2012: HK$0.89).

The exercise prices and exercise periods of the share

37. Ik

HE B & ()

RENTERBREZ INEFLEHRELS
JRO.B2B T (ZE——F:088ET) &
1TEBBRRHE B IR A B D Z INHE F15
WHEAFRSIBIT(ZT— —4F:

0.89/8 7T ) ©

REERRERITRE 2 BREZITEE

options outstanding as at the end of the reporting period NATE BRI T

are as follows:

2013 —E-=F

Number of options Exercise price* Exercise period
BREHE TEE* TEHE
HKS$ per share
BRERT
14,000,000 0.300 26-10-2005 to 25-10-2015

7,300,000 1.300 18-12-2006 to 17-12-2016
3,000,000 1.030 3-1-2012 to 2-1-2014
1,000,000 1.030 3-1-2013 to 2-1-2015
1,000,000 1.080 3-1-2014 to 2-1-2016
1,000,000 1.080 3-1-2015 to 2-1-2017
1,000,000 1.030 3-1-2016 to 2-1-2018
2,900,000 0.710  31-12-2012 to 11-5-2017
2,900,000 0.710 31-12-2013 to 11-5-2017
2,000,000 0.710 15-8-2013 to 11-5-2017
2,000,000 0.710  15-2-2014 to 11-5-2017
3,000,000 0.824  22-10-2013 to 21-10-2017
3,000,000 0.824 22-10-2014 to 21-10-2017
3,000,000 0.824 22-10-2015 to 21-10-2017

47,100,000
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37. SHARE OPTION SCHEME (Continued) 37. W M HE 5 & (s
2012 —T——F
Number of options Exercise price* Exercise period
BREZE TEE* TEHBE
HK$ per share
BRERT
21,000,000 0.300 26-10-2005 to 25-10-2015
7,300,000 1.300 18-12-2006 to 17-12-2016
700,000 2.1560 24-2-2008 to 23-8-2012
3,000,000 1.080 3-1-2012 to 2-1-2014
1,000,000 1.080 3-1-2013 to 2-1-2015
1,000,000 1.030 3-1-2014 to 2-1-2016
1,000,000 1.030 3-1-2015to 2-1-2017
1,000,000 1.080 3-1-2016 to 2-1-2018
36,000,000
* The exercise price of the share options is subject to * BT E AR B ERSAIRETT
adjustment in the case of rights or bonus issues, or other HAR ARz E v AU B
similar changes in the Company’s share capital. o
The fair value of the share options granted during the year FRE R L ERE 2 AT E 58,346,000
was HK$8,346,000 (HK$0.44 each), of which the Group BT (BR044BTT)  HRAREERNE
recognised a share option expense of HK$5,828,000 BT =F=ZA=1+—HILFED®
during the year ended 31 March 2013. No share options R B8 A% #E FE 2 5,828,00058 7T e A EF I
were granted during the prior year. EEREERL -
The fair value of equity-settled share options granted REN RTREEE 2 ATFEEUET
during the year was estimated as at the date of grant, A2z =R 2 BIfR R AIRHEMmET - AT &R
using a binomial model, taking into account the terms FIHZ—mERARE AEE :

and conditions upon which the options were granted. The
following table lists the inputs to the model used:

2013

—E2—=fF

Dividend yield (%) AR B8 R (%) 2.55 - 2.68

Expected volatility (%) T8 BROR 18 (%) 60 - 73

Historical volatility (%) JE 5B R 1 (%) 70-73

Risk-free interest rate (%) 45 2 g2 1) 2 (%) 0.333 - 0.510

Expected life of options (years) BERERME (F) 42-5
Weighted average share price nEFHRE (FRET)

(HKS per share) 0.76
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37. SHARE OPTION SCHEME (continued)

The expected life of the options is based on the historical
data and is not necessarily indicative of the exercise
patterns that may occur. The expected volatility reflects
the assumption that the historical volatility is indicative
of future trends, which may also not necessarily be the
actual outcome.

No other feature of the options granted was incorporated
into the measurement of fair value.

The 7,000,000 (2012: 300,000) share options exercised
during the year resulted in the issue of 7,000,000 (2012:
300,000) ordinary shares of the Company and new share
capital of HK$700,000 (2012: HK$30,000) and share
premium of HK$2,170,000 (2012: HK$93,000), as further
detailed in note 36 to the financial statements.

At the end of the reporting period, the Company had
47,100,000 share options outstanding under the
Scheme. The exercise in full of the outstanding share
options would, under the present capital structure of the
Company, result in the issue of 47,100,000 additional
ordinary shares of the Company and additional share
capital of HK$4,710,000, and share premium of
HK$30,564,000 (before issue expenses).

At the date of approval of these financial statements, the
Company had 47,100,000 share options outstanding
under the Scheme, which represented approximately
4.08% of the Company’s shares in issue as at that date.

7. W Mk A S A a0

BREEMHEREELBEETER
METTERAERGE - FRHIKIE AR
SRRIBIERIESIAEI R KRB AT R

= Y 4t
E/‘_‘é/’%ﬂ%o

WER T AR FEEAE 2 HEMRUE
Pt o

FRNBETME 27,000,000 (=F
— Z 4 : 300,00017 ) % A% # 8 B 3 17
7,000,0000% ( — = — — £ : 300,0000% )
RNR A2 R KRR Z8700,0007% 7T

—F— 4 :30,000/8 7T ) A KB &
182,170,000 7t ( —Z — — 4 : 93,000
BIT) (B TS 3R KR T sE36FT i — H&F
i) o

REHR BRIEZAE A2aF
47,100,00017 & A # & R 1T - IR IE AR
ARRBRITRALEE 2ETERT 2B
IR #E & B BUR R R B SN 88 1747,100,000
1% & 8 A% - BB INAR AR &4,710,0000% 7T -
P& 17 4 18 A30,564,00078 7T (405 317
A °

RELAEL S EHRERE B BIEZTE
N A B 47,100,00017 B IR #E i R 1T
fF - (ERARE BB EBITIRND44.08% o



38. RESERVES

(a)

(b)

GROUP

The amounts of the Group’s reserves and the
movements therein for the current and prior years
are presented in the consolidated statement of
changes in equity on pages 63 and 64 of the
financial statements.

The reserve funds of the Group represent the non-
distributable statutory reserves of the Group’s
subsidiaries operating in Mainland China. The
transfers to these reserves are determined by the
boards of directors of the subsidiaries in accordance
with the relevant laws and regulations of Mainland
China. The reserve funds can be used to offset
against future losses or to increase the capital of the
subsidiaries.
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* 4
AEEBERFERAFE 2 #HE

RENMFEREHE 2RI BRER
FOSKOAR LR EHREE K -

AEBZ REAREENHEARE
/B8 2 B AN BE 0 IR 2 OE TE R o B
BRRIZEZRBREPEAEZ
BRZREREEZEHE Ut
it A BRIk 2 B R B SH e R 1
Y& ANFHT B A R) 2 BREAN o

COMPANY (b) 727
Share Capital Share
premium Contributed redemption option Retained
account surplus reserve reserve profits Total
Rin B EHRH BOEE ERERE REEH @it
Notes HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
(i FET FEL FEL T FHL FEL
At 1 April 2011 R-E——%FNA-A 1,275,015 59,759 316 6,761 56,871 1,398,722
Loss for the year and KEEBBRAEE
total comprehensive BrERE
loss for the year 1 - - - - (8,312) (8,312)
Issue of shares upon AT mRERETRR
exercise of share options 93 - - (33) = 60
Equity-settled share option ~ WAEZS A E 2 BIREL B
arrangements - - - 1,685 - 1,685
Proposed final dividend 12 - - - - (45,777 (45,777)
At 31 March 2012 and
1 April 2012 1,275,108 59,759 316 8,413 2,782 1,346,378
Profit for the year and total $¢T RHRAEEL2EKA
comprehensive income
for the year 11 - - - - 429,401 429,401
Transfer to retained profits ~ BREERHAEZREEF
upon expiry of share
options - - - (472) 472 -
Issue of shares upon RITERREM R TR
exercise of share options 2,170 - - (770) - 1,400
Equity-settled share option ~ LAEZS A E 2 BIRIEL B
arrangements - - - 5,828 - 5,828
Conversion of convertible SRTARER
notes 4267 - - - - 4,267
Final 2012 dividend declared ER=Z——FRHKE 12 - - - - (280) (280)
Proposed final dividend BEaAARE 12 - - - - (57,789) (67,789)
Proposed special dividend B RIS 12 = = = = (346,731) (346,731)
At 31 March 2013 R-E-=%=A=+-A 1,281,545 59,759 316 12,999 27,855 1,382,474
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38. RESERVES (Continued)

The contributed surplus of the Company arose as
a result of the Group reorganisation on 12 August
1991 and represented the difference between
the nominal value of the share capital issued by
the Company and the combined net assets of
the subsidiaries acquired pursuant to the Group
reorganisation, less the effects of the bonus issue of
shares in previous years.

Under the Companies Act 1981 of Bermuda (as
amended), the contributed surplus is distributable to
shareholders under certain specific circumstances.

The share option reserve comprises the fair value of
share options granted which are yet to be exercised,
as further explained in the accounting policy for
share-based payment transactions in note 2.4 to
the financial statements. The amount will either be
transferred to the share premium account when the
related options are exercised, or be transferred to
retained profits should the related options expire or
be forfeited.

38. f# fl5 (@)

ARRNBEHARBKTIR—NN—F
NA+ZBEOEESEMEL &
ARRRBITRANEERRIEEE
ERMBENHBRRINGHEE
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BREERE-NN—FRFE (K
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DK T AR ©

BREREBRERLBRRITEZ
BREATE FHE—THNY
BHRERMF2LANBPD X NZF 2
BABR -REeRARNBEEBR
RETERERERMEERIRN
ERBREBHR AR ERER

Bm A e



o AR A T 2 JRC A PR
20134F

Notes to Financial Statements

W B % Mk
31 March 2018 —F—=#=H=+—H
39. NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED 39. ZAH LW ERM
STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS
(@) Reconciliation of profit before tax to net cash flows (@) BREEATEFI R AL & E R R IR S F
from operating activities: HE 2 H R
Group
rE
2013 2012
—E—-=fF —EF-=F
HK$°000 HK$’000
FERT FETT
Profit before tax B 5t Bl A 213,875 232,392
Adjustments for: B %HA :
Bank interest income IRITH B U A (1,516) (2,683)
Interest income from an H b FE BGR A B A
other receivable - (137)
Dividend income from available- AHEEERERS
for-sale investments WA (66,672) (22,224)
Gain on disposal of HEREYEZ W
an investment property (8,000) =
Depreciation e 37,827 40,735
Equity-settled share option AR 4 E 2 B IR
expense 53 5,828 1,685
Finance costs MBER 47,305 42,626
Fair value losses/(gains), net AEEEBE (KE)
Financial assets at fair value FREZAFEYERR
through profit or loss RERPEEZ
TRMEE (1,243) 26
Available-for-sale investments AHEHERE (R
(transfer from equity on HEREERER)
disposal) (38,389) -
Derivative instruments — PTETE-TFE
transactions not qualifying as HHAEEZR S
hedges (38,562) 11,085
Loss on disposal of items of HEME  BE R
property, plant and HBZEBE F8
equipment, net 217 214
Impairment of trade debtors JEWE SRR BB 1,565 2,154
Recognition of prepaid land ENIHEEREL
lease payment 7 409 404
Share of profits and losses of iy NGl
associates w4 & & ia 5,420 1,087
Changes in fair value of investment & & ¥ ¥ A FEE
properties, net FEE (70,693) (91,335)
87,371 216,029
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39. NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED 30. A& HELRM (w)
STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS

(Continued)

(@ Reconciliation of profit before tax to net cash flows @ BB ELEXEHIRE T
from operating activities: (Continued) BB (&
Group
rEE
2013 2012
—E—-=F —_E—=
HK$’000 HK$’000
FERT FHT
Increase in properties under TR 2
development (193,299) (811,029)
Decrease in properties BIELEME 2R
held for sale 36,949 141,780
Decrease/(increase) in inventories &4 (18 h1) 4,784 (810)
Increase in debtors, deposits and ~ FERERF - 24 K FEUK
prepayments 3 10 (8,991) (35,078)
Increase/(decrease) in trade FEfHE SR AL I,
creditors OB ) (23,421) 52,793
Increase in sundry creditors, HibEERK  FEET B A
accruals and deposits received KB W% & #1E n 359,807 31,703
Decrease in deferred income EREWA 2D (10,350) (55,536)
Increase in deposits received B Uiz e 12 N 1,367 878
Decrease in amounts due to BN E SRR D
directors (3,782) (8,521)
Cash generated from operations K& EKHMB RS 250,435 32,209
Interest element of finance lease BEHERe MR
rental payments M EHH (98) =
Hong Kong profits tax paid BNEBFEHK (649) (514)
Mainland China tax paid AT BB (8,997) (15,585)
Net cash flows from operating KEEE RS REFRE
activities 240,691 16,110
(b)  Major non-cash transaction b)) BEXRIRERH
During the year ended 31 March 2013, the Group REZE-ZT—=F=ZA=+—HI1t
entered into finance lease arrangements in respect FEN AEBERREERBEA
of property, plant and equipment with a total capital B AREEAB2,712,0008 7T (- =
value at the inception of the leases of HK$2,712,000 —ZF ) 2WE BB MERER

(2012: Nil). VREHEZHE-
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40. CONTINGENT LIABILITIES 40. B % & &
At the end of the reporting period, contingent liabilities not RI|MEBAR RINAMBHREZHARE
provided for in the financial statements were as follows: BT :
Group Company
¥ -] N
2013 2012 2013 2012
“E-zZfF| 2% | ZB-=ZfF| —T-——F
HK$’000 HK$'000 HK$°000 HK$'000
TER THT TET THT
Guarantees given for mortgage RENBENFERZ
loan facilties granted to RBENEE
property purchasers e B &R 229,194 182,930 - -
Guarantees given for banking BB RRERRITEE
facilties granted to subsidiaries e A &R - - 1,822,357 1,530,462
229,194 182,930 1,822,357 1,530,462

41.

The banking facilities granted to subsidiaries subject
to guarantees given by the Company were utilised to
the extent of approximately HK$828,149,000 (2012:
HK$954,036,000).

OPERATING LEASE ARRANGEMENTS
(a) AS LESSOR
The Group leases its investment properties (note 15)
under operating lease arrangements, with leases
negotiated for terms ranging from 1 to 15 years. The
terms of the leases generally also require the tenants
to pay security deposits and provide for periodic rent

adjustments according to the then prevailing market
conditions.

ARBGRH B R BERRITEEMIED
S{RE FAREE 45828,149,000/% 7T (=
T — — 4 : 954,036,000/ 7T ) °

IiF

41. BREWME %8

(@) TEBHHMA

AEBRBELEEELBHBERKR
BEWx (Mia1s) KEHELS
BER BN F—2+0%F-H
SRR —RITBFEETAER
BEMRETHER T EEERT
AmERAERE -
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41. OPERATING LEASE ARRANGEMENTS 41. 8 & Hl & % # (#)

(Continued)

(a) AS LESSOR (Continued)

At 31 March 2013, the Group had total future
minimum lease receivables under non-cancellable
operating leases with its tenants falling due as

(a) 1EABHAA 4
-e—=%=A= + A A%
LB L e S
2 7 S TR B AE A TR

follows: RS EEELNT
Group
KEH
2013 2012
—E—-=fF —E—_F
HK$’000 HK$'000
FExT FET
Within one year R—FK 68,279 57,884
In the second to fifth years, REZZERF
inclusive (BIEEEWE) 130,213 106,695
After five years NERFE 57,714 50,174
256,206 214,753

(b) AS LESSEE

The Group leases certain of its properties under
operating lease arrangements. Leases for properties
are negotiated for terms ranging from 1 to 10 years
and rentals are normally fixed in accordance with the
respective tenancy agreements.

(b) fERAMA
AEBRFEERERFRAET
W% o R BEL TR ER 2 BB

—Z2+F - BEZYBEHRR
BAMZ HESOEE -
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41. OPERATING LEASE ARRANGEMENTS 41. & 2 f#l & % 8 (&)
(Continued)
(b) AS LESSEE (Continued) ﬁE /{—Ii EHA (4
At 31 March 2013, the Group had total future RZE—=%F= ﬂ +—H &%
minimum lease payments under non-cancellable ERIER T 5 HAR 2 HA 2 T 0] 48R
operating leases falling due as follows: KEHETRBRASN 2 &ERS
REIT
Group
rEH

2013 2012

—E—-=fF —E-CF

HK$’000 HK$’000

FET FHT

Within one year R—F R 31,934 25,027

In the second to fifth years, RE_ZERF

inclusive (BEERME) 105,921 76,380

After five years RERFE 873 2,023

138,728 104,330
The operating leases of certain properties also BIEE THE BRI BIEREIE
called for additional rentals, which would be based fH BETYENKCEHEOIERE
on certain percentage of turnover of the operations BREAMEEEBHNENET

being undertaken therein pursuant to the terms BOLLBKEEINEER AR ZE?
and conditions as stipulated in the respective TEH) AR R UL Z 7 R 25 B R 8 0 A 1

rental agreements. As the future turnover of these B MR ABBRAES -

operations could not be accurately determined
as at the end of the reporting period, the relevant
contingent rental has not been included.
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42.

43.

COMMITMENTS

In addition to the operating lease commitments detailed
in note 41(b) above, the Group had the following
commitments at the end of the reporting period:

42.

Z

RS HIR - BR PR £ 41 (o) 2 &
LHEAEIN REBA A TALE:

Group

rEE
2013 2012
—E—-=F —EF-=F
HK$°000 HK$’000
FHET FET

Contracted, but not provided for: EHEK AR

Property, plant and equipment M BE LR 2,543 1,703
Purchases of land use rights B A i (FE AR 292,543 275,753
Properties under development EEGE S 417,347 151,004
712,433 428,460

In addition, the Group has rights to purchase pre-
determined lots of land in the PRC pursuant to legal
binding agreements. The commitment under such legal
binding agreements amounted to RMB237 million (2012:
RMB225 million).

At the end of the reporting period, the Company did not
have any significant commitments.

PLEDGE OF ASSETS

As at the end of the reporting period, certain of the
Group’s property, plant and equipment, investment
properties, properties under development, properties
held for sale, time deposits, structured deposits and
financial assets at fair value through profit or loss with a
total carrying value of approximately HK$2,734,460,000
(2012: HK$2,285,644,000), were pledged to secure
general banking and other facilities granted to the Group.
In addition, rental income generated in respect of certain
investment properties of the Group was assigned to
bankers to secure loan facilities granted to the Group.

43.

Rt ANEEHBEREER N 2 HE
EREETPREEELTEN L
EEZEEEBR N HBEEEAARE
237,000,0007C (ZE——F: AR
225,000,0007T) °

R¥RE IR - NA R IR A (E [ B AR

= o

=

% 1 4

RBERR AEBHEBAERED
2,734,460,0008 L (=T — Z F :
22856440008 70) 2 & T B E &
R REVE ERYE BEFHE
ME THER  BEMERRIEATE
FFABERERCSRMEEDEERI - AR
F—MRBITREMEE 1IN AEETR
IAEB IR E M E 2 S RS fEH I - A
MEBRITZEE-



44. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

(@)

In addition to the transactions detailed elsewhere
in these financial statements, the Group had the
following transaction with a related party during the
year:
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4. FRHEANLER D

(@

B B RE SR B 75 R LA TR Y
RPN REBEBRAEALNF
NET IR S

2013 2012
—E—-= —_F—-
HK$’000 HK$’000
FET FET
Rental paid to a director (note) NHEESHE—NES (M) 48 48

Note: The rental paid to a director was determined based
on mutually agreed rental rate. In the opinion of the
directors, the above transaction was entered into by
the Group in the normal course of business.

Other transaction with related parties:

In the prior years, the Group acquired a 55% equity
interest in Hunan Carrianna (the “Acquisition”)
from Ma Kai Cheung (“KC Ma”) and Ma Kai Yum
(“KY Ma”), the substantial shareholders and
executive directors of the Company. In respect
of the Acquisition, KC Ma and KY Ma have given
an undertaking to indemnify the Group against
monetary losses up to RMB216 million arising from
the failure of Hunan Carrianna to acquire any portion
of the pre-determined lots of land and Hunan
Carrianna’s cost of acquisition of any portion of
these pieces of land which is higher than the pre-
determined price.

The above transaction also constitutes a connected
transaction as defined in Chapter 14A of the Listing
Rules.

fizE: RIBEEFTRBZES LR
EFHL -EFER/LARSH
DAREERBEEBRETL

HiEBREALTHETZRS:

RBAFE AEEMARAZ
FTEBRRRATESSENE([H
NENDEENMTKR([HENH]) K
BB EEPs%E ([UEE
FHEH]) HRUBEEMST - FN
BERENHNRABSAZIREARE
216,000,0007T #Y =R 5 8 A8 &
R AREEEREARE HELT
B (E (] B 10 Ko 8 FE e IR A B b
HERE DK EASRE EEBRIE
&o

FARZ IR ER LR RIS+ MA
EMAEZLABEALRS
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44. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

(Continued)

(c) Outstanding balances with related parties:

)

)

(iv)

Except for amounts due to directors of
HK$22,492,000 (2012: HK$30,700,000) by
the Group which are not repayable within one
year, the remaining balances of amounts due
to directors are unsecured, interest-free and
have no fixed terms of repayment.

Except for an amount due to a director of
HK$15,713,000 (2012: HK$17,578,000) by
the Company which is not repayable within
one year, the remaining balances of amounts
due to directors are unsecured, interest-free
and have no fixed terms of repayment.

Except for amounts due to non-controlling
shareholders of HK$47,083,000 (2012:
HK$48,711,000) which are not repayable
within one year, the remaining balances of
amounts due to non-controlling shareholders
are unsecured, interest-free and have no fixed
terms of repayment.

Details of the amounts due from/to associates
as at the end of the reporting period are
included in note 21 to the financial statements.

(d) Compensation of key management personnel of the ) AEEFEEEABZIHRM:
Group:
2013 2012
—E—-=F —ET-=F
HK$°000 HK$’000
FERT FHET
Short term employee benefits HEEE R A 18,925 13,752
Post-employment benefits RRAE A 194 157
Equity-settled share option expense AME % 45 & A9 B8 PUAE I 2 2,969 1,360
Total compensation paid to key WEEEE AR ZBTRB
management personnel 22,088 15,269
Further details of directors’ emoluments are included EEMe 2 E—THBIRNATH

4. FHEANL XS @)

(©)

BB C REBRGEE:

0)

(i)

(iv)

B A & BN EE
22,492,000/ 7T 2 & X HA
Bl —FHN( T ——F:
30,700,000 L) ' [EffE =
REZ EspEsrao 88K
W EEERE -

BARNAEN —BESE
15,713,000 Lo (ZF—=
£ :17,578,0008 7T ) » B
EERBEZESEHAEIR
He s WEETENRY-

BrofE O OJE R OB R
47,083,000 T (=& — =
148,711,000/ 1) Z B &K
BRI —F N B IEER
REFRIB EpER B ER
R BWEEFEERR-

RIREIREY, R E
RAERFBIHRIBRE
MzE2d o

in note 8 to the financial statements.

AP S o
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45. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS BY 45. EEH N zeMm T H

CATEGORY

The carrying amounts of each of the categories of

™ RE-—RENERTARKREHR

financial instruments as at the end of the reporting period YRR E 1A
are as follows:
2013 —E—=%
Financial assets cREE
Group rEH
Financial assets at
fair value through
profit or loss
BATEIER
REBHEFEREMN
SRHEE
Designated Available-
as such for-sale
upon initial Held for  Loans and financial
recognition trading receivables assets Total
RER
ReRR b ERR  AfHEZ
BREE BEEE FE BR TR SHEE @it
HK$'000 HK$°000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TET TET TET TET TET
Due from associates, net of impairment e AR B RE - - 193,661 - 193,661
Available-for-sale investments AEHERE - - - 954,368 954,368
Financial assets at fair value BRTEIIRRAERS
through profit or loss RENSRHEE 15,313 - - - 15,313
Financial assets included in debtors, FARKERR e kAR
deposits and prepayments HEZSREE - - 189,558 - 189,558
Derivative financial instrument fTEEMIA - 32,477 - - 32,477
Structured deposits HEEER 81,643 - - - 81,643
Restricted cash BRHRS - - 13,013 - 13,013
Pledged time deposits EREHER - - 43,526 - 43,526
Cash and cash equivalents RekReEERE - - 479,413 - 479,413
96,956 32,477 919,171 954,368 2,002,972
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45. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS BY
CATEGORY (Continued)

The carrying amounts of each of the categories of
financial instruments as at the end of the reporting period
are as follows: (Continued)

45. HHEEH Nz 2 T B (g)

MRE-—RENERTARKREHR
MRRE{E - (4&)

2013 —E-=F
Financial liabilities SRBE
Group &
Financial
liabilities
at fair value
through Financial
profit or loss liabilities at
- held for amortised
trading cost Total
BOFEIR
kREHEH
BEEH LA 85
cHEE BAGHEM
-BEEE - 3=N HE
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000
THERT TET TERT
Due to a jointly-controlled entity FEfT H R EHE 58
(note 20) (Ff3E20) - 612 612
Due to associates (note 21) JE T B = 2 7]
(FHiEE21) - 4,031 4,031
Trade creditors eI 8 SR - 108,064 108,064
Financial liabilities included in AT AE A AR
sundry creditors, accruals and EErBERAREW
deposits received RezemasE - 143,409 143,409
Due to directors ENES - 28,478 28,478
Due to non-controlling shareholders ~ J& - JEH2 AR A% R - 52,916 52,916
Interest-bearing bank and BB Z8R1TR
other borrowings HifEE - 997,271 997,271
Finance lease payables ENEMEHRE - 2,123 2,123
Derivative financial instrument MTEemMITE 7,270 - 7,270
Convertible notes Gl &2 11,981 57,411 69,392
19,251 1,394,315 1,413,566
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45. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS BY 45. M E ek 2 28 T H (9
CATEGORY (Continued)
The carrying amounts of each of the categories of TR —RENERTARRERR
financial instruments as at the end of the reporting period FEREE: (&)

are as follows: (Continued)

2012 T
Financial assets cREE
Group RE
Financial
assets at fair
value through
profit or loss
designated
as such upon Avalilable-for-
initial Loans and sale financial
recognition receivables assets Total
RERERE
RILIRE R
AFETIRR
RERTRE £ g,
MemEE MR SREE @t
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TER TR FHT TER
Due from associates, net of impairment = AR RRE - 191,404 - 191,404
Avallable-for-sale investments AfHERE - - 933,415 933,415
Financial assets at fair value through RATESIR RN BR PRI
profit or loss SHREE 9,411 - - 9,411
Financial assets included in debtors, TABMGR - e RIERFE
deposits and prepayments LEREE - 160,194 - 160,194
Restricted cash BRERE - 17,170 - 17,170
Pledged time deposits ERTHER - 37,537 - 37,537
Cash and cash equivalents RekASEEEE - 305,200 - 305,200

9,411 711,505 933,415 1,654,331




Carrianna Group Holdings Company Limited
Annual Report 2013

Notes to Financial Statements

B B 4 % W Ak

31 March 2013 —F—=#=H=+—H

45. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS BY
CATEGORY (Continued)

The carrying amounts of each of the categories of
financial instruments as at the end of the reporting period
are as follows: (Continued)

45. HHEw N 2 e LH @

™RE-—RENERTARKREHR
MRRE{E - (&)

2012 T
Financial liabilities SRBE
Group RE
Financial
liabilities
at fair value
through Financial
profit or loss liabilities at
- held for amortised
trading cost Total
BAFEYR
KBz
BRI LA 55
TRAE B ARG B A
—-RBEEE TRAE ks
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FAT FAET FHET
Due to a jointly-controlled FEf H RIS E 58
entity (note 20) (FF3E20) - 612 612
Due to associates (note 21) FERTEE &R E] (Fi7E21) - 3,990 3,990
Trade creditors eI & 5Bk K - 130,612 130,612
Financial liabilities included in FTAEMERIRR
sundry creditors, accruals and T ER KRB
deposits received BezemAaRE = 162,490 162,490
Due to directors ERES - 32,051 32,051
Due to non-controlling e IETE R AR 3R
shareholders - 61,716 61,716
Interest-bearing bank and M Bz RITREMEE
other borrowings - 1,163,888 1,163,888
Derivative financial instrument TEEMIT A 8,418 - 8,418
8,418 1,555,359 1,563,777
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45. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS BY 45. M E ek 2 28 T H (9
CATEGORY (Continued)
The carrying amounts of each of the categories of Ty A —REMNERTARHKERR
financial instruments as at the end of the reporting period WEREE: (&)
are as follows: (Continued)
Financial assets TREE
Company
AT
2013 2012
—E-=F —E——fF
HK$’000 HK$'000
FExT F&T
Loans and receivables: B E AR
Due from subsidiaries, NG
net of impairment HBRIRE 2,004,776 1,819,717
Dividend receivable FEU AR B 450,000 =
Other receivables and deposits B R EBR R MRS 99 99
Due from associates JE U B 2 1 ) 3,925 3,925
Cash and cash equivalents RekREEEEE 677 109
2,459,477 1,823,850
Financial liabilities SRBE
Company
VNN
2013 2012
—EB-=£F —E——4F
HK$’000 HK$’000
FHET FET
Financial liabilities at amortised cost: A SHR AR ET B R
TEAaE:
Due to subsidiaries FERTHE R A 518,575 359,425
Sundry creditors and accruals E b FETBR R
FEETE A 2,853 1,528
Convertible notes Al R 57,411 =
Due to directors ENES 28,076 23,290
606,915 384,243
Financial liabilities at fair value through ¥ A SF(E I BR &
profit or loss-held for trading: RiERPREN S M
BE-FIEER:
Convertible notes Al AR E iR 11,981 =
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46. FAIR VALUE HIERARCHY

The Group uses the following hierarchy for determining
and disclosing the fair values of financial instruments:

Level 1:

Level 2:

Level 3:

fair values measured based on quoted prices
(unadjusted) in active markets for identical
assets or liabilities

fair values measured based on valuation
techniques for which all inputs which have a
significant effect on the recorded fair value are
observable, either directly or indirectly

fair values measured based on valuation
techniques for which any inputs which have
a significant effect on the recorded fair value
are not based on observable market data
(unobservable inputs)

ASSETS MEASURED AT FAIR VALUE:

46. 7 F {2 W
AREERTHRBETREBYHT
A7 AFME:

5-F: RRASAEXABNERD

52 BB CREAR)HEA

FE

BIEEAERAYE Mk
EMETEZHEERHA
BEBUERIFARERR
&

RIGETEAERFE M
EMETEZEMEEHA
BEVIERBEABRTHR
B (TABEHASE) ST

Rt
[
IE]

Group b4
As at 31 March 2013 R-E—=F=H=+—H

Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total

5-E £ =8 kel

HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000

TER TET TER TET

Avallable-for-sale equity investments A ERERE 954,368 - - 954,368

Structured deposits HEEMER - 12,250 69,393 81,643

Financial assets at fair value through BRATESRE IR BT

profit or loss REZSRHEE - 15,313 - 15,313

Derivative financial instrument TESBITA - 32,477 - 32,477

954,368 60,040 69,393 1,083,801
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46. FAIR VALUE HIERARCHY (Continued) 46. A FH R (a0
ASSETS MEASURED AT FAIR VALUE: EATPHFEZERE: (8)
(Continued)
Group RE
As at 31 March 2012 R ——#F=HA=+—H
Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total
£-E FE FoE ke
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
AT FAT FAET TAT
Available-for-sale equity investments AR ERERE 933,415 - - 933,415
Financial assets at fair value through BRATESRERR BT
profit or loss BEZERAE - 9,411 - 9,411
933,415 9,411 = 942,826
During the year, there were no transfers of fair value REAN BEEENTAE-—BEE_[E
measurements between Level 1 and Level 2 and no ZATFEFERTENE = 2 AFET
transfers into or out of Level 3 fair value measurements EFEANEL (ZF——F:8)-
(2012: Nil).
The Company did not have any financial assets measured RZE—=F=A=+—HERZZE—=F
at fair value as at 31 March 2013 and 31 March 2012. =A :JF* B ARQEWREFEMAIEAF
BifE s eRMEE-
LIABILITIES MEASURED AT FAIR VALUE: HATHEHFEZAE:
Group RE
As at 31 March 2013 R-E—=F#=F=+—H
Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total
£ gl F=B ok
HK$'000 HK$’000 HK$000 HK$'000
FET TERT TET FET
Derivative financial instruments: PTESBTIA:
Interest rate swap k=5 - 7,270 - 7,270
Derivative component of the convertible notes A IR Z 1% 2§74 #617 - 11,981 - 11,981

2{0))
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46.

47.

FAIR VALUE HIERARCHY (Continued)

LIABILITIES MEASURED AT FAIR VALUE:
(Continued)

Group
As at 31 March 2012

46.

/NSRS AC )
DAaFstEzEE: (g

B

)

>

{

AEE
R-F——F=H=+—H

Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total
£-E E_E E= ke
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
THL FHL TEL TEL
Derivative financial instrument TESBTA - 8,418 - 8,418
Company AAF
As at 31 March 2013 R-E—=F=F=+—H
Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total
F-E -y £=E okl
HK$°000 HK$’000 HK$°000 HK$°000
TET THT TET FHT
Derivative financial instrument: fTESRIA:
Derivative component of the convertible notes AT ZE 1% 2 174 25 {7 - 11,981 - 11,981

The Company did not have any financial liabilities
measured at fair value as at 31 March 2012.

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT
OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES

The Group’s principal financial instruments, other than
derivatives, comprise interest-bearing bank and other
borrowings, and cash and bank balances. The main
purpose of these financial instruments is to raise finance
for the Group’s operations. The Group has various other
financial assets and liabilities such as trade debtors and
trade creditors, which arise directly from its operations.

47.

RZTE-—ZF=A=+—H XRFEWAR
BEEMZBRAFEAEZEREE-

B % e B i PEH R ROBOR

ANEBZETESRITA (BRITEIANN)
BRE|ETHEEREEMERK  UAKRE
CRRTEHR ZEeRMIAECZEEH
EXTHEEREBELE HMbWEREE
ReE PlnB S EKERRENES
BRFK o



47. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT

OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES (Continued)

The main risks arising from the Group’s financial
instruments are interest rate risk, foreign currency risk,
credit risk, liquidity risk and equity price risk. The board of
directors reviews and agrees policies for managing each
of these risks and they are summarised below.

The Group’s exposure to interest rate risks relates
primarily to the Group’s interest-bearing bank and other
borrowings with floating interest rates. The effective
interest rates and terms of repayment of the interest-
bearing bank and other borrowings of the Group are
disclosed in note 30. Interest rate risk is managed on an
ongoing basis with the primary objective of limiting the
extent to which net interest expense could be affected by
adverse movements in interest rate.

The Group has put in place an interest rate swap
arrangement for one of its floating rate term loans to
limit the variability in cash flows attributable to changes
in interest rates. This involves fixing portions of interest
payable on its underlying borrowings through derivative
instruments. Details of the interest rate swap are
disclosed in note 33 to the financial statements.

Assuming the amount of bank borrowings outstanding
at the end of the reporting period was outstanding for
the whole year, a 100 basis point increase/decrease
in interest rates would decrease/increase the Group’s
profit before tax for the current year by HK$7,144,000
(2012: HK$8,421,000) and finance costs capitalised by
HK$2,334,000 (2012: HK$2,727,000).

For interest rate swap contracts, a 10 basis point
increase/decrease in interest rates would increase/
decrease the Group’s equity as at 31 March 2013 by
HK$456,000 (2012: HK$693,000) as a result of fair value
changes on derivative financial instruments.
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47. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT A7. BRI S M EE kR

OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES (Continued)
INTEREST RATE RISK (Continued)

The sensitivity to the interest rate used above is
considered reasonable with the other variables held
constant. The sensitivity for interest rate swap contracts
is based on the assumption that there are parallel shifts in
the yield curve.

FOREIGN CURRENCY RISK

The Group mainly operates in Hong Kong and Mainland
China with most of the Group’s monetary assets, liabilities
and transactions principally denominated in Hong Kong
dollars and Renminbi, respectively. Majority of the sales,
purchases and expenditure incurred by the operating
units of the Group were denominated in the units’
functional currencies and as a result, the Group does not
anticipate significant transactional currency exposures.
The Group has not used any derivative to hedge its
exposure to foreign currency risk.

CREDIT RISK

The Group has no significant concentration of credit risk.
The credit risk of the Group’s financial assets, which
comprise cash and bank balances, time deposits, debtors
and deposits, amounts due from associates, and quoted
and unquoted financial instruments, arises from default of
the counterparty, with a maximum exposure equal to the
carrying amounts of these instruments.

Further quantitative data in respect of the Group’s
exposure to credit risk arising from trade debtors are
disclosed in note 27 to the financial statements.

LIQUIDITY RISK

The Group’s policy is to maintain sufficient cash and
cash equivalents and have available funding through
bank and other borrowings to meet its working capital
requirements.
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47. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT
OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES (Continued)

LIQUIDITY RISK (Continued)

The maturity profile of the Group’s financial liabilities as at
the end of the reporting period, based on the contractual
undiscounted payments, is as follows:
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R R By e EE & BOK

(%)

HEE 2 s

T%ﬁﬁﬁlﬁ/\#ﬁ%ﬁ Eﬁﬁﬁiﬁﬂﬁﬁ’
AE KRITIRTHRETE R E 1SS

Group rEE
2013
—E-=F
Within 1 year
or on demand 1 to 5 years Over 5 years Total
—FUT —FHE
HRERE ERENUT EENL @t
HK$'000 HK$’000 HK$'000 HK$°000
THER TR THx TR
Due to a jointly-controlled entity T RIE G B 88 FE 612 - - 612
Due to associates N =N 4,031 - - 4,031
Trade creditors ERESER 108,064 - - 108,064
Financial liabilities included in sundry ajr}\ﬁ‘rﬁllﬁﬁﬁﬁm JERER
creditors, accruals and deposits received kEYZREz eBBE 135,182 6,398 1,829 143,409
Due to directors O 5,986 22,492 - 28,478
Due to non-controling shareholders FERT SRR AR R 5,833 47,083 - 52,916
Interest-bearing bank and other W BZBAREMEE
borrowings (note) (WI3E) 695,343 291,168 10,760 997,271
Interest payments on interest-bearing ez RITREMBEEZ
bank and other borrowings FEZR 14,909 7,844 595 23,348
Derivative financial instrument PTESBTA 3,046 4,224 - 7,270
Finance lease payables ERNHERE 825 1,444 - 2,269
Convertible notes BEAESH 75,465 - - 75,465
Guarantees given to banks in connection HOXEREREE
with facilities granted to property mARITELER
purchasers 229,194 - - 229,194
1,278,490 380,653 13,184 1,672,327
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47. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT
OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES (Continued)

LIQUIDITY RISK (Continued)

The maturity profile of the Group’s financial liabilities as at
the end of the reporting period, based on the contractual

A7. BRI S M EE &R
(%)
wEE 2 EE (5
THAAEERBERANLRAE:
A 45 4 58 BN B R0 B BRI R

undiscounted payments, is as follows: (Continued) (%)
Group rE
2012
—E-——F
Within 1 year
or on demand 1to 5 years Qver 5 years Total
—EHUT —FEF
FREKE ZRENT AENE Bt
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
THEL TET FHEL TEx
Due to a jointly-controlled entity FER SRR EEE 612 - - 612
Due to associates & DA 3,990 - - 3,990
Trade creditors BB SRR 130,612 = = 130,612
Financial liabilities included in sundry STARMEMES  EAER
creditors, accruals and deposits received REWEZREZeBER 155,663 5,391 1,436 162,490
Due to directors ERES 1,351 30,700 = 32,051
Due to non-controling shareholders ANEREES 13,005 48,711 - 61,716
Interest-bearing bank and fEz BT REMEE (FE)
other borrowings (note) 561,659 487,365 114,864 1,163,888
Interest payments on interest-bearing M2z RITREMBEEZ
bank and other borrowings Fext 36,036 44,706 5,837 86,579
Derivative financial instrument TESRIA - 8,418 - 8,418
Guarantees given to banks in connection ROEEREEREE
with facilities granted to property MR TIELER
purchasers 182,930 - - 182,930
1,085,858 625,291 122,137 1,833,286

Note: Included in interest-bearing bank and other borrowings

fizt: MIBZRITREMERTHLREE

are term loans with an aggregate carrying amount of 398,072,000 T2 EHER (=ZF

HK$398,072,000 (2012: HK$19,322,000). The loan
agreements contain repayment on-demand clauses giving

— % :19,322,000/8 7T ) - ER %
BE—B BRI ERIET 4

the banks the unconditional right to call in the loans at any TIRIT AR FRER ESORFRER o
time and therefore, for the purpose of the above maturity st A B EAE R M E - 23 RIE T
profile, the total amount is classified as “on demand”. A TRESR] -

Notwithstanding the above clause, the directors do not REBULER EEWXTRAZXIA
believe that the loans will be called in entirety within 12 ERBRI2EA AR ERFE -5
months, and they consider that the loans will be repaid REZBERARBEERBZAEHZ
in accordance with the maturity dates as set out in the IR RE 2SI ELERAEE
loan agreements. This evaluation was made considering: L E B E B 2 Wk miE
the financial position of the Group at the date of approval B AEBEBTERLY WEELY
of the financial statements; the Group’s compliance with TR EEL AEE—EHEFET
the loan covenants; the lack of events of default, and the FrB SRl E R & HE

fact that the Group has made all previously scheduled

repayments on time.



47. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT
OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES (Continued)

LIQUIDITY RISK (Continued)
Note: (Continued)

In accordance with the terms of the loans which contain
repayment on-demand clauses, the maturity profile of
those loans as at the end of the reporting period, based on
the contractual undiscounted payments and ignoring the
effect of any repayment on-demand clauses, is as follows:

e AR A 2 JRC A PR
20134

Notes to Financial Statements

Wt o M A
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A7, W R IR B R R

e &2 kg

MfeE: (#)

BEERMED S —H LB
BRGRNESR RBEHAR - UG
RRTBRAS KT E R 2 ESR AR &
R AR R 2 282 HIE R a0
T

Within 1 year 1 to 5 years Over 5 years Total
—EpYLZE
—FHT EEUT BENE @t
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$°000
TER TER TER TER
As at 31 March 2013 RZE—=F=A=+—H 163,761 204,128 74,609 442,498
As at 31 March 2012 R-E-——F=F=1+—H 13,722 6,902 - 20,624

The maturity profile of the Company’s financial liabilities
as at the end of the reporting period, based on the
contractual undiscounted payments, is as follows:

A

TRAARBRBEMNRNEHEE
BRRITRNFKEE

SRR

Company VNN
2013
—E-=F
Within 1 year or
on demand 1 to 5 years Total
—FEUTH —-ENLE
RERE EEUT @t
HK$°000 HK$’000 HK$'000
TER TET TER
Due to subsidiaries LG 518,575 - 518,575
Sundry creditors and accruals HthENRT R ETER 2,853 - 2,853
Due to directors ENES 12,363 15,713 28,076
Convertible notes AAREE 75,465 - 75,465
Guarantees given to banks in connection ~ BB AAIERITEE
with faciliies granted to subsidiaries e ER 828,149 - 828,149
1,437,405 15,713 1,453,118
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47. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT
OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES (Continued)

LIQ UIDITY RISK (Continued)

The maturity profile of the Company’s financial liabilities
as at the end of the reporting period, based on the
contractual undiscounted payments, is as follows:

47. BB R By s B H B R BR

(&

mEE 2 EE (#)
TRAXRDNARBEPRNECREE
A HRITBNARAENBERBR:
(&)

(Continued)
Company VNN
2012
—E-C-F
Within 1 year or
on demand 110 5 years Total
—FPT e —FULE
RE KA AFEUT @it
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
THT THT THT
Due to subsidiaries FERHBARIFRIE 359,425 - 359,425
Sundry creditors and accruals EEMERRESER 1,528 = 1,528
Due to directors EHES 5,712 17,578 23,290
Guarantees given to banks in connection ~ FLI B BERITEE
with facilities granted to subsidiaries e &R 954,036 - 954,036
1,320,701 17,578 1,338,279

EQUITY PRICE RISK

Equity price risk is the risk that the fair values of equity
securities decrease as a result of changes in the levels of
equity indices and the values of individual securities. The
Group was exposed to equity price risk arising from equity
investments classified as available-for-sale investments
(note 22) as at 31 March 2013. The Group’s listed equity
investments were listed on the Stock Exchange and were
valued at quoted market price at the end of the reporting
period.

ik 18 )& ba

PR A E S R 15 A I R 15 BUKF &
MEFBECEIMERRAZTSFLZ
RNEENKZRAR - R-_F—=F=A
=t —H - AEEFAEY 2 RAESE
RIKADBERAHEERE ZBAER
& (Kiae2) -RmEMKR AEEZ L
MR E THR B R P E IR
mEMKE-



47. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT

OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES (Continued)

EQUITY PRICE RISK (Continued)

The market equity index for the Stock Exchange, at the
close of business of the nearest trading day in the year to

o AR A 2 JRC A PR
20134 H

Notes to Financial Statements

M 7 & W
Z¥=A=+—H

31 March 2013 =% —

BB B B R R BOR
(50)
M 18 L B (a0

B zcmEEFEE (RFRAERS
R FREOR P HERRRERE)

the end of the reporting period, and the respective highest REAZ&SEHEESHOT :
and lowest points during the year were as follows:
2013 2012
ZE-ZF —T-_F
High/low High/low
during the during the
year ended year ended
31 March 31 March 31 March 31 March
2013 2013 2012 2012
REE REZE
—E-=F “E——F
=ZA=t-H =ZR=+-H
—B-=% LEER | ZT-ZF LLFER
ZA=t-B  Z&/B |ZA=t-R  ZR/E
Hong Kong - Hang Seng Index BB — BEEEH 22,300 23,945/ 20,556 24,469/
18,056 16,170

The following table demonstrates the sensitivity to every
5% change in the fair values of the equity investments,
with all other variables held constant and before any
impact on tax, based on their carrying amounts at the
end of the reporting period. For the purpose of this
analysis, for the listed available-for-sale equity investment,
the impact is deemed to be on the available-for-sale
investment revaluation reserve and no account is given
for factors such as impairment which might impact on the
income statement.

NRBEURFTA B2 SRR N8 KRG
BEARBZEET RERANRER

SHRZREE BRARE 2 RF
BT HES%E 2 BRRE - LA DTN

A E EMBRARE - BB
BREHATHEEREESHEBRBRF
2 mMt\EEEEMIRESAETE
WaskzHE-
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47. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT

OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES (Continued)

EQUITY PRICE RISK (Continued)

(&)

i 18 A B (g)

A7, B R e s B H O R WK

Carrying
amount of Increase/
equity decrease
investments in equity*
BRAERE
IREE B A8
HK$’000 HK$’000
FHET FHET
2013 —B_=f
Investments listed in Hong Kong — BELMZAIHEE
available-for-sale (note 22) & (KizE22) 954,368 47,718
2012 —T-_F
Investments listed in Hong Kong — BELMAHEE
available-for-sale (note 22) ®E (HsE22) 933,415 46,671

*

Excluding retained profits

CAPITAL MANAGEMENT

The primary objectives of the Group’s capital
management are to safeguard the Group’s ability to
continue as a going concern and to maintain healthy
capital ratios in order to support its business and
maximise shareholders’ value.

The Group manages its capital structure and makes
adjustments to it in light of changes in economic
conditions. To maintain or adjust the capital structure, the
Group may adjust the dividend payment to shareholders,
return capital to shareholders or issue new shares. The
Group is not subject to any externally imposed capital
requirements except for the undertaking by the Company
under a banking facilities letter granted to a subsidiary
of the Group to maintain a minimum consolidated
tangible net worth of HK$1,500,000,000, which has been
complied with during the year. No changes were made in
the objectives, policies or processes for managing capital
during the years ended 31 March 2013 and 31 March
2012,

* TEIEFRENE

BAEH
AEEEAREENEHRER REFRA
SEABHEZRNEN BEFRE
BN R UXFHEEBERE  FHR&K
RE PR REE

AEERBEBEBELINEE EEHEE
REBWELARE - BHEIFHFARER
HERE S AEERAERARRIRERS [
B BK B & AN 5k B 1T HTAR o BR AN A B Rt
AEBZ —HEBR R ERZIRITERE
REMRHZAF AT REGEER
& B % 1E1,500,000,000/8 7T (RERNT
EF) AN AEEWETMIMEFEMNZ B
KERK-BHE-_ZT—=F=A=+—H
F—E——F=A=1+—HItEER"
WEAEAEEFRHEBZ BEKKE
ﬁo



47. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT
OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES (Continued)

CAPITAL MANAGEMENT (Continued)

The Group monitors capital using a gearing ratio, which
is net debt divided by capital plus net debt. Net debt
includes trade creditors, sundry creditors, accruals and
deposits received, amounts due to directors and non-
controlling shareholders, interest-bearing bank and other
borrowings, finance lease payables, convertible notes,
deposits received less cash and cash equivalents. Capital
represents total equity. The gearing ratios as at the end of
the reporting periods were as follows:

e AR A 2 JRC A PR
20134 H

Notes to Financial Statements
Wt & W E

31 March 2013 —F—=#=H=+—H

7. W R VR R B

(&

GAEH 5
AEBEUNERBELXRETERNIS
Mo BRBELEXREFABHRNERE
FaEECM FEaEBERNEZERR
EMEMNER BFFERARERZS
It EE R IEERRAR R FRIE - BT B 2 3R
TREMEES  EBARERE  JRiRE
B BlWEzeRReMIReSEER -
BARARKREBRAR RNBEHRELEE
HRMT -

Group r&
2013 2012
—E—=5F =B==
Notes HK$’000 HK$’000
B 5 FERT FHET
(Restated)
(&%)
Trade creditors FERTE SRR 29 108,064 130,612
Sundry creditors, accruals and  E b fEFBR R -
deposits received EETEARERIZS 723,072 361,226
Due to directors JEfRtEE 28,478 32,051
Due to non-controlling FE T IEFERR AR 3R
shareholders 52,916 61,716
Interest-bearing bank and MEZRITREMESR
other borrowings 30 997,271 1,163,888
Finance lease payables ENmERE 31 2,123 —
Convertible notes Al =R 35 69,392 =
Deposits received B iZ e 8,227 6,827
Less: Cash and cash BRekReFEER
equivalents 28 (479,413) (805,200)
Net debt FRE 1,510,130 1,451,120
Total equity LR N 3,672,921 3,383,225
Total equity and net debt BN FEE 5,183,051 4,834,345
Gearing ratio BEXRBELX 29% 30%
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48.

49.

ol.

—F-=#=H=+—H

FAIR VALUES OF FINANCIAL
INSTRUMENTS

The directors consider that the carrying amounts of the
financial assets and financial liabilities recorded in the
financial statements approximated to their fair values at
the end of the reporting period.

EVENT AFTER THE REPORTING
PERIOD

On 19 April 2013, equity transfer agreements were
entered into by the Group and Mr. Yuen Wai Man (the
“Vendor”), a then director of the Company, pursuant to
which the Group has conditionally agreed to acquire,
and the Vendor has conditionally agreed to sell, the
non-controlling equity interests held by the Vendor
in each of six target subsidiaries of the Group at a
total cash consideration of RMB32 million (equivalent
to approximately HK$40 million). Further details of
this transaction are also set out in the Company’s
announcement dated 19 April 2013. This transaction also
constitutes a connected transaction as defined in Chapter
14A of the Listing Rules.

. COMPARATIVE AMOUNTS

As further explained in note 2.2 to the financial
statements, due to the adoption of revised HKFRSs
during the current year, the accounting treatment of
certain items and balances in the financial statements
has been revised to comply with the new requirements.
Accordingly, certain prior year adjustments have been
made, certain comparative amounts have been restated
to conform with the current year’s accounting treatment,
and a third consolidated statement of financial position as
at 1 April 2011 has been presented.

APPROVAL OF THE FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS

The financial statements were approved and authorised
for issue by the board of directors on 28 June 2013.

48.

49.

00.

ol.

eMIRZAYH

EFRA  NEEER - RN RE
ZeMAERSRABLEAEARS
HAT(E-

& ik F R

RZFE—=ZFMA+TNAE AEEER
BXEE(TET] ARRAERES)
RIMIREERE G B AREB K
HEBYE MESBERERASLES
A RRAKE 2/ KB R E AR
BERkE Re@RERARK
32,000,0007T (8% B £940,000,0007%
T WRBZE—FHFBETARALR
ARMA—E—=FNATNAEZAS
A o LR Z INERK AR RIS 14AZ PSR
ELZBERS -

bk 8 & 4

BN SRR M 5E2.2FT i — S HREE - i
RIEAFEENRNCIEET BB IE®RE
R A BHmRERP 2B TEE REH
FERIBEKIEFTABTIRE -
b B EFEERETHAE BT
CHEETEY NEBXFEZSTEE
— B UWERINR_T——FWOA—H
ZEZMIRE T BARMNE -

Bt % ok Z #Ht

HBHRREN T —=FA=-+/\H
REZSHELREEM-
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Particulars of the investment properties held by the Groupasat RZZE—=F=A=+—HALEZHFENE

31 March 2013 are as follows: BYEFBWOT
Approx.

gross area Effective Stage of
Name/location Tenure Type (m?) % held completion

AERNE BEREH
2B/ HRAKE Al (F7HK) Bl THER
Hong Kong
B8
Unit B, 26th Floor Medium term 1,568* 100 Completed
Wyler Centre, Phase |l lease

200 Tai Lin Pai Road,
Kwai Chung, New Territories

#RER M4 T BI&K
REHEBE2005%

EBmPLE=H

261EBE

Ground Floor and Cockloft, Medium term C 87* 100 Completed
61 South Wall Road, lease

Kowloon City, Kowloon

NENERBEE  ERAR 4 ] B &K
61553t T K12

Unit No. G37, Ground Long term C 77 100 Completed
Floor, Peninsula Centre, lease

67 Mody Road,
Tsimshatsui East, Kowloon

FUBES /) PR R B 2 b 38 REED ] B2&RK
67IRFSH LM T

G375k B s

Tak Sing Alliance Building, Medium term C 780* 100 Completed
1/F-3/F, 15/F-18/F, lease

115 Chatham Road South,
Tsimshatsui, Kowloon
BEXRDIE  ERAR 4 ] BI&K
R ER 1155
ENEERNE
1BE3E -
152 £1818

Notes: T

Types of properties: |-Industrial, R-Residential, C-Commercial MEER: I-IT% R—FE C-—BE%
# Gross floor area * RIS TE E AR
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Particulars of the investment properties held by the Groupasat R -_Z—=F=A=+—HAEEFENK

31 March 2013 are as follows: (Continued) BYMRFBWOT : (&)
Approx.

gross area Effective Stage of
Name/location Tenure Type (m?) % held completion

AEBENH BEREE
£/ HRAME 5l (FHK) Bolk ZTHER
Hong Kong
gH
15th Floor and Medium term 2,594% 100 Completed
Car park space No. 5, lease

Young Ya Industrial Building,

381-389 Sha Tsui Road,

Tsuen Wan, New Territories

MREE HhHITE 49 T B AR
YD IH 38381-3895%

BOTX¥AE

151 &

N SE55R HE AL

Mainland China
B K BE

Units 9D-F, 10A-F, 22C Medium term C/R 1,881% 100 Completed
Man Wah Mansion, lease

Shenzhen Special Economic Zone

AR B (= HERFR 4 B/ fE BI&RK
XE R EAE

9D-F, 10A-F, 22C

Carrianna Friendship Square, Medium term C 28,109* 100 Completed
Junction Renmin Road South lease

and Chunfeng Road,

Shenzhen Special Economic Zone

RN B (= M4 [ B &K
ARBEREEREREZA

TEMREES

Notes: B 5 -

Types of properties: I-Industrial, R-Residential, C-Commercial MERR I-T%¥ R—EE C—E%E

# Gross floor area B IETH [E A



Particulars of the investment properties held by the Group as at

31 March 2013 are as follows: (Continued)

Name/location Tenure

Al ERAKE

Type

bl

o AR A T 2 JRC A PR
20134F

Schedule of Principal Properties
FTEYEME

31 March 2013 —F—=#=H=+—H

RIZE-—=F=ZA=1t—BAEBEFANRKR
BYEFHBWOT : (&)

Approx.
gross area Effective Stage of
(m?) % held completion
AEROE BREE
(FFHXK) Bl THER

Mainland China
B K BE

A building at Shi Lien Road,
Chiu Tien Industrial Park,
Shi Lou Town,

Panyu District,

Guangdong Province
fURERE BFH
BBE

VRL: SE

BIE TN

MER s —EET

Leasehold

A building at Gowtong Leasehold
Village, Panyu District,

Guangdong Province

fRERE BFH
EB%

RENZEBF

Imperial Palace, Long term
Hong Yi Cun, lease
Baoan South Road,

Shenzhen Special Economic Zone
RIS R

Bt—#

R 22 7 3%

REAE

REHEL

14 Zu Miao Road,
Foshan Municipal
Ay BEH
18 BB B 1457

Leasehold

Notes:

Types of properties: I-Industrial, R-Residential, C-Commercial

# Gross floor area

C/R

B/ E

3,322% 100 Completed

14,754% 100 Completed

4,899* 100 Completed

6,838" 100 Completed

BT -

MERER:I-T% R—EFE C—H%
*ARIETH AR
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Particulars of the properties held as property, plant and
equipment by the Group as at 31 March 2013 are as follows:

Name/location Tenure

LVt HRANE

Type

LYl

R-E-——F=A=T—BXKEFHIER
MR- BEREEZMEFBOAT:

Approx.
gross area Effective Stage of
(m?) % held completion
RERNOE BREE
(FFHXK) Aot TR

Hong Kong
gE

Unit A, 26th Floor and

Car park space Nos. 19, 20, 21,
22, 39 and 40 on 2nd Floor and
Lorry Parking Space No. L21

on 1st Floor, Wyler Centre, Phase I,
200 Tai Lin Pai Road,

Kwai Chung, New Territories
IR BFH
REHEB200 57

EmPLE =

26IEAE RO FE195

205% * 215% + 225% »

39%% + 405R E L &

1L K EORE N

Leasehold

Mainland China
B K pE

Nos. 3-6, 5/F, LLeasehold
Carrianna Friendship Square,

Junction Renmin Road South

and Chunfeng Road,

Shenzhen Special Economic

Zone

RN B = BEH
AREE K

B EERZ A

EEFREES

F1E3-65%

Notes:

Types of properties: I-Industrial, R-Residential, C-Commercial

# Gross floor area

C

812* 100 Completed

1,502¢ 100 Completed

GEE

MEFER: I-ITX R—EE C—BXE
* AR IETH E 18



Particulars of the properties held as property, plant and
equipment by the Group as at 31 March 2013 are as follows:

e AR A T 2 JRC A PR
20134

Schedule of Principal Properties
FTEYEME

31 March 2013 —F—=#=H=+—H

R-E-—=F=ZA=+—"HAEESHHER
MR -BERRBIORFBOT : (F)

(Continued)
Approx.

gross area Effective Stage of
Name/location Tenure Type (m?) % held completion

AEBRNE BRER
8B/ HAME £ (FHXK) BAlk THER
Mainland China
B K pE
2 Zishan Road, Yiyang Municipal Leasehold C 34,490* 100 Completed
g 5 T R LU BR25% BFH 5] BI&RK
14 Zu Miao Road, LLeasehold C 12,954¢ 100 Completed
Foshan Municipal
AT BFH 5] BI&RK
18 B R 1457
Sales Centre, Leasehold G 1,739¢ 72 Completed
East of Xin Guang Road/South of
Da Gang Road C section
Lin Gang Industrial Area,
Lianyang Eco & Tech
Development Zone,
Lianyungang
==L BFH ] BI&RK
EEERERGAEXR
BB R AR BB mECE
Notes: LEE

Types of properties: I-Industrial, R-Residential, C-Commercial

# Gross floor area

YIEBR I -IT% R—FE C—E%
t4BIETH E S
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Particulars of the properties held for sale held by the Group as

R-E-—=F=A=+—HEXEEFELE

at 31 March 2013 are as follows: MW
Approx.

gross area Effective Stage of
Name/location Tenure Type (m?) % held completion

REROH BREE
EB/ HRAKE Al (FHK) BAlk THER
Mainland China
Bl KB
Carrianna Friendship Square, Medium term C/R 3,720% 100 Completed
Junction Renmin Road South lease
and Chunfeng Road,
Shenzhen Special Economic Zone
AR B2 A FE 4 B/ B &R
ARBRRERBER R
EEBREES
Imperial Palace, Long term C/R 154% 100 Completed
Hong Vi Cun, lease
Baoan South Road,
Shenzhen Special Economic Zone
RN B (= REIHEL B/ fE BI&RK
S
REE%
BELE
Residential units and car parks Long term C/R 32,052¢ 87.5 Completed
of Grand Lake City, lease
Yiyang Road, Hunan
M=k K& REIHEL B/ fE B &K
FELLER R (€ R B
Shopping street of Medium term C 10,820* 87.5 Completed
Grand Lake City, lease
Yiyang Road, Hunan
ik O PN R EIRR 49 5] BI&RK
FILBFHE XS
Notes: B2

Types of properties: I-Industrial, R-Residential, C-Commercial

# Gross floor area

WEER I -T% R—EE C—H%

* ARIE T A



Particulars of the properties held for sale held by the Group as

at 31 March 2013 are as follows: (Continued)

Name/location

LV

Tenure

EREE

Type

]

o AR A T 2 JRC A PR
20134F

Schedule of Principal Properties
FTEYEME

31 March 2013 —F—=#=H=+—H

R-E-—=F=ZA=+—"BAEEFHELE
MEFHBWOT : (&)

Approx.
gross area Effective Stage of
(m?) % held completion
AEBRNE BRER
(FHK) Bl THER

Mainland China
B K BE

Leather Trade Centre
RAREZZH L

East of Xin Guang Road/South of
Da Gang Road B section,

Lin Gang Industrial Area,
Lianyang Eco & Tech
Development Zone,

Lianyungang
EEERERGAEXR

F R KB R EBR

Building Materials Trade Centre
BHRZH 0

East of Xin Guang Road/South of
Da Gang Road C section,

Lin Gang Industrial Area,
Lianyang Eco & Tech
Development Zone,

Lianyungang
EEERERGAEXR
R A BB ECKR

Notes:

Types of properties: I-Industrial, R-Residential, C-Commercial

G Gross floor area

Medium term
lease

A

Medium term
lease

A

40,644* 72 Completed

B &K

56,285* 72  Completed

B :

MEFER: I-TE R—EE C—HBXE
! 12 T A
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Particulars of the properties under development held by the

R-E-—=F=ZA=1T-BAKEHFFER

Group as at 31 March 2013 are as follows: RYEFBOT
Expected
Site Stage of Effective completion
Location Use area completion % held date
BREE
i B R# TER 7S P R Bot BErtxEMBH
(m?)
(FHK)
Mainland China
B KR
Chaoyang Road to the Commercial/ 29,997 Foundation work 87.5 N/A
north, Zishanhu to residential in progress
the south, Yiyang
= 5 T EA 5 B8 AR - B/ EE HETIRETH TER
RELLH AL
Zishancun Reservoir Commercial/ 103,584 Foundation work 87.5 N/A
to the east, Yiyang residential in progress
Road to the north,
Yiyang
= 5 R LA K EFE A - mE/EE WETRETH NiEA
w5 A Bl
Tuanyuan Road Commercial/ 318,709 Design work 87.5 N/A
to the east, Yiyang residential in progress
= 5 T B (Bl 55 78 HE/Ex Ret TIEETH TER
Yangwuling Village, Commercial/ 120,040 Design work 87.5 N/A
Lucigiao Village, residential in progress
Yiyang
5 T F SRR A - BE/EE Rt TIEETH TiE

B



Particulars of the properties under development held by the
Group as at 31 March 2013 are as follows: (Continued)

o AR 4 T 2 JRC A PR
20134

Schedule of Principal Properties

T EEME

31 March 2013 —F—=#=H=+—H

R-E-—=F=ZA=+—"HAEEFEER

PYEFHBOT (&)

Expected
Site Stage of Effective completion
Location Use area completion % held date
BRER
1t R& THEE 52 BL B B Bk BEERAH
(m?)
(FFHXK)
Mainland China
B KB
East of Xin Guang Road/South of Commercial/ 59,640 Foundation work 72 N/A
Da Gang Road B section, residential in progress
Lin Gang Industrial Area,
Lianyang Eco & Tech
Development Zone,
Lianyungang
EEERERGAEXR EEYAEES METRETH TEH
F R KB R EBR
East of Xin Guang Road/South of Commercial/ 77,757 Foundation work 72 N/A
Da Gang Road F section residential in progress
Lin Gang Industrial Area,
Lianyang Eco & Tech
Development Zone,
Lianyungang
EEBRERGAEXR mE/E METRETH TEA

I RAB R AFR
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Particulars of the properties under development held by the R -_Z—=F=ZF=+—HAEEFEFEE

Group as at 31 March 2013 are as follows: (Continued) RYEFIBO T (B)
Expected
Site Stage of Effective completion
Location Use area completion % held date
BRER
1t 2 R& THEE 5E EL B B Btk BstxHAH
(m?)
(FFHXK)
Mainland China
Bl K BE
East of Xin Guang Road/South of Commercial/ 64,949 Foundation work 72 N/A
Da Gang Road C section residential in progress
Lin Gang Industrial Area,
Lianyang Eco & Tech
Development Zone,
Lianyungang
EEERERGAEXR mE/EE METRETH TEH
R A BB ECR
East of Xin Guang Road/South of Commercial/ 93,643 Foundation work 72 N/A
Da Gang Road E section residential in progress
Lin Gang Industrial Area,
Lianyang Eco & Tech
Development Zone,
Lianyungang
EEERERGAEXR HE/E M ETRETH TEA

IR A IR RER



Particulars of the properties under development held by the

o AR A T 2 JRC A PR
20134F

Schedule of Principal Properties

T EHEME

31 March 2013 —F—=#=H=+—H

R-E-—=F=ZA=+—HAEEFEER

Group as at 31 March 2013 are as follows: (Continued) RYEFIBDO T (8)
Expected
Site Stage of Effective completion
Location Use area completion % held date
BRER
1t R# THEE 5E ER B B Bk BxERAH
(m?)
(FFHXK)
Mainland China
Bl KB
East of Xin Guang Road/South of Commercial/ 122,577 Foundation work 72 N/A
Da Gang Road G section residential in progress
Lin Gang Industrial Area,
Lianyang Eco & Tech
Development Zone,
Lianyungang
EEERERGAEXR BmE/EE METRETH TEH
R KB AEGR
East of Xin Guang Road/South of Commercial/ 83,618 Foundation work 72 N/A
Da Gang Road H section residential in progress
Lin Gang Industrial Area,
Lianyang Eco & Tech
Development Zone,
Lianyungang
BEERETEREREREERR mE/E METRETH TEA
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NOTICE IS HEREBY GIVEN that an annual general meeting of
Carrianna Group Holdings Company Limited (the “Company”)
will be held at Carrianna (Chiu Chow) Restaurant, 1st Floor, 151
Gloucester Road, Wanchai, Hong Kong on Monday, 26 August
2013 at 11:00 a.m. for the following purposes:

1. To receive and consider the audited financial statements
and the reports of the directors of the Company (the
“Directors”) and of the auditors of the Company for the
year ended 31 March 2018.

2. To declare a final and special dividend for the year ended
31 March 2013.

3. To re-elect Directors and to authorise the board of
Directors to fix the Directors’ remuneration.

4.  To re-appoint the auditors of the Company and to
authorise the board of Directors to fix their remuneration.

5. As special business, to consider and, if thought fit, pass
with or without amendments, the following resolutions as
ordinary resolutions:

ORDINARY RESOLUTIONS
A.  “THAT

(@) Subject to paragraph (b) below, the exercise
by the Directors during the Relevant Period of
all the powers of the Company to purchase
issued shares of HK$0.10 each in the capital
of the Company, subject to and in accordance
with the applicable laws and the requirements
of the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities
on The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited
as amended from time to time be and is
hereby generally and unconditionally approved;

(b) the aggregate nominal amount of shares to
be purchased pursuant to the approval in
paragraph (a) above shall not exceed 10% of
the aggregate nominal amount of the share
capital of the Company in issue on the date of
this resolution, and the said approval shall be
limited accordingly; and
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B.

for the purpose of this resolution, “Relevant
Period” means the period from the date of
passing of this resolution until whichever is the
earlier of:

()  the conclusion of the next annual general
meeting of the Company;

(i) the revocation or variation of the authority
given under this resolution by ordinary
resolution of the shareholders in general
meeting; and

(i)  the expiration of the period within which
the next annual general meeting of the
Company is required by the Bye-laws of
the Company or the laws of Bermuda to
be held.”.

“THAT

(@)

subject to sub-paragraph (c) of this resolution,
the exercise by the Directors during the
Relevant Period (as hereinafter defined) of all
the powers of the Company to allot, issue
or otherwise deal with additional shares of
the Company and to make or grant offers,
agreements and options which might require
the exercise of such powers be and is hereby
generally and unconditionally approved;

the approval in sub-paragraph (a) of this
resolution shall authorise the Directors during
the Relevant Period to make or grant offers,
agreements and options which might require
the exercise of such power after the end of the
Relevant Period;
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the aggregate nominal amount of share
capital allotted or agreed conditionally or
unconditionally to be allotted (whether
pursuant to an option or otherwise) by the
Directors pursuant to the approval in sub-
paragraph (a) of this resolution, otherwise than
pursuant to:

(i) a Rights Issue (as hereinafter defined);

(i) the exercise of any option scheme or
similar arrangement for the time being
adopted for the grant or issue to officers
and/or employees of the Company and/
or any of its subsidiaries of shares or
rights to acquire shares of the Company;
and

(i) any scrip dividend or similar arrangement
providing for the allotment of shares in
lieu of the whole or part of a dividend on
shares of the Company in accordance
with the Bye-laws of the Company;

shall not exceed 20% of the aggregate nominal
amount of the share capital of the Company
in issue at the date of the passing of this
resolution, and the said approval shall be
limited accordingly; and

for the purpose of this resolution, “Relevant
Period” means the period from the passing of
this resolution until whichever is the earlier of:

(i)  the conclusion of the next annual general
meeting of the Company;
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(i) the revocation or variation of the authority
given under this resolution by ordinary
resolution of the shareholders in general
meeting; and

(i)  the expiration of the period within which
the next annual general meeting of the
Company is required by the Bye-laws of
the Company or the laws of Bermuda to
be held.”;

“Rights Issue” means an offer of shares in
the Company open for a period fixed by the
Directors to holders of shares of the Company
whose names appear on the register of
members of the Company on a fixed record
date in proportion to their then holdings of
such shares (subject to such exclusions or
other arrangements as the Directors may
deem necessary or expedient in relation to
fractional entitlements or having regards to any
restrictions or obligations under the laws of,
or the requirements of any recognised body
or any stock exchange, in any territory outside
Hong Kong).”.

“THAT conditional upon the passing of the ordinary
resolutions no. 5A and 5B set out above, the
general mandate granted to the Directors pursuant
to resolution no. 5B be and is hereby extended
by the addition thereto of an amount representing
the aggregate nominal amount of the share capital
repurchased by the Company under the authority
granted in resolution no. 5A, provided that such
amount shall not exceed 10% of the aggregate
nominal amount of the share capital of the
Company in issue at the date of the passing of this
resolution.”.
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6. To transact any other business. 6. ERIBHEMEIE-

By Order of the Board AEReH

Carrianna Group Holdings Company Limited EEREEERERA T
Ng Yan Kwong NEE

Company Secretary =AW

Hong Kong, 26 July 2013 E#%, —F 4+ H-+~H
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Notes:

FRGEE

For the purpose of ascertaining shareholders’ right to attend
and vote at the Annual General Meeting of the Company to be
held on Monday, 26 August 2013, the Register of Members of
the Company will be closed from Friday, 23 August 2013 to
Monday, 26 August 2013, both days inclusive, during which
period no transfer of shares will be effected. In order for a
shareholder to be eligible to attend and vote at the Annual
General Meeting, all transfers accompanied by the relevant
share certificates must be lodged with the Company’s Shares
Registrars in Hong Kong, Tricor Tengis Limited, at 26/F.,
Tesbury Centre, 28 Queen’s Road East, Wanchai, Hong Kong
not later than 4:30 p.m. on Thursday, 22 August 2013.

For the purpose of ascertaining shareholders’ entitlement to the
proposed final and special dividend, the Register of Members
of the Company will be closed from Friday, 27 September 2013
to Monday, 30 September 2013, both days inclusive, during
which period no transfer of shares will be effected. In order
to qualify for the proposed final and special dividend (subject
to shareholders’ approval at the Annual General Meeting), all
transfers accompanied by the relevant share certificates must
be lodged with the Company’s Share Registrars in Hong Kong,
Tricor Tengis Limited, at 26/F., Tesbury Centre, 28 Queen’s
Road East, Wanchai, Hong Kong not later than 4:30 p.m. on
Thursday, 26 September 2013.

A member entitled to attend and vote at the Meeting is entitled
to appoint one or more proxies to attend and vote on his/her
behalf. A proxy need not be a member of the Company. If more
than one proxy is so appointed, the appointment shall specify
the number and class of shares in respect of which each such
proxy is so appointed.

To be valid, a form of proxy and the power of attorney or other
authority, if any, under which it is signed, or a notarially certified
copy of such power of attorney or authority, must be lodged
with the Company’s share registrar in Hong Kong, Tricor Tengis
Limited, at 26/F., Tesbury Centre, 28 Queen’s Road East,
Wanchai, Hong Kong not less than 48 hours before the time
appointed for holding the Meeting.

An explanatory statement containing further details regarding
ordinary resolution No. 5 above will be sent to shareholders
shortly together with the 2013 Annual Report.

4.
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